

Good practices in supply chain management and carbon footprint of wind and solar energy technologies

Literature review





© Ipieca 2023 All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior consent of lpieca.

This publication has been developed to support the implementation of Ipieca's vision and mission. While every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the material, it is intended to provide information or general guidance only. It is not designed to provide legal or other advice, nor should it be relied upon as a substitute for appropriate technical expertise or professional advice. All attempts have been made to ensure that the information is correct at the date of publication. This publication does not constitute a mandatory commitment which members of Ipieca are obliged to adopt. The views and conclusions expressed herein do not necessarily reflect the views of all Ipieca members or the individuals, companies and institutions that contributed to this publication.

While reasonable precautions have been taken to ensure that the information contained in this publication is accurate and timely, this publication is distributed without warranty of any kind, express or implied. Ipieca neither endorses nor accepts responsibility for the content or availability of any website referred to, or linked to, in this publication. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of this publication lies with the user and in no event will lpieca or any of its members past, present or future, regardless of their negligence, assume liability for any foreseeable or unforeseeable use made thereof, which liability is hereby excluded. Consequently, such use is at the recipient's own risk on the basis that any use by the recipient constitutes agreement to the terms of this disclaimer. This disclaimer should be construed in accordance with English law.

Acknowledgements:

This literature review was prepared by members of Ipieca's Alternative Energy Task Force and authored by Betty Sue Flowers, independent consultant.

Good practices in supply chain management and carbon footprint of wind and solar energy technologies

Literature review



The global oil and gas association for advancing environmental and social performance across the energy transition

14th Floor, City Tower, 40 Basinghall Street, London EC2V 5DE, United Kingdom Telephone: +44 (0)20 7633 2388 E-mail: info@ipieca.org Website: www.ipieca.org

Contents

Introduction		
Part one: Supply chain management 4 for wind and solar		
Supply chain risks for wind and solar	4	
Environmental and social risk management guidance	5	
Gaps in guidance for supply chain management for wind and solar	5	
Part two: Carbon footprint management for wind and solar		
Carbon footprint of wind and solar	6	
Reducing the carbon footprint of wind and solar	6	
Gaps in guidance for carbon footprint management for wind and solar	7	
Part three: Recommendations		
Recommendations for supply chain management for wind and solar	8	
Recommendations for carbon footprint management for wind and solar	9	
References	10	
Appendices		
Introduction		
Appendix 1: Environmental and economic benefits of solar and wind energy	27	
Part one		
Appendix 2. Sourcing risks	28	
Appendix 3: Manufacturing and construction risks	31	
Appendix 4: Operation risks	32	
Appendix 5: End-of-life risks	33	

.....

	Appendix 6: Guidance for supply chain management	34
	Appendix 7: Responsible sourcing	62
	Appendix 8: Good practices for recycling and circularity	63
	Appendix 9: Impact assessments and data good practices	64
	Appendix 10: Agrivoltaics	64
	Appendix 11: Guidance for addressing social risks	65
	Appendix 12: Actions taken by renewables companies to manage environmental and social risks	71
Pa	art two	
	Appendix 13: Carbon footprint of wind and solar technologies	79
	Appendix 14: Opportunities to reduce the carbon footprint of solar and wind technologies	80
	Appendix 15: Good practices in carbon footprint management	83
Pa	art three	
	Appendix 16: Potential stakeholder collaborators	88
	Appendix 17: Potential renewables companies collaborators	91
	Appendix 18: Potential collaborators for carbon footprint management for wind and solar	91

.....

Introduction

As part of Ipieca's 2021-2024 strategy, Ipieca acts as a convenor and integrator to share knowledge and good practice across oil, gas and renewables activities.

Ipieca is uniquely positioned to make a positive contribution to environmental and social performance across the energy transition. For nearly fifty years, Ipieca has been developing good practice guidance covering climate, nature, people and broader sustainability issues. This expertise can be transferred to alternative energy technologies to support scale up of a sustainable energy transition.

This literature review is based on a significant number of papers drawn from academics, solar and wind organizations, renewable companies, NGOs and other stakeholders.

The purpose of this document is to:

- Provide a comprehensive review of existing good practices that address environmental and social risks across the supply chain throughout the project life cycle, and carbon footprint management across the project life cycle related to onshore and offshore wind and PV solar technologies
- 2. Identify gaps in existing knowledge and work
- 3. Provide Ipieca with recommended next steps

At least 165 countries have set renewable energy targets, and almost all the major oil and gas corporations have pledged to incorporate more renewables into their energy portfolio (Ren21, 2021). PV solar and wind technologies produce 13 to 96 times fewer GHG emissions than coal power plants, and 6 to 52 times fewer GHG emissions than natural gas plants (UNECE, 2021). [See Appendix 1: Environmental and economic benefits of solar and wind energy] Meeting the increasing demand for access to safe, clean and affordable energy, while simultaneously curbing emissions from global energy production and use will require a broad range of solutions. The scale up of alternative energies is necessary if we are to meet the goals of the Paris Agreement, however, this scale up needs to take into account climate, environmental and social risks associated with their development and use.

The findings of this literature review will be assessed by Ipieca's Alternative Energy Task Force to define where Ipieca can add value (see recommendations on page 8). Future work for Ipieca could take the form of:

- Good practice guidance, practitioner note/tool, checklist, case study
- Awareness brief to raise awareness and share industry good practice on a particular issue (for industry and stakeholders)
- Peer learning session between members, other companies in wind/solar or other sectors
- Convening stakeholders to assess, understand and identify opportunities on a particular issue e.g. webinars, workshops

Part one: Supply chain management for wind and solar

SUPPLY CHAIN RISKS FOR WIND AND SOLAR

A summary of the risks identified during this literature review is given in Table 1. Further information on these risks can be found in Appendices 2-5.

Table 1: Supply chain risks for wind and solar

Sourcing	Poor working conditions, human rights violations, financing of conflicts, corruption, lack of transparency, child labour, forced labour, other labour issues, community and safety issues, gender and other discrimination, displacement of indigenous communities, heavy metal toxicity, waste, water stress/contamination, biodiversity risks, habitat loss and fragmentation, forest loss and degradation. <i>[See Appendix 2: Sourcing risks]</i>
Manufacturing and construction	Conflict with farmers and communities over land use, erosion, sedimentation, construction noise, biodiversity risks, habitat loss/ degradation/fragmentation, water stress and chemical contamination (fluorine, chromium), human rights violations, labour issues, community and safety issues, displacement of indigenous communities. <i>[See Appendix 3: manufacturing and construction risks]</i>
Operation	Human rights violations, labour issues, community and safety issues, collision, displacement, habitat changes, impact on bird migration patterns, electromagnetic field impact on crustaceans, biodiversity risks, water stress/contamination, impact on fishing communities. <i>[See Appendix 4: Operation risks]</i>
End of life	Solid/hazardous waste and associated health and environmental impacts, ecological damage, noise, land use competition (especially for agricultural land), degradation of vegetation, biodiversity risks, water stress/ contamination, thermal and air pollution, habitat fragmentation, impacts on: marine mammals, subtidal benthos, commercial fisheries, landscape/ visual, physical processes (changes to sediment movements, mobilisation of contaminants, etc.), benthic ecology (habitat loss, impact of noise on fish and marine mammals, etc.). <i>[See Appendix 5: End-of-life risks]</i>

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE

Academics, NGOs, standard setters, trade associations and other organizations have produced guidance documents for minimising environmental and social risks across the supply chain. [See Appendix 6: Guidance for supply chain management]

These documents include suggestions for:

- Responsible sourcing [See Appendix 7: Responsible sourcing]
- Recycling and circularity [See Appendix 8: Good practices for recycling and circularity]
- Impact assessments and data collection [See Appendix 9: Impact assessments and data good practices]
- Agrivoltaics [See Appendix 10: Agrivoltaics]
- Social risks [See Appendix 11: Guidance for addressing social risks]

This guidance is particularly strong in its coverage of social risks, such as human rights and child labour. Almost all solar and wind companies have policies and tools to deal with these social risks, especially because well-structured guidance is available. Some solar and wind companies are already taking actions to manage social and environmental risks within the supply chain. *[See Appendix 12: Actions taken by renewables companies to manage environmental and social risks]*

GAPS IN GUIDANCE FOR SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT FOR WIND AND SOLAR

But there are gaps in guidance, particularly in the following areas:

- Heavy metal toxicity, soil and groundwater acidification and habitat loss and fragmentation in the sourcing stage
- Sedimentation (relevant to offshore wind farms), chemicals, habitat loss, degradation and fragmentation in the manufacturing and construction stage
- Impact on bird migration patterns and electromagnetic field impacts on crustaceans in the operational stage
- Land use risks are widely covered by the good practice for the solar industry, but there is little guidance for the wind industry
- Apart from the risks associated with solid waste and hazardous waste, good practice guidance does not cover the wider environmental and social risks (ecological damage, noise and health) within the supply chain in the end-of-life and decommissioning stage for both solar and wind technologies.
 - Risks associated with solar energy that are not addressed by good practice guidance are land use competition (mostly for agricultural land), degradation of vegetation, biodiversity loss, water pollution, soil contamination, thermal and air pollution and habitat fragmentation.
 - Risks associated with wind energy such as water stress and contamination, biodiversity risks, noise and impacts on landscape and visuals are minutely covered by the report of the World Bank Group (2015). However, risks associated especially with offshore wind farms, such as the impacts on physical processes, marine mammals, subtidal benthos, commercial fisheries, and benthic ecology, are not covered by any good practices guidance.

Part two: Carbon footprint management for wind and solar

CARBON FOOTPRINT OF WIND AND SOLAR

Despite research suggesting that there is little-to-no carbon footprint during the operational phases of solar and wind energy, there is a carbon footprint associated with sourcing, constructing and decommissioning solar panels and wind turbines. Making steel requires the combustion of metallurgical coal in blast furnaces, and mining metals and rare earth elements is energy-intensive (Helman, 2021). The carbon emissions associated with steel and cement/concrete are significant: steel creates approximately 1.5 tonnes of carbon emissions for every 1 ton of the metal produced, and concrete production accounts for as much as 8 per cent of world CO₂ emissions (Ramsden, 2020). About 60-70 per cent (with some literature suggesting up to 98 per cent) of the total life cycle carbon emissions of wind farms and PV solar are emitted during the raw materials extraction, manufacturing, installation and construction phases (NREL, 2022; Thomson & Harrison, 2015). [See Appendix 13: Carbon footprint of wind and solar technologies]

The most significant impacts of wind and solar on Global Warming Potential (GWP) come from raw material acquisition and manufacturing, followed by installation, operation, and maintenance. GHG emissions associated with the life cycle of solar and wind power systems have decreased significantly during the past two decades, reaching 38.88 gCO₂eq/kWh (reducing from an average of 62 gCO₂eq/kWh since 2005), perhaps because of increased awareness of sustainability practices, responsible sourcing, innovation, recycling and circularity (Marashli et al., 2022).

REDUCING THE CARBON FOOTPRINT OF WIND AND SOLAR

Good practice in managing wind and solar so as to reduce their carbon footprint involves a number of factors.

Magnitude of the installation of solar and wind energy systems. Large, high-capacity wind and solar projects produce much fewer GHGs per unit of power. [See Appendix 14: Opportunities to reduce the carbon footprint of solar and wind technologies]

Lifespan of the project. Because the majority of GHGs for PV solar and wind are produced during the extraction, manufacturing and installation processes, the lifespan of solar and wind energy systems also significantly affects GHG emissions. Therefore, the GHG emissions across the entire life cycle are lower the longer the life of a project (Hamed & Alshare, 2022). [See Appendix 14: Opportunities to reduce the carbon footprint of solar and wind technologies]

Location of wind projects. While offshore wind projects have a higher carbon footprint than their onshore counterparts, due to their requirements around cabling and construction and use of vessels for transportation, this difference is frequently offset by the greater wind resource, which results in a higher yield of renewable electricity and, as a result, a nearly identical energy payback period (Kaldelis & Apostolou, 2017). [See Appendix 14: Opportunities to reduce the carbon footprint of solar and wind technologies]

Manufacturing. Both for wind and solar, the manufacturing phase accounts for most emissions. The optimisation of the structural design and the efficient application of raw materials are suggested as effective measures to improve the environmental performance of solar and wind energy (Xu et al., 2018). Additionally, the use of sustainable materials such as green steel could reduce the carbon footprint. Diversification of supply chains and the decarbonisation of the power sector could also rapidly reduce their emissions (IEA, 2022). [See Appendix 14: Opportunities to reduce the carbon footprint of solar and wind technologies]

Solar energy land use. To prevent a major increase in the life cycle emissions from terrestrial carbon losses, coordinated planning and control of future solar energy infrastructure should be in place. By implementing land management techniques that allow carbon sequestration in land used by solar energy projects, the terrestrial portion of the solar energy life cycle emissions could be completely avoided. Land requirements for reaching certain levels of electricity penetration with solar energy are about a magnitude lower than land requirements to meet those same levels with bioenergy (Van de Ven et al., 2021). Land requirements and the associated environmental impacts for solar and wind energy remain understudied in the literature from a quantitative point of view. [See Appendix 14: Opportunities to reduce the carbon footprint of solar and wind technologies]

Recycling, life extension and innovation. When compared to component manufacturing using primary raw materials, recycling wind turbines at the end of their lives can save at least 30-35 per cent of carbon emissions equivalent per kWh (Bang, et al., 2019). It is also possible to recover 90.7 per cent of the PV waste resulting from 95 GW worth of solar PV at end of life (Prabhu et al., 2021). Innovation in green steel may be key to reducing the carbon footprint of wind and solar systems (Helman, 2021). Innovation and technology for the wind industry is relatively more advanced as compared to the solar industry. What would be crucial for both the industries is supporting research in material recycling of composite waste as well as working with partners and within the industry to find new solutions for recycling and reuse. See Appendix 14: Opportunities to reduce the carbon footprint of solar and wind technologies]

GAPS IN GUIDANCE FOR CARBON FOOTPRINT MANAGEMENT FOR WIND AND SOLAR

While there are several good practices and standards that suggest how to accurately measure the carbon footprint through life-cycle analysis (LCA) for renewable energy, there is not enough guidance to help minimise the carbon footprint of renewable power generation projects and initiatives. However, a variety of studies provide policy implications and recommendations to reduce the carbon emissions from solar and wind farms, which can be utilised to prepare good management practices for the stakeholders. Good practice guidance can also be drawn from government reports, international organizations such as the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and Organisation for Economic Coopoeration and Development (OECD), and other relevant sectors such as oil and gas, mining, manufacturing, construction and marine sectors. [See Appendix 15: Good practices in carbon footprint management]

Part three: Recommendations

The below recommendations will be reviewed by the Ipieca Alternative Energy Task Force to agree on what Ipieca should be focusing on. Collaboration with stakeholders will be considered along the way.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT FOR WIND AND SOLAR

While some environmental and social risk management guidance within wind and solar generation exists, there are gaps which Ipieca has the expertise to fill.

- 1. Ipieca could consider developing guidance related to environmental risks such as:
 - Heavy metal toxicity, soil and groundwater acidification, habitat loss and fragmentation and impacts of deep-sea mining in the sourcing stage.
 - Sedimentation (relevant to offshore wind farms), chemical contamination, habitat loss, degradation and fragmentation in the manufacturing and construction stage.
 - Impact on bird migration patterns and electromagnetic field impacts on crustaceans in the operational stage.
 - Land use risks are widely covered by good practice guidance for the solar industry but there isn't any strong guidance for the wind industry.
- 2. Ipieca could consider developing guidance related to the environmental and social risks in the sourcing stage, particularly for companies sourcing materials in vulnerable developing countries. This could be done in collaboration with other stakeholders. Guidance could include the following:
 - a. Engage with stakeholders to map minerals in developing resource-rich countries. (See World Bank Group, *The growing role of minerals and metals for a low carbon future*, 2017).
 - b. Identify what metals and minerals are mostly used in companies' supply chains and conduct a risk assessment for each.
 - c. Map those metals/minerals with most risks.
 - d. Identify the most appropriate steps to minimise the risks.
 - e. Lead initiatives to improve the conditions in the mapped regions and make mining more sustainable.

- 3. Ipieca could consider developing guidance on risks associated with the end-of-life stage.
 - Apart from the risks associated with solid waste and hazardous waste, good practice guidance does not cover the wider environmental and social risks (ecological damage and noise) within the supply chain in the end-of-life and decommissioning stage for either solar or wind technologies.
- 4. Ipieca could consider collaborating with stakeholders who are actively managing or providing guidance on the management of environmental and social risks within supply chains and on minimising the carbon footprint of solar and wind energy operations. [See Appendix 16: Potential stakeholder collaborators]
- 5. Ipieca could collaborate and learn from other sectors that are already active in managing their supply chains e.g., other than the renewable energy sector, the retail, food and processing and fashion industries are already active within this sphere. [See Appendix 17: Potential renewables companies collaborators]
- 6. Ipieca's *Environmental and social good practice for the energy transition: A compendium of Ipieca good practices* (2023) provides environmental and social guidance that could be incorporated into specific guidance for the supply chains of solar and wind energy technologies.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR CARBON FOOTPRINT MANAGEMENT FOR WIND AND SOLAR

- 1. The most promising solutions to minimise the carbon emission in solar and wind projects are recycling, circularity and increasing the life span of wind farms.
 - Ipieca could benefit by collaborating and learning from the work being done by solar and wind companies with respect to recycling and share learnings/capture key good practices.
 [See Appendix 18: Potential collaborators for carbon footprint management for wind and solar]
- Ipieca could develop good practice guidance on implementing land management techniques or nature-inclusive principles that ensures land used for solar and wind projects can effectively sequester carbon, thus avoiding the terrestrial portion of life cycle emissions.
- Ipieca could draw on reports, policy and recommendations by governments, international organizations such as UNEP, UNFCCC, OECD and other relevant sectors, such as hydrocarbon, mining, manufacturing, construction, building and marine sectors to develop good practice guidance to minimise the carbon footprint of solar and wind projects.
- Ipieca could conduct further research to identify the most relevant method for measuring the carbon footprint of renewable energy projects and initiatives and work to standardise the approach across the industry.
- 5. Ipieca could consider collaborating with stakeholders who are actively managing or providing guidance on minimising the carbon footprint of solar and wind energy operations. [See Appendix 16: Potential stakeholder collaborators]

References

References

ActionAid. (2018) Human Rights in Wind Turbine Supply Chains: Towards a truly sustainable energy transition. ActionAid. https://actionaid.nl/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/83827_ActionAid_RapportWindmolens_FINAL.pdf

Al-Behadili, S. H. & El-Osta, W. B. (2015) Life Cycle Assessment of Dernah (Libya) wind farm. *Renewable Energy*. 83 1227-1233. 10.1016/j.renene.2015.05.041.

Al Mamun, M. A., Dargusch, P., Wadley, D., Zulkarnain, N. A., & Aziz, A. A. (2022). A review of research on agrivoltaic systems. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *161*, 112351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112351

Algonquin. (2021) Algonquin 2021 ESG Report. Algonquin. https://algonquinpower.com/uploads/docs/AQN-ESG-Report-2021.pdf

Amnesty International. (2016) This is what we die for: Human Rights Abuses in the Democratic Republic of the Congo power the global trade in Cobalt. Amnesty International. https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/afr62/3183/2016/ en/#:~:text=Democratic%20Republic%20of%20Congo%3A%20%E2%80%9CThis,the%20global%20trade%20in%20 cobalt&text=This%20report%20documents%20the%20hazardous,Democratic%20Republic%20of%20the%20Congo.

Arora, S. K., Foley, R. W., Youtie, J., Shapira, P. & Wiek, A. (2014) Drivers of technology adoption — the case of nanomaterials in building construction. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*. 87 232-244. 10.1016/j.techfore.2013.12.017.

Azevedo, M., Baczynska, M., Bingoto, P., Callaway, G., Hoffman, K. & Ramsbottom, O. (2022) *The raw-materials challenge: How the metals and mining sector will be at the core of enabling the energy transition*. McKinsey & Company. https:// www.mckinsey.com/industries/metals-and-mining/our-insights/the-raw-materials-challenge-how-the-metals-andmining-sector-will-be-at-the-core-of-enabling-the-energy-transition

Bai, J., Xu, X., Duan, Y., Zhang, G., Wang, Z., Wang, L. & Zheng, C. (2022) Evaluation of resource and environmental carrying capacity in rare earth mining areas in China. *Scientific Reports*. 12(6105). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-10105-2

Bang, J., Ma, C., Tarantino, E., Yamane, D., Vela Advisor, A. & Suh, S. (2019) *Life Cycle Assessment of Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Floating Offshore Wind Energy in California*. University of California Santa Barbara & Bren School of Environmental Science & Management. https://tethys.pnnl.gov/sites/default/files/publications/Bang-2019-Floating-Wind-LCA.pdf

Barron-Gafford, G.A., Pavao-Zuckerman, M.A., Minor, R.L., Sutter, L.F., Barnett-Moreno, I., Blackett, D.T., Thompson, M., Dimond, K., Gerlak, A.K., Nabhan, G.P. & Macknick, J.E. (2019). Agrivoltaics provide mutual benefits across the food–energy–water nexus in drylands. *Nature Sustainability, 2*(9), 848-855. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0364-5

Bennun, L. van Bochove, J., Ng, C., Fletcher, C., Wilson, D., Phair, N. & Carbone, G. (2021). *Mitigating biodiversity impacts associated with solar and wind energy development. Guidelines for project developers.* IUCN., The Biodiversity Consultancy., BirdLife International., Fauna & Flora International., The Nature Conservancy., Wildlife Conservation Society., Électricité de France (EDF)., Energias de Portugal (EDP). & Shell. https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/49283

Beylot, A., Payet, J., Puech, C., Adra, N., Jacquin, P., Blanc, I., & Beloin-Saint-Pierre, D. (2014). Environmental impacts of large-scale grid-connected ground-mounted PV installations. *Renewable Energy*, *61*, 2-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. renene.2012.04.051

Blank, T.M. (2019) *The disruptive potential of green steel*. Rocky Mountain Institute. https://rmi.org/insight/the-disruptive-potential-of-green-steel/

BloombergNEF. (2021) Steel Industry Set to Pivot to Hydrogen in \$278 Billion Green Push. https://about.bnef.com/blog/ steel-industry-set-to-pivot-to-hydrogen-in-278-billion-green-push/ [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Bonou, A., Laurent, A., & Olsen, S. I. (2016). Life cycle assessment of onshore and offshore wind energy-from theory to application. *Applied Energy*, *180*, 327-337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.07.058

Bradley, S. (2020) Mining's Impacts on Forests: Aligning Policy and Finance for Climate and Biodiversity Goals. Chatam House. https://www.chathamhouse.org/2020/10/minings-impacts-forests/2-minings-impacts-forests

BRE. (2014a) Biodiversity Guidance for Solar Developments. Parker. G. & Greene, L. (eds.). https://files.bregroup.com/breco-uk-file-library-copy/filelibrary/nsc/Documents%20Library/NSC%20Publications/National-Solar-Centre---Biodiversity-Guidance-for-Solar-Developments--2014-.pdf

BRE. (2014) Agricultural Good Practice Guidance for Solar Farms. J Scurlock. (eds.). https://files.bregroup.com/solar/ NSC_-Guid_Agricultural-good-practice-for-SFs_0914.pdf

British Standards Institution. (2011) PAS 2050: 2011 Specification for the assessment of the life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of goods and services. https://landingpage.bsigroup.com/LandingPage/Standard?UPI=00000000030227173 [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Brookfield. (2021) Brookfield Renewable 2021 ESG Report. Brookfield. https://bep.brookfield.com/sites/bep-brookfieldir/files/brookfield/bep/quarterly-earnings/2022%20q1/Brookfield_Renewable_2021_ESG_Report-vF_0.pdf

BostonMetal. (n.d.) Zero CO₂ Steel by Molten Oxide Electrolysis: A Path to 100% Global Steel Decarbonization. https://www.bostonmetal.com/blog/zero-co2-steel-by-molten-oxide-electrolysis-a-path-to-100-global-steel-decarbonization/#:~:text=Since%20MOE%20adoption%20will%20be,production%20demand%20with%20 emissions%2Dfree [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Calma, J. (2022) Offshore wind projects are outpacing the ships that build them/The US is in even deeper water. https://www.theverge.com/2022/2/3/22916065/offshore-wind-energy-demand-installation-vessels-supply [Accessed 21st November 2022]

Cameron, D. R., Cohen, B. S. & Morrison, S. A. (2012) An Approach to Enhance the Conservation-Compatibility of Solar Energy Development. Public Library of Science (PLoS). 7(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038437

CanadianSolar. (2021) CanadianSolar 2021 ESG Sustainability Report. CanadianSolar. https://www.canadiansolar.com/ wp-content/uploads/2022/07/Canadian-Solar 2021-ESG-Report Final.pdf

Capellán-Pérez, I., De Castro, C., & Arto, I. (2017). Assessing vulnerabilities and limits in the transition to renewable energies: Land requirements under 100% solar energy scenarios. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 77, 760-782. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.03.137

Carneiro, T. (2022) *Building tomorrow's clean energy systems on green steel*. https://www.renewableenergyworld.com/ solar/building-tomorrows-clean-energy-systems-on-green-steel/ [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017) *Cadmium*. https://www.cdc.gov/biomonitoring/Cadmium_FactSheet. html#:~:text=Breathing%20high%20levels%20of%20cadmium,considered%20a%20cancer%2Dcausing%20agent. [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021) *Health Problems Caused by Lead*. https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/lead/health.html#:~:text=Exposure%20to%20high%20levels%20of,a%20developing%20baby's%20nervous%20system. [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Chen, W., Hong, J., Yuan, X., & Liu, J. (2016). Environmental impact assessment of monocrystalline silicon solar photovoltaic cell production: A case study in China. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 112,* 1025-1032. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2015.08.024

Chipindula, J., Botlaguduru, V. S., Du, H., Kommalapati, R. R., & Huque, Z. (2018). Life Cycle Environmental Impact of Onshore and Offshore Wind Farms in Texas. *Sustainability*, *10*(6), 2022. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10062022

Choi, C., Kim, S., Kim, R., Choi, Y., Kim, S., Jung, H., Yang, J. H. & Kim, H. (2017) A review of vanadium electrolytes for vanadium redox flow batteries. *Renewable & amp; Sustainable Energy Reviews*. 69 263-274. 10.1016/j.rser.2016.11.188.

Ciotola, A., Fuss, M., Colombo, S. & Poganietz, W. (2021) The potential supply risk of vanadium for the renewable energy transition in Germany. *Journal of Energy Storage*. 33 102094. 10.1016/j.est.2020.102094.

Conrad, K. (2003) Price Competition and Product Differentiation when Consumers Care for the Environment. SSRN *Electronic Journal*. 10.2139/ssrn.458821.

Constellation. (2022)Sustainability Report 2022. Constellation. https://www.constellationenergy.com/content/dam/ constellationenergy/pdfs/Constellation-2022-Sustainability-Report.pdf

Dangelico, R. M. & Pontrandolfo, P. (2015) Being 'Green and Competitive': The Impact of Environmental Actions and Collaborations on Firm Performance. *Business Strategy and the Environment.* 24 (6), 413-430. 10.1002/bse.1828.

Deloitte. (2016) Using renewable energy to drive supply chain innovation: A series exploring industry 4.0 technologies and their potential impact for enabling digital supply networks in manufacturing. Deloitte. https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/manufacturing/articles/renewable-energy-supply-chain-innovation.html

Demir, N. & Taşkın, A. (2013) Life cycle assessment of wind turbines in Pınarbaşı-Kayseri. *Journal of Cleaner Production*. 54 253-263. 10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.04.016.

Desideri, U., Proietti, S., Zepparelli, F., Sdringola, P., & Bini, S. (2012). Life Cycle Assessment of a ground-mounted 1778 kWp photovoltaic plant and comparison with traditional energy production systems. *Applied Energy*, *97*, 930-943. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.01.055

Deutsche Gasellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmBH, Mining Shared Value. (2017) Mining Local Procurement Reporting Mechanism. Deutsche Gasellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmBH, Mining Shared Value. https://rue.bmz.de/resource/blob/75704/lprm.pdf

Draget, E. (2014). *Environmental Impacts of Offshore Wind Power Production in the North Sea*. WWF. https://tethys.pnnl. gov/publications/environmental-impacts-offshore-wind-power-production-north-sea

Dupraz, C., Marrou, H., Talbot, G., Dufour, L., Nogier, A., & Ferard, Y. (2011). Combining solar photovoltaic panels and food crops for optimising land use: Towards new agrivoltaic schemes. *Renewable Energy*, *36*(10), 2725-2732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2011.03.005

EDP Renewables. (2021) Sustainability Report 2021. EDP Renewables. https://www.edp.com/en/sustainability-report-2021

EDP Renewables. (2022) Human and Labour Rights Policy. EDP Renewables. https://www.edpr.com/en/human-and-labour-rights-policy

Ehrlich, V. A., Nersesyan, A. K., Hoelzl, C., Ferk, F., Bichler, J., Valic, E., Schaffer, A., Schulte-Hermann, R., Fenech, M., Wagner, K. & Knasmüller, S. (2008) Inhalative Exposure to Vanadium Pentoxide Causes DNA Damage in Workers: Results of a Multiple End Point Study. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. 116(12). 1689-1693. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.11438

Electric Power Research Institute. (2021) Guidelines for assessing End-of-life Management Options for Renewable and Battery Energy Storage Technologies. Electric Power Research Institute. https://www.epri.com/research/products/00000000002020594

Enevoldsen, P. & Valentine, S. V. (2016) Do onshore and offshore wind farm development patterns differ? *Energy for Sustainable Development*. 35 41-51. 10.1016/j.esd.2016.10.002.

ENGIE. (2021) Can wind turbines be recycled? https://www.engie.com/en/activities/renewable-energies/wind-energy/ recycling-wind-turbines [Accessed 21st November 2022]

Environmental Product Declarations. (n.d.) *Environmental Product Declarations*. https://www.environdec.com/all-about-epds/the-epd [Accessed 9th November 2022]

European Commission. (2021) *EU taxonomy for sustainable activities*. https://finance.ec.europa.eu/sustainable-finance/ tools-and-standards/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities_en [Accessed 9th November 2022]

European Commission. (2018) Raw material demand for wind and solar energy. European Commission. https://ec.europa. eu/jrc/sites/jrcsh/files/jrc120228_-_raw_material_demand_two-pager_pubsy_final.pdf [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Farooki, M., Kugeri, M. & Barriere, N. (2021) *Meeting the Milestones in the Responsible Sourcing Roadmap: Good Practice Guidelines for the Renewable Energy Sector.* Re-sourcing. https://re-sourcing.eu/files/d5.2_res_guidance-document_final.pdf

Ferraz De Paula, L. & Carmo, B. S. (2022) Environmental Impact Assessment and Life Cycle Assessment for a Deep Water Floating Offshore Wind Turbine on the Brazilian Continental Shelf. *Wind*. 2(3), 495-512. https://doi.org/10.3390/wind2030027

Fischer, M., Woodhouse, M., Herritsch, S. & Trube, J. (2022) *International Technology Roadmap for Photovoltaic.* 2021 *Results.* https://www.vdma.org/international-technology-roadmap-photovoltaic [Accessed 23 February 2023]

FLSmidth. (n.d.) A clean-energy future is reliant on sustainable mining and cement. https://www.flsmidth.com/en-gb/ discover/cement-2020/a-clean-energy-future-is-reliant-on-sustainable-mining-and-cement [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Fortoul, T. I., Rojas-Lemus, M., Rodriguez-Lara, V., Gonzalez-Villalva, A., Ustarroz-Cano, M., Cano-Gutierrez, G., Gonzalez-Rendon, S. E., Montaño, L. F. & Altamirano-Lozano, M. (2014) Overview of environmental and occupational vanadium exposure and associated health outcomes: An article based on a presentation at the 8th International Symposium on Vanadium Chemistry, Biological Chemistry, and Toxicology, Washington DC, August 15-18, 2012. *Journal of Immunotoxicology*, 11 (1), 13-18. 10.3109/1547691X.2013.789940.

Freeman, K., Frost, C., Hundleby, G., Roberts, A., Valpy, B., Holttinen, H., Ramirez, L. & Pineda, I. (2019) *Our energy, our future: How offshore wind will help Europe go carbon-neutral.* Wind Europe. https://windeurope.org/wp-content/uploads/files/ about-wind/reports/WindEurope-Our-Energy-Our-Future.pdf

Froese, M. (2017) *Wind energy cost reduction of 50% are possible by 2030*. https://www.windpowerengineering.com/ another-50-reduction-possible-wind-industry-costs-2030/ [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Fthenakis, V., Frischknecht, R., Raugei, M., Kim, H.C., Alsema, E., Held, M. & de Wild-Scholten, M. (2011) *Methodology Guidelines on Life-Cycle Assessment of Photovoltaic Electricity*. International Energy Agency Photovoltaic Power Systems Programme. https://iea-pvps.org/key-topics/task-12-methodology-guidelines-on-life-cycle-assessment-of-photovoltaic-electricity-3rd-edition/

G+ Integrated Offshore Emergency Response. (2019) Good practice guidelines for offshore renewable energy developments. G+ Integrated Offshore Emergency Response. https://www.gplusoffshorewind.com/work-programme/ workstreams/guidelines

Gahl, D. & Norris, B. (2022) Large-Scale Solar Siting: Encouraging Ecosystem Enhancement and Conservation while producing much needed Zero-Carbon Electricity. Solar and Storage Industries Institute. https://www.seia.org/sites/default/files/2022-09/Large%20Scale%20Solar%20Project%20Siting%20-%20Land%20Use%20Framework%20-%20 FINAL%20%209-19-22.pdf

Gałaj, J. A. & Saleta, D. (2022) 5 - Toxicity of toxic gases emitted during a fire and ventilation. In: Pacheco-Torgal, F., Falkinham, J. O. & Gałaj, J. A. (eds.). *Advances in the Toxicity of Construction and Building Materials.*, Woodhead Publishing. pp. 81-115.

Garcia, R. & Freire, F. (2014) Carbon footprint of particleboard: a comparison between ISO/TS 14067, GHG Protocol, PAS 2050 and Climate Declaration. Elsevier BV.

Gasparatos, A., Doll, C. N., Esteban, M., Ahmed, A., & Olang, T. A. (2017). Renewable energy and biodiversity: Implications for transitioning to a Green Economy. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 70, 161-184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2016.08.030

GE. (2021) 2021 Sustainability Report. GE. https://www.ge.com/sites/default/files/ge2021 sustainability report.pdf

GE. (2021) 2021 Conflict Minerals Report. GE. https://www.ge.com/sites/default/files/2021 conflict minerals report.pdf

Gielen, D. (2020) *Steel, Hydrogen and Renewables: Strange Bedfellows? Maybe Not...* https://www.forbes.com/sites/ thebakersinstitute/2020/05/15/steel-hydrogen-and-renewables-strange-bedfellows-maybe-not/?sh=2a7e20e5188e [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Gielen, D., Boshell, F., Saygin, D., Bazilian, M. D., Wagner, N. & Gorini, R. (2019) The role of renewable energy in the global energy transformation. *Energy Strategy Reviews*. 24, 38-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2019.01.006

Giurco, D., Dominish, E., Florin, N., Watari, T. & McLellan, B. (2019) Requirements for Minerals and Metals for 100% Renewable Scenarios. In: Teske, S. (eds.). *Achieving the Paris Climate Agreement Goals.*, Springer, Cham. pp. 437-457. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05843-2_11

Global Cement and Concrete Association. (2019) GCCA Sustainability Guidelines for the monitoring and reporting of CO₂ emissions from cement manufacturing. Global Cement and Conrete Association. https://gccassociation.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/GCCA_Guidelines_CO2Emissions_v04_AMEND.pdf

Global Reporting Initiative. (2016) GRI 408: Child Labour 2016. Global Reporting Initiative. https://globalreporting.org/pdf. ashx?id=12622&page=1

Global Reporting Initiative. (2016) GRI 409: Forced or Compulsory Labour 2016. Global Reporting Initiative. https://globalreporting.org/pdf.ashx?id=12633&page=8

Goedkoop, M., Heijungs, R., Huijbregts, M., Schryver, A.D., Struijs, J. & van Zelm, R. (2013) ReCiPe 2008: A life cycle impact assessment method which comprises harmonised category indicators at the midpoint and the endpoint level. Ruimte en Milieu. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/302559709_ReCiPE_2008_A_life_cycle_impact_assessment_method_which_comprises_harmonised_category_indicators_at_the_midpoint_and_the_endpoint_level

González, M. O. A., Gonçalves, J. S. & Vasconcelos, R. M. (2017) Sustainable development: Case study in the implementation of renewable energy in Brazil. *Journal of Cleaner Production.* 142 461-475. 10.1016/j. jclepro.2016.10.052.

Griggs, I. (2022) *Raw materials, logistics and policy: The challenges facing OEMs in 2022*. https://www.windpowermonthly. com/article/1748178/raw-materials-logistics-policy-challenges-facing-oems-2022 [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Guinee, J.B., Gorree, M., Heijungs, R., Huppes, G., Kleijn, R., De Koning, A., Vans Oers, L., Sleedwijk, A.W., Suh, S., De Haus, U.H.A., De Bruijn, H., Van Duin, R. & Huijbregts, M.A.J. (2004) Handbook on Life Cycle Assessment: Operational Guide to the ISO Standards. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.

Gupta, N., Khan, D. K. & Santra, S. C. (2010) Determination of public health hazard potential of wastewater reuse in crop production. *World Review of Science, Technology and Sustainable Development*. 7 (4), 328-340. 10.1504/ WRSTSD.2010.032741.

Guth, S., Hüser, S., Roth, A., Degen, G., Diel, P., Edlund, K., Eisenbrand, G., Engel, K. H., Epe, B., Grune, T., Heinz, V., Henle, T., Humpf, H. U., Jäger, H., Joost, H. G., Kulling, S. E., Lampen, A., Mally, A., Marchan, R., Marko, D., Muhle, E., Nitsche, M.A., Rohrdanz, E., Stadler, R., van Thriel, C., Vieths, S., Vogel, R.F., Wascher, E., Watzl, C., Nothlings, U. & Hengstler, J. G. (2020). Toxicity of fluoride: critical evaluation of evidence for human developmental neurotoxicity in epidemiological studies, animal experiments and in vitro analyses. *Archives of toxicology*, *94*(5), 1375–1415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-020-02725-2

H2. (n.d.) Powering a new, clean industrial revolution. https://www.h2greensteel.com/ [Accessed 10th November 2022]

Haase, M., Wulf, C., Baumann, M., Rösch, C., Weil, M., Zapp, P. & Naegler, T. (2022) Prospective assessment of energy technologies: a comprehensive approach for sustainability assessment. *Energy, Sustainability and Society*. 12(20). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13705-022-00344-6

Hamed, T. A. & Alshare, A. (2022) Environmental Impact of Solar and Wind energy- A Review. *Journal of Sustainable Development of Energy, Water and Environment Systems*. 10(2), 23. https://doi.org/10.13044/j.sdewes.d9.0387

Hanus-Fajerska, E., Wiszniewska, A. & Kamińska, I. (2021) A Dual Role of Vanadium in Environmental Systems—Beneficial and Detrimental Effects on Terrestrial Plants and Humans. MDPI AG. *Plants*. 10(6), 1110. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10061110

Heading, S., Walrecht, A., Dhawan, R. & Hasdell, J. (2021) *Resourcing the Energy Transition: Making the World Go Round.* KPMG. https://home.kpmg/xx/en/home/insights/2021/03/resourcing-the-energy-transition.html

Helman, C. (2021) *How green is wind power, really? A new report tallies up the carbon cost of renewables.* https://www.forbes.com/sites/christopherhelman/2021/04/28/how-green-is-wind-power-really-a-new-report-tallies-up-the-carbon-cost-of-renewables/?sh=1f6b348873cd [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Hernandez, R. R., Armstrong, A., Burney, J., Ryan, G., Diédhiou, I., Grodsky, S. M., Davis, R., Macknick, J., Mulvaney, D., Heath, G. A., Easter, S. B., Hoffacker, M. K., Allen, M. F., & Kammen, D. M. (2019). Techno–ecological synergies of solar energy for global sustainability. *Nature Sustainability*, *2*(7), 560-568. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0309-z

Hertwich, E. G., Gibon, T., Bouman, E. A., Arvesen, A., Suh, S., Heath, G. A., Bergesen, J. D., Ramirez, A., Vega, M. I. & Shi, L. (2014) Integrated life-cycle assessment of electricity-supply scenarios confirms global environmental benefit of low-carbon technologies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 112(20). 6277-6282. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1312753111

Hischier, R., (ed.) Weidema, B., (ed.) Althaus, H., Bauer, C. Doka, G., Dones, R., Frischknecht, R., Hellweg, S., Humbert, S., Jungbluth, N., Kollner, T., Loerincik, Y., Margni, M. & Nemecek, T. (2010) *Implementation of Life Cycle Impact Assessment Methods*. Ecoinvent. https://ecoinvent.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/201007_hischier_weidema_implementation_of_lcia_methods.pdf

Hitachi Energy. (2021) Hitachi Energy Conflict Minerals Policy. (2021) https://library.e.abb.com/ public/166942a4fc264c5c9b1b795108a6ffad/Hitachi%20Energy%20Conflict%20Minerals%20Policy.pdf?x-sign=WavoA kJB+6br9gVB3IyPAfIPVxCuezWe14JaAJLiVvcWepybjFKQPTVuoRemP4jV

Hodgson, D. & Hugues, P. (2022) Cement. IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/cement

Hogan, B. (2020) One of the greenest types of energy poses a conservation conundrum – wind farms can lead to collisions with birds and bats. Is there way to build them so they don't harm animals? https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20200302-how-do-wind-farms-affect-bats-birds-and-other-wildlife [Accessed 10th November 2022]

Hsu, D. D., Fthenakis, V., Heath, G. A., Kim, H. C., Sawyer, P., Choi, K., & Turney, D. E. Life Cycle Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Crystalline Silicon Photovoltaic Electricity Generation. *Journal of Industrial Ecology, 16*, S122-S135. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-9290.2011.00439.x

Huang, B., Zhao, J., Chai, J., Xue, B., Zhao, F., & Wang, X. (2017). Environmental influence assessment of China's multicrystalline silicon (multi-Si) photovoltaic modules considering recycling process. *Solar Energy*, *143*, 132-141. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.solener.2016.12.038

Hund, K., Porta, D. L., Fabregas, T. P., Laing, T. & Drexhage, J. (2020) *Minerals for Climate Action: The Mineral Intensity of the Clean Energy Transition*. World Bank Group. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/extractiveindustries/brief/climate-smart-mining-minerals-for-climate-action

Hydrogen Council. (2020) Path to hydrogen competitiveness: A cost perspective. Hydrogen Council. https:// hydrogencouncil.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Path-to-Hydrogen-Competitiveness_Full-Study-1.pdf

Iberdrola. (2021) Statement of Non-Financial Information. Sustainability Report: Financial Year 2021. Iberdrola. https://www.iberdrola.com/documents/20125/1606413/gsm22_IA_SustainabilityReport2021.pdf

IEA. (2019) CO₂ emissions from fuel combustion: Highlights. IEA. https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/eb3b2e8d-28e0-47fd-a8ba-160f7ed42bc3/CO2_Emissions_from_Fuel_Combustion_2019_Highlights.pdf

IEA. (2022) The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions. IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/the-role-of-criticalminerals-in-clean-energy-transitions

Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance. (2018) IRMA Standard for Responsible Mining IRMA-STD-001. Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance. https://responsiblemining.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/IRMA_STANDARD_v.1.0_ FINAL_2018-1.pdf

Institute of Acoustics. (2013) A Good Practice Guide to the Application of ETSU-R-97 for the Assessment and Rating of Wind Turbine Noise. Institute of Acoustics. https://www.ioa.org.uk/sites/default/files/IOA%20Good%20Practice%20 Guide%20on%20Wind%20Turbine%20Noise%20-%20May%202013.pdf

International Council on Mining and Metals. (2022) ICMM Mining Principles. International Council on Mining and Metals. https://www.icmm.com/website/publications/pdfs/mining-principles/mining-principles.pdf?cb=10319

lpieca. (2023) Offshore impacts to fisheries: practitioner guidance for social baselines. lpieca. <u>https://www.ipieca.org/</u> resources/offshore-impacts-to-fisheries-practitioner-guidance-for-social-baselines

Ipieca. (2023) Environmental and social good practice for the energy transition: a compendium of Ipieca good practices. Ipieca. https://www.ipieca.org/resources/env-social-good-practice-energy-transition-2nd-edition

International Renewable Energy Agency. & IEA Photovoltaic Power Systems Programme. (2016) End-of-life Management: Solar Photovoltaic Panels. International Renewable Energy Agency. & IEA Photovoltaic Power Systems Programme. https://www.irena.org/publications/2016/Jun/End-of-life-management-Solar-Photovoltaic-Panels

International Renewable Energy Agency. (2022) Renewable Capacity Statistics. International Renewable Energy Agency. https://www.irena.org/publications/2022/Apr/Renewable-Capacity-Statistics-2022

ISO. (2006a) *ISO 14040: 2006 Environmental management – Life cycle assessment – Principles and framework*. ISO. https://www.iso.org/standard/37456.html

ISO. (2006b) *ISO 14044: 2006 Environmental management – Life cycle assessment – Requirements and guidelines*. ISO. https://www.iso.org/standard/38498.html

Jayawardana, D. T., Pitawala, H. M. T. G. A. & Ishiga, H. (2015) Geochemical evidence for the accumulation of vanadium in soils of chronic kidney disease areas in Sri Lanka. *Environmental Earth Sciences*. 73 (9), 5415-5424. 10.1007/s12665-014-3796-2.

Jiang, H. R., Sun, J., Wei, L., Wu, M. C., Shyy, W. & Zhao, T. S. (2020) A high power density and long cycle life vanadium redox flow battery. *Energy Storage Materials.* 24 529-540. 10.1016/j.ensm.2019.07.005.

Jones, N. F. & Pejchar, L. (2013) Comparing the Ecological Impacts of Wind and Oil & Gas Development: A Landscape Scale Assessment. *PLoS ONE*. 8 (11), e81391. 10.1371/journal.pone.0081391.

Kagan, R.A., Viner, T.C., Trail, P.W. & Espinoza, E.O. (2014) *Avian Mortality at Solar Energy Facilities in Southern California: A Preliminary Analysis*. National Fish and Wildlife Forensics. https://www.ourenergypolicy.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/avian-mortality.pdf

Kaldellis, J. K. & Apostolou, D. (2017) Life cycle energy and carbon footprint of offshore wind energy. Comparison with onshore counterpart. *Renewable Energy*. 108 72-84. 10.1016/j.renene.2017.02.039.

Karunanidhi, D., Subramani, T., Roy, P. D. & Li, H. (2021) Impact of groundwater contamination on human health. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health.* 43 (2), 643-647. 10.1007/s10653-021-00824-2.

Kim, T. & Karpinski, M. (2020) *Clean energy progress after the Covid-19 crisis will need reliable supplies of critical minerals.* IEA. https://www.iea.org/articles/clean-energy-progress-after-the-covid-19-crisis-will-need-reliable-supplies-of-critical-minerals

Kosciuch, K., Riser-Espinoza, D., Gerringer, M. & Erickson, W. (2020) A summary of bird mortality at photovoltaic utility scale solar facilities in the Southwestern U.S. Public Library of Science (PLoS). 15(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0232034

Kurrer, C. (2020) *The potential of hydrogen for decarbonising steel production*. European Parliament. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2020/641552/EPRS_BRI(2020)641552_EN.pdf

Laranjeiro, T., May, R. & Verones, F. (2018) Impacts of onshore wind energy production on birds and bats: recommendations for future life cycle impact assessment developments. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*. 23, 2007-2023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-017-1434-4

Larcher, D. & Tarascon, J. (2015) Towards Greener and More Sustainable Batteries for Electrical Energy Storage. *Nature Chemistry*. 7 (1), 19-29. 10.1038/NCHEM.2085.

Lewis Roca. (2021) *Issue Brief: End-of-Life Challenges facing renewable energy facilities*. https://www.lewisroca.com/ publication-end-of-life-challenges-facing-renewable-energy-facilities [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Li, H., Jiang, H., Dong, K., Wei, Y., & Liao, H. (2020). A comparative analysis of the life cycle environmental emissions from wind and coal power: Evidence from China. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 248*, 119192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2019.119192

Lieberei, J. & Gheewala, S. H. (2017) Resource depletion assessment of renewable electricity generation technologies comparison of life cycle impact assessment methods with focus on mineral resources. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment.* 22 (2), 185-198. 10.1007/s11367-016-1152-3.

Liu, H., Guo, H., Pourret, O., Wang, Z., Liu, M., Zhang, W., Li, Z., Gao, B., Sun, Z. & Laine, P. (2022) Geochemical signatures of rare earth elements and yttrium exploited by acid solution mining around an ion-adsorption type deposit: Role of source control and potential for recovery. *Science of the Total Environment*. 804 150241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.150241

Liu, P., Liu, L., Xu, X., Zhao, Y., Niu, J. & Zhang, Q. (2021) Carbon footprint and carbon emission intensity of grassland wind farms in Inner Mongolia. *Journal of Cleaner Production.* 313 127878. 10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127878.

Mali, S. & Garrett, P. (2022) Life Cycle Assessment of Electricity Production from an onshore V136-4.2 MW Wind Plant. Vestas. https://www.vestas.com/content/dam/vestas-com/global/en/sustainability/reports-and-ratings/lcas/ LCA%20of%20Electricity%20Production%20from%20an%20onshore%20V136-4.2MW%20Wind%20Plant_Final.pdf. coredownload.inline.pdf

Mancini, L. & Nuss, P. (2020) Responsible Materials Management for a Resource-Efficient and Low-Carbon Society. *Resources*. 9 (6), 68. https://doi.org/10.3390/resources9060068

Manfredi, S., Allacker, K., Chomkhamsri, K., Pelletier, N. & Maia de Souza, D. (2012) *Product Environmental Footprint (PEF) Guide*. European Commission, Joint Research Centre & Institute for Environment and Sustainability. http://ec.europa.eu/ environment/eussd/pdf/footprint/PEF%20methodology%20final%20draft.pdf

Marashli, A., Gasaymeh, A. & Shalby, M. (2022) Comparing the Global Warming Impact from Wind, Solar Energy, and other Electricity Generating Systems through Life Cycle Assessment Methods (A Survey). *International Journal of Renewable Energy Research.* 12 (2) 899-920. https://doi.org/10.20508/ijrer.v12i2.13010.g8474

Martin, G. R., & Banks, A. N. (2023). Marine birds: Vision-based wind turbine collision mitigation. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 42, e02386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2023.e02386

Martínez, E., Sanz, F., Pellegrini, S., Jiménez, E. & Blanco, J. (2009) Life-cycle assessment of a 2-MW rated power wind turbine: CML method. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*. 14 (1), 52-63. 10.1007/s11367-008-0033-9.

McAdam, R. & Brown, L. (2001) Strategic alignment and the supply chain for the steel stockholder sector: an exploratory case study analysis. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal.* 6 (2), 83-95. 10.1108/13598540110387582.

Mello, G., Ferreira Dias, M. & Robaina, M. (2020) Wind farms life cycle assessment review: CO2 emissions and climate change. *Energy Reports*. 6(8), 214-219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2020.11.104

Methratta, E.T. & Dardick, W.R. (2019) Meta-Analysis of Finfish Abundance at Offshore Wind Farms. *Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture*. 27(2), 242-260. https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2019.1584601

Mills, M.P. (2020) *Mines, Minerals, and "Green" Energy: A Reality Check*. Manhattan Institute. https://www.manhattan-institute.org/mines-minerals-and-green-energy-reality-check

Minke, C. & Turek, T. (2018) Materials, system designs and modelling approaches in techno-economic assessment of all-vanadium redox flow batteries – A review. *Journal of Power Sources*. 376 66-81. 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2017.11.058.

Mitchell, J.T., Grace, J. & Harrison, G. (2010) CO₂ payback time for a wind farm on afforested peatland in the UK. *Mires and Peat.* 10(4). https://www.researchgate.net/publication/268008506_CO_2_payback_time_for_a_wind_farm_on_afforested_peatland_in_the_UK

Moss, J. (2018) *Renewable energy's uneasy relationship with the deep sea mining industry*. https://informaconnect.com/ renewable-energys-deep-sea-mining-conundrum/ [Accessed 9th November 2022]

NatureScot. (2019) Guidance – Good Practice during Wind Farm Construction. NatureScot. https://www.nature.scot/ doc/guidance-good-practice-during-wind-farm-construction

NextEra Energy. (2022) 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report. NextEra Energy. https://www.nexteraenergy. com/content/dam/nee/us/en/pdf/2022 NEE ESG Report Final.pdf

Ni, W., Huang, Y., Wang, X., Zhang, J. & Wu, K. (2014) Associations of neonatal lead, cadmium, chromium and nickel coexposure with DNA oxidative damage in an electronic waste recycling town. *The Science of the Total Environment*. 472 354-362. 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.11.032.

Nicholas, S. & Basirat, S. (2022) *Iron Ore Quality a Potential Headwind to Green Steelmaking: Technology and Mining Options are available to hit Net-Zero Steel Targets.* Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis. https://ieefa.org/resources/iron-ore-quality-potential-headwind-green-steelmaking-technology-and-mining-options-are

Nilsson. A. & Orrenius, N. (2021) How to reduce the total environmental, economic and social impact of Solar Cell Panels. KTH Royal Institute of Technology. https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1575772/FULLTEXT01.pdf

Nhede, N. (2021) Installation vessels outside of China vital to meeting offshore wind targets. https://www.smart-energy. com/renewable-energy/installation-vessels-outside-of-china-vital-to-meeting-offshore-wind-energy-targets/ [Accessed 21st November 2022]

National Renewable Energy Laboratory. (2021a) Solar Photovoltaic Module Recycling: A Survey of US Policies and Initiatives. National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/74124.pdf

National Renewable Energy Laboratory. (2021b) A Circular Economy for Solar Photovoltaic System Materials: Drivers, Barriers, Enablers, and US Policy Considerations. National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/74550.pdf

National Renewable Energy Laboratory. (2021c) Best Practices at the End of the Photovoltaic System Performance Period. National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/78678.pdf

National Renewable Energy Laboratory. (2012) Life Cycle Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Solar Photovoltaics. National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy13osti/56487.pdf

National Renewable Energy Laboratory. (n.d.) *Life Cycle Assessment Harmonisation*. https://www.nrel.gov/analysis/life-cycle-assessment.html [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Nugent, D. & Sovacool, B. K. (2014) Assessing the lifecycle greenhouse gas emissions from solar PV and wind energy: A critical meta-survey. *Energy Policy*. 65 229-244. 10.1016/j.enpol.2013.10.048.

OECD. (2016) OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas: Third Edition. OECD. https://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/OECD-Due-Diligence-Guidance-Minerals-Edition3. pdf

OECD. (2017a) OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Meaningful Stakeholder Engagement in the Extractive Sector. OECD https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/9789264252462-en. pdf?expires=1697194468&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=960B38AC2B2313691F35D0B6ABC03D77

OECD. (2017b) Practical actions for companies to identify and address the worst forms of child labour in mineral supply chains. OECD. https://mneguidelines.oecd.org/Practical-actions-for-worst-forms-of-child-labour-mining-sector.pdf

OECD. (2017c) Responsible business conduct for institutional investors: Key considerations for due diligence under the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. OECD. https://mneguidelines.oecd.org/RBC-for-Institutional-Investors.pdf

OECD. (2018) OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Business Conduct. OECD. https://mneguidelines.oecd.org// OECD-Due-Diligence-Guidance-for-Responsible-Business-Conduct.pdf

Oregon State University. (2016) Hydrothermal vents, methane seeps play enormous role in marine life, global climate. Oregon State University. https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2016/05/160531143217.htm

Orsted. (2022) Orsted Sustainability Report 2022. Orsted. https://orstedcdn. azureedge.net/-/media/2022-annual-report/orsted-sustainability-report-2022. pdf?rev=eda5465ba5784866b6cea99e58088f94&hash=3BFD5F72E676043FA33114647E7C8C4D

Paulsson, L., Hodges, J. & Martin, C. (2019) *Offshore Wind Will Need Bigger Boats. Much Bigger Boats.* https://www. bloomberg.com/news/features/2019-05-13/offshore-wind-will-need-bigger-boats-much-bigger-boats [Accessed 21st November 2022]

Peng, Y., Yang, L., Ju, X., Liao, B., Ye, K., Li, L., Cao, B. & Ni, Y. (2020) A comprehensive investigation on the thermal and toxic hazards of large format lithium-ion batteries with LiFePO4 cathode. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 381 120916. 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.120916.

Polish Wind Energy Association. (2019) Wind Power: Code of Good Practice. Polish Wind Energy Association. http://psew. pl/en/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2019/09/Code-of-Good-Practice.pdf

Prabhu, V.S., Shrivastava, S. & Mukhopadhyay, K. (2021) Life Cycle Assessment of Solar Photovoltaic in India: A Circular Economy Approach. *Circular Economy and Sustainability*. 2 507-534. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43615-021-00101-5

Pré. (2012) Life Cycle-Based Sustainability – Standards & Guidelines. Pré. https://pre-sustainability.com/legacy/download/Life-Cycle-Based-Sustainability-Standards-Guidelines.pdf

Proctor, K. W., Murthy, G. S., & Higgins, C. W. (2021). Agrivoltaics Align with Green New Deal Goals While Supporting Investment in the US' Rural Economy. *Sustainability*, *13*(1), 137. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13010137

Qi, L. & Zhang, Y. (2017) Effects of solar photovoltaic technology on the environment in China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International.* 24 (28), 22133-22142. 10.1007/s11356-017-9987-0.

Raadal, H.L., Gagnon, L., Modahl, I.S. & Hanssen, O.J. (2011) Life cycle greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the generation of wind and hydro power. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*. 15 (7), 3417-3422. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2011.05.001

Ramsden, K. (2020) Cement and Concrete: The Environmental Impact. https://psci.princeton.edu/tips/2020/11/3/ cement-and-concrete-the-environmental-impact [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Rapier, R. (2020) *Environmental Implications of Lead-Acid and Lithium-Ion Batteries*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/ rrapier/2020/01/19/environmental-implications-of-lead-acid-and-lithium-ion-batteries/?sh=798f43f47bf5 [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Razdan, P. & Garrett, P. (2017) Life Cycle Assessment of Electricity Production from an onshore V112-3.45 MW Wind Plant. Vestas. https://www.vestas.com/content/dam/vestas-com/global/en/sustainability/reports-and-ratings/lcas/V1123%2045MW_Mk3a_ISO_LCA_Final_31072017.pdf.coredownload.inline.pdf

Rehbein, J. A., M. Watson, J. E., Lane, J. L., Sonter, L. J., Venter, O., Atkinson, S. C., & Allan, J. R. (2020). Renewable energy development threatens many globally important biodiversity areas. *Global Change Biology*, *26*(5), 3040-3051. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15067

Rehder, D. (2013) Vanadium. Its Role for Humans. In: Sigel, A., Sigel, H. & Sigel, R. (eds.) *Interrelations between Essential Metal Ions and Human Diseases. Metal Ions in Life Sciences, vol 13.* Dordrecht, Springer, pp. 139-169. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7500-8 5

Remes, J. & Saxon, S. (2021) *What's going on with shopping rates*? https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/travel-logistics-and-infrastructure/our-insights/whats-going-on-with-shipping-rates [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Ren21. (2021) Renewables 2021: Global Status Report. Ren21. https://www.ren21.net/reports/global-status-report/

Responsible Cobalt Initiative & Responsible Minerals Initiative. (2022) Cobalt Refiner Supply Chain Due Diligence Standard. Responsible Cobalt Initiative & Responsible Minerals Initiative. https://www.responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/media/docs/ standards/Cobalt%20Refiner%20Supply%20Chain%20Due%20Diligence%20Standard%20(Version%202.0)_EN.pdf

Responsible Mining Foundation. (2020) RMI Report 2020. Responsible Mining Foundation. https://www.responsibleminingfoundation.org/rmi-report-2020/

Responsible Minerals Initiative. (2018) Responsible Minerals Assurance Process: Tin and Tantalum Standard. Responsible Minerals Initiative. https://www.responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/media/docs/standards/Responsible%20Minerals%20 Assurance%20Process Standard SnTa EN.pdf

Responsible Mining Initiative. (2021) Responsible Minerals Assurance Process: Environmental, Social & Governance (ESG) Standard for Mineral Supply Chains. Responsible Minerals Initiative. https://www.responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/media/docs/standards/RMI_RMAP%20ESG%20Standard%20for%20Mineral%20Supply%20Chains_June32021_FINAL.pdf

Responsible Minerals Initiative. (2022) Responsible Minerals Assurance Process: Global Responsible Sourcing Due Diligence Standard for Mineral Supply Chains All Minerals. Responsible Minerals Initiative. https://www. responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/media/docs/standards/ ResponsibleMineralsAssuranceProcess_Standard_AllMinerals_ EN_121422.pdf

Responsible Mining Initiative. (n.d.) What are conflict minerals? https://www.responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/about/faq/general-questions/what-are-conflict-minerals/ [Accessed 13th October 2023]

Responsible Steel. (2022) ResponsibleSteel International Standard. Responsible Steel. https://www.responsiblesteel.org/ wp-content/uploads/2022/09/ResponsibleSteel-Standard-2.0.pdfRoberts, D. C., Mintenbeck, K., Wegener, A. & Craig, M. H. (2022). Assessment of the Spatial and Temporal Variation in Atmospheric Selected Aerosols Over Parts of Sub-Saharan Africa View project Sustainable Cities View project. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009325844

RWE. (2021) RWE Sustainability Report 2021. RWE. https://www.rwe.com/-/media/RWE/documents/09-verantwortung-nachhaltigkeit/cr-berichte/EN/cr-report-2021.pdf

Siemens Gamesa. (2021) Consolidated Non-Financial Statement 2021. Siemens Gamesa. https://www.siemensgamesa. com/en-int/-/media/siemensgamesa/downloads/en/sustainability/siemens-gamesa-consolidated-non-financial-statement-2021-en.pdf

Siemens Gamesa. (2022) Commanding circularity: Siemens Gamesa announces RecylableBlade for onshore wind power projects. https://www.siemensgamesa.com/newsroom/2022/09/092222-siemens-gamesa-press-release-onshore-recyclable-blade#:~:text=The%20RecyclableBlade%20recovery%20process%20uses,goods%2C%20or%20the%20 automotive%20industry. [Accessed 21st November 2022]

Siemens Gamesa. (n.d.) A clean energy solution – from cradle to grave: Environmental Product Declaration SG 8.0-167 DD. https://www.siemensgamesa.com/-/media/siemensgamesa/downloads/en/products-and-services/offshore/brochures/siemens-gamesa-environmental-product-declaration-epd-sg-8-0-167.pdf

Smallwood, K. S. (2007) Estimating Wind Turbine–Caused Bird Mortality. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 71 (8), 2781-2791. 10.2193/2007-006.

Smith, O. (2018) *The Dark Side of the Sun: Avoiding Conflict Over Solar Energy's Land and Water Demands.* https://www. newsecuritybeat.org/2018/10/dark-side-sun-avoiding-conflict-solar-energys-land-water-demands/ [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Smith, S. (2010) Complying with OSHA's Cr(VI) regulations. *Welding Journal*. 89(11), 28-29. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294594053_Complying_with_OSHA's_CrVI_regulations

Solar Energy UK. (20220 Natural Capital Best Practice Guidance: Increasing Biodiversity at all stages of a Solar Farm's Life Cycle. Solar Energy UK. https://solarenergyuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/NCBPG-Solar-Energy-UK-Report-web. pdf

Solar Energy Industries Association. (2021a) Solar Industry Commitment to Environmental & Social Responsibility: Participant Handbook. Solar Energy Industries Association. https://www.seia.org/sites/default/files/2021-04/SEIA-Solar-Commitment-Participant-Handbook-2021.pdf

Solar Energy Industries Association. (2021b) Solar Supply Chain Traceability Protocol 1.0: Industry Guidance. Solar Energy Industries Association. https://www.seia.org/sites/default/files/2021-04/SEIA-Supply-Chain-Traceability-Protocol-v1.0-April2021.pdf

SolarPower Europe. (2021) Lifecycle Quality: Best Practice Guidelines Version 1.0. SolarPower Europe. https://www.solarpowereurope.org/insights/thematic-reports/lifecycle-quality-best-practice-guidelines-version-1-0

SolarPower Europe. (2022) Solar Sustainability: Best Practices Benchmark. SolarPower Europe. https://www.solarpowereurope.org/insights/thematic-reports/solar-sustainability-best-practices-benchmark

Somers. J. (2021) *Decarbonisation of industrial heat: The iron and steel sector*. https://ee-ip.org/en/article/ decarbonisation-of-industrial-heat-the-iron-and-steel-sector-1732 [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Sonter, L. J., Dade, M. C., Watson, J. E. M. & Valenta, R. K. (2020) Renewable energy production will exacerbate mining threats to biodiversity. *Nature Communications*. 11(4174). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17928-5

Sonter, L. J., Sonter, L. J., Ali, S. H. & Watson, J. E. M. (2018) Mining and biodiversity: key issues and research needs in conservation science. *Proceedings Biological sciences*, 285(1892), 20181926. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.1926

Sovernigo, M.H. (2009) Impact of wind turbines on Avifauna and Chiropractor in Brazil. [Impacto dos aerogeradores sobre a Avifauna e Quiropterofauna no Brasil]. *Respositório Institucional*. https://repositorio.ufsc.br/xmlui/handle/123456789/132383

Sphera. (n.d.) *CML 2001*. https://gabi.sphera.com/support/gabi/gabi-lcia-documentation/cml-2001/ [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Spiegel, J.E. (2017) *New farmland harvest – solar energy – creating political sparks*. https://ctmirror.org/2017/02/21/ new-farmland-harvest-solar-energy-creating-political-sparks/ [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Spyroudi, A. (2021) *The Race to Reduce the Carbon Footprint of Wind Energy*. https://ore.catapult.org.uk/blog/race-reduce-carbon-footprint-wind-energy/#:~:text=By%20recycling%20turbines%20at%20the,entirely%20from%20 primary%20raw%20materials. [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. (2023) RICS professional standards and guidance, Global: Whole life carbon assessment for the built environment – 2nd edition, September 2023. Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. https://www.rics.org/profession-standards/rics-standards-and-guidance/sector-standards/construction-standards/whole-life-carbon-assessment

Su, J., Guo, X., Gao, Y., Wu, S., Xu, R. & Sun, X. (2021) Recovery of thorium and rare earths from leachate of ion-absorbed rare earth radioactive residues with N1923 and Cyanex® 572. *Journal of Rare Earths*. 39 (10), 1273-1281. 10.1016/j. jre.2020.09.005.

SunPower. (2021) ESG Report 2021. SunPower. https://us.sunpower.com/sites/default/files/sunpower-esgreport-2021_0.pdf

Tajne, P. (2015) *The Dark Side of Renewable Energy: Negative Impacts of Renewables on the Environment*. https://www. altenergymag.com/article/2015/08/the-dark-side-of-renewable-energy-negative-impacts-of-renewables-on-theenvironment/20963/ [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Takeda, S., Keeley, A., Sakurai, S., Managi, S. & Norris, C. B. (2019) Are Renewables as Friendly to Humans as to the Environment?: A Social Life Cycle Assessment of Renewable Electricity. *Sustainability*. 11(5), 1370. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11051370

Tambjerg, L. (2021) A three-step approach to best practice LCA. https://eco-act.com/life-cycle-assessment/best-practice-lca/ [Accessed 9th November 2022]

The Biodiversity Consultancy. (2020) Solar energy: managing biodiversity risks – Briefing note. The Biodiversity Consultancy. https://www.thebiodiversityconsultancy.com/fileadmin/uploads/tbc/Documents/Resources/Solar-energy-TBC-IBN-March-2020.pdf

The Copper Mark. (2022) Joint Due Diligence Standard for Copper, Lead, Molybdenum, Nickel and Zinc. The Copper Mark. https://coppermark.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Joint-Due-Diligence-Standard_v3_26AUG22-1.pdf

The World Bank Group. (2015) Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Wind Energy. The World Bank Group. https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/topics_ext_content/ifc_external_corporate_site/sustainability-at-ifc/publications/publications_policy_ehs-wind_energy

Thomson, R.C. & Harrison, G.P. (2015) *Life cycle costs and carbon emissions of wind power*. ClimatexChange. https://www.climatexchange.org.uk/media/1459/life_cycle_wind_- executive_summary_.pdf

TPI. (2021) 2021 ESG Report. TPI. https://tpicomposites.com/sustainability/reporting/

TSM Initiative. (2018) Towards Sustainable Mining (TSM) Protocols. https://tsminitiative.com/protocolsframeworks#responsible-sourcing-alignment-supplement [Accessed 13 October 2023]

UNEP. (2016) Green Energy Choices: The benefits, risks and trade-offs of low-carbon technologies for electricity production. UNEP. https://www.resourcepanel.org/reports/green-energy-choices-benefits-risks-and-trade-offs-low-carbon-technologies-electricity

UNEP. (2021) Emissions Gap Report 2021: The Heat is On – A World of Climate Promises Not Yet Delivered. UNEP. https://www.unep.org/emissions-gap-report-2021

UNFCCC. (2017) *The Paris Agreement*. https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement [Accessed 9th November 2022]

United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. (2021) Carbon Neutrality in the UNECE Region: Integrated Life-cycle Assessment of Electricity Sources. United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. https://unece.org/sites/default/files/2022-04/LCA_3_FINAL%20March%202022.pdf

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2022) *Basic Information about NO₂*. https://www.epa.gov/no2-pollution/basic-information-about-no2#;~:text=Health%20effects%20Breathing%20air%20with%20a%20high%20 concentration,breathing%29%2C%20hospital%20admissions%20and%20visits%20to%20emergency%20rooms. [Accessed 16th November 2022]

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2022) *Indicators: Phosphorus*. https://www.epa.gov/national-aquatic-resource-surveys/indicators-phosphorus#:~:text=Too%20much%20phosphorus%20can%20cause,to%20human%20 and%20animal%20health. [Accessed 9th November 2022]

Van De Ven, D., Capellan-Peréz, I., Arto, I., Cazcarro, I., De Castro, C., Patel, P. & Gonzalez-Eguino, M. (2021) (123456789) The potential land requirements and related land use change emissions of solar energy. *Scientific Reports*. 11(2907). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-82042-5

Van Dover, C.L. (2014) Impacts of anthropogenic disturbances at deep-sea hydrothermal vent ecosystems: A review. *Maine environmental research.* 102, 59-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2014.03.008

Van Oppen, C., Croon, G. & De Vroe, D.B. (2018) *Circular Procurement in 8 Steps*. Copper8. https://www.copper8.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Circular-Procurement-in-8-steps-Ebook.pdf

Vattenfall. (2021) Vattenfall Annual and Sustainability Report 2021. Vattenfall. https://group.vattenfall.com/siteassets/ corporate/investors/annual-reports/2021/vattenfall-annual-and-sustainability-report2021.pdf

Vattenfall. (n.d.) Life Cycle Assessment for Vattenfall's electricity generation: Including a case study for the Nordic countries Group Environment. Vattenfall. https://group.vattenfall.com/siteassets/corporate/who-we-are/sustainability/ doc/vattenfall-lca-brochure.pdf

Vestas. (2021) Sustainability Report 2021. Vestas. https://www.vestas.com/en/sustainability/reports-and-ratings

Visser, E., Perold, V., Ralston-Paton, S., Cardenal, A. C. & Ryan, P. G. (2019) Assessing the impacts of a utility-scale photovoltaic solar energy facility on birds in the Northern Cape, South Africa. *Renewable Energy*. 133 1285-1294. 10.1016/j.renene.2018.08.106.

Wade, A. (2016) *Carbon footprint of solar panels under microscope*. Euractiv. https://www.euractiv.com/section/energy/ opinion/mondaycop22-lower-co2-emissions-with-lower-carbon-solar-energy/ [Accessed 13 October 2023]

Wang, Y. & Sun, T. (2012) Life cycle assessment of CO2 emissions from wind power plants: Methodology and case studies. *Renewable Energy*. 43 30-36. 10.1016/j.renene.2011.12.017.

Wang, Z., Luo, Y., Zheng, C., An, C. & Mi, Z. (2020) Spatial distribution, source identification, and risk assessment of heavy metals in the soils from a mining region: a case study of Bayan Obo in northwestern China. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment*. 27 (5), 1276-1295. 10.1080/10807039.2020.1821350.

Watt, J. A. J., Burke, I. T., Edwards, R. A., Malcolm, H. M., Mayes, W. M., Olszewska, J. P., Pan, G., Graham, M. C., Heal, K. V., Rose, N. L., Turner, S. D. & Spears, B. M. (2018) Vanadium: A Re-Emerging Environmental Hazard. *American Chemical Society (ACS)*. 52(21). 11973-11972. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b05560

WBCSD. (n.d.) *Guidelines for an Integrated Energy Strategy*. https://wbcsdpublications.org/an-integrated-approach-toenergy-and-fuel-efficiency/ [Accessed 9th November 2022] WBCSD. & WRI. (2004) The GHG Protocol: A corporate reporting and accounting standard (revised edition). WBCSD & WRI. https://www.wbcsd.org/Programs/Climate-and-Energy/Climate/Resources/A-corporate-reporting-and-accounting-standard-revised-edition

Wind Europe. (2021) Decision to extend EU steel safeguard will worsen pressure on costs. https://windeurope.org/ newsroom/press-releases/decision-to-extend-eu-steel-safeguard-will-worsen-pressure-on-costs/ [Accessed 16th November 2022]

Wind Europe. (2022) *Europe's offshore wind expansion will depend on vessel availability*. https://windeurope.org/ newsroom/news/europes-offshore-wind-expansion-will-depend-on-vessel-availability/ [Accessed 21st November 2022]

Wind Europe., Polish Wind Energy Association. & H-Blix. (2022) Offshore wind vessel availability until 2030: Baltic Sea and Polish perspective. Wind Europe., Polish Wind Energy Association. & H-Blix. https://windeurope.org/wp-content/uploads/ files/policy/topics/offshore/Offshore-wind-vessel-avaiability-until-2030-report-june-2022.pdf

Wind Europe., Cefic. & EuCIA. (2020) Accelerating Wind Turbines Blade Circularity. Wind Europe, Defic & EuCIA. https://windeurope.org/wp-content/uploads/files/about-wind/reports/WindEurope-Accelerating-wind-turbine-blade-circularity.pdf

Wolf, M., Pant, R., Chomkhamsri, K., Sala, S. & Pennington, D. (2012) *The International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook*. Joint Research Centre. https://epica.jrc.ec.europa.eu/uploads/JRC-Reference-Report-ILCD-Handbook-Towards-more-sustainable-production-and-consumption-for-a-resource-efficient-Europe.pdf

World Bank Group & Extractives Global Programmatic Support. (2017) The Growing Role of Minerals and Metals for a Low Carbon Future. World Bank Group & Extractives Global Programmatic Support. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/8f21fce3-572b-5429-ad13-c8fbb0dd55a8/content

World Economic Forum. (2022) Insight Report: Fostering Effective Energy Transition 2022 Edition. World Economic Forum. https://www.weforum.org/reports/fostering-effective-energy-transition-2022/

Wu, Y. & Su, D. (2020) Review of Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA) Methods and Inventory Databases. In: Su, D. (ed.) *Sustainable Product Development: Tools, Methods and Examples.* Switzerland, Springer Nature, pp. 39-56. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39149-2_3

Xu, L., Pang, M., Zhang, L., Poganietz, W. & Marathe, S. D. (2018) Life cycle assessment of onshore wind power systems in China. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling.* 132 361-368. 10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.06.014.

Yadav, D.S., Jaiswal, B., Gautam, M. & Agrawal, M. (2020) Soil Acidification and its Impact on Plants. In: Singh, P., Singh, S.K. & Prasad, S.M. (eds.) *Plant Responses to Soil Pollution*. Singapore, Springer Nature, pp. 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-4964-9_1#DOI

Yang, J., Chang, Y., Zhang, L., Hao, Y., Yan, Q. & Wang, C. (2018) The life-cycle energy and environmental emissions of a typical offshore wind farm in China. *Journal of Cleaner Production.* 180 316-324. 10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.01.082.

Zheng, Y., Waldron, S. & Flowers, H. (2018) Fluvial dissolved organic carbon composition varies spatially and seasonally in a small catchment draining a wind farm and felled forestry. *The Science of the Total Environment*. 626 785-794. 10.1016/j. scitotenv.2018.01.001.

Appendices

Introduction

APPENDIX 1: ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECONOMIC BENEFITS OF SOLAR AND WIND ENERGY

Solar and wind energy together accounted for 88 per cent of all net renewable energy additions in 2021, increasing the capacity of renewable power by 257 GW (+9.1 per cent) (IRENA, 2022).

Several sources have so far highlighted the environmental and economic benefits of solar and wind energy. For instance, a study by the American Wind Energy Association (2020) concluded that a high scenario of 30 GW of operating offshore wind power by 2030 could support up to 83,000 jobs and deliver \$25 billion annually in economic output in the United States. Another study by the IEA (2022) highlighted the potential of the solar PV industry to create 1300 manufacturing jobs for each gigawatt of production capacity, with module and cell manufacturing being the most job-intensive segments.

Whilst wind and solar technologies have far greater environmental benefits in comparison to fossil fuels in terms of climate change, particulates, ecotoxicity, human health, and eutrophication (UNEP, 2016) and have therefore become known as 'clean' fuels, these technologies can still have trade-offs throughout their life cycle if not properly managed.

Part one: Supply chain management for wind and solar

APPENDIX 2. SOURCING RISKS

In the following discussion, a clear distinction has been made between social and environmental risks in the section on "Sourcing," but not between solar and wind because of the huge overlap between both.

Social risks

Mancini and Nuss (2020) contend that societal and environmental factors can affect the availability of raw materials and present challenges for the transition to a low-carbon future. With a high dependence on mineral extraction and mining activities, environmental and social risks such as water stress, air pollution, soil and groundwater acidification, habitat loss and fragmentation and poor working conditions have been commonly reported in the literature (IEA, 2022; Bai et al., 2022; Sonter et al., 2020; Amnesty International, 2016).

Takeda et al. (2019) carried out a social LCA of solar and wind that revealed that currently, solar and wind energy can have impacts on people and societies. The study highlighted concerns for developing nations, where workers frequently experience poor working conditions as a part of the global supply chain. Additionally, a study by Huber & Steininger (2022) summarises the supply chain risks associated with the mining of minerals needed in the production of solar and wind energy technologies such as violations of human rights, financing of conflicts, lack of transparency, child labour, lack of safety standards and labour health issues. Among these minerals are also "conflict minerals", which refer to tantalum, tin, tungsten and gold (often referred to as 3TG metals), and their current mining is frequently linked to human rights violations and the financing of violent conflicts (Huber & Steininger, 2022; Responsible Minerals Initiative, n.d.). One of the most complex challenges to tackle these risks is that about 67 per cent of companies cannot distinguish which country their minerals originate from (Huber & Steininger, 2022; Küblböck & Grohs, 2017).

For instance, rare earth mining can have a high human cost in some places, such as the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), with negative effects on the miners' quality of life with long working hours, human rights abuses, child labour and gender discrimination being reported by many studies (Heading et al., 2021). ActionAid (2018) reported that among the artisanal miners in the southern part of DRC, from where 20 per cent of the cobalt is currently exported, are children as young as seven, who scavenge for rocks containing cobalt in the discarded by-products of industrial mines. Children reportedly work between 10-12 hours a day in and around these cobalt mines, often carrying sacks of mineral ore weighing between 20-40 kg (Amnesty International, 2016). There are multiple case studies reported by ActionAid (2018) that take place as a result of mining for solar and wind technologies such as large-scale water and air pollution in China due to neodymium mining, gender discrimination in Zambia's copper mines, community and labour rights violations in Sierra Leone's iron mines and corruption in the iron ore mines of Liberia.

The table below summarises the application of several minerals in solar and wind energy technologies and their respective risks.

MINERAL APPLICATION IN SOLAR **RISKS REPORTED** AND WIND ENERGY TIN Semiconductor material in solar PV Human rights violations (one of the Solder for solar PV and wind turbines Child labour • conflict Lithium-ion batteries Poor working conditions • minerals) Wind turbines Revenue supporting warlords • Amorphous silicon in solar PV • Poor governance, corruption or political instability Tin oxide layer for thin film solar PV • Linked to countries with poor governance Tin-based perovskite in solar PV Reserves in fragile states High political risk Toxicity Heavy metal toxicity Radiological Risks RARE • NdFeB permanent magnets in direct-Human rights violations EARTH drive generators in wind turbines Conflicts between locals and mining companies ELEMENTS Lithium-ion batteries • Exploitation Generators • Child Labour Poor working conditions Poor governance, corruption or political instability Reserves in fragile states High political risk Toxicity Significant cytotoxicity Pulmonary embolisms Can be fatal COBALT NdFeB permanent magnets in direct-Human rights violations drive generators in wind turbines Child labour Gearbox in wind turbines Poor working conditions Lithium-ion batteries Poor governance, corruption or political instability Linked to countries with very poor governance Reserves in fragile states • High political risk Toxicity Hard metal lung disease • Asthma Can be fatal

Table 2: Risks associated with solar and wind technology minerals (Huber & Steininger, 2022)

MINERAL	APPLICATION IN SOLAR AND WIND ENERGY	RISKS REPORTED
LITHIUM	Wind turbinesLithium-ion batteries	 Human rights violations Linked to violence Poor governance, corruption or political stability Linked to corruption Failing governance Revenue used for personal enrichment Reserves in fragile states Toxicity Slurred speech Confusion Can be fatal

Environmental risks

One of the environmental effects of the growing adoption of alternative energy technologies is the increasing pressure put on mineral resources. Mineral demand, and therefore extraction, is expected to rise significantly. The production of several minerals, such as graphite, lithium, nickel, cobalt, and manganese, which are essential for solar and wind technologies, could increase by nearly 500 per cent by 2050. (Hund et al., 2020). IRENA (2021) lists cobalt, copper, nickel, lithium and rare earth metals (notably neodymium and dysprosium) as critical materials for the development of solar and wind technologies. A few studies also list aluminium, chromium, gallium, germanium, graphite, indium, iron and lead as critical materials, but most focus has been on the abovementioned materials.

The percentage of overall demand increased dramatically over the following two decades, reaching over 40 per cent for copper and rare earth elements, 60-70 per cent for nickel and cobalt and almost 90 per cent for lithium under a scenario that achieves the goals of the Paris Agreement. An onshore wind farm consumes nine times more mineral resources than a gas-fired power station (IEA, 2022).

Mineral resource extraction and processing for solar and wind technologies can create several environmental and social risks that, if improperly handled, can disrupt supply and negatively impact local habitat, ecosystems and populations. Several mining regions that provide the majority of raw materials required for the production of solar and wind energy are particularly susceptible to the effects of climate change. For example, 50 per cent of copper and lithium production is concentrated in areas such as Australia, Chile and China, which are subject to high water stress (IEA, 2022). The extraction of these materials requires significant quantities of pure water, the supply of which is becoming increasingly variable and vulnerable due to periods of extreme heat and droughts caused by climate change (ibid.).

Through direct processes (such as mineral extraction) and indirect ones (such as industries supporting mining operations and external stakeholders, including surrounding farmers, who gain access to biodiversityrich areas as a result of mining), mining has an impact on biodiversity at multiple spatial scales (site, landscape, regional and global) (Sonter et al., 2018). Currently, 8 per cent of the global mining areas overlap with protected areas, 16 per cent with remaining wilderness regions and 7 per cent with key biodiversity areas (Sonter et al., 2020). Further overlap between these areas and mining is expected with the anticipated increased demand for solar and wind energy technologies and infrastructure.

Mining for solar and wind technologies can cause land use risks in natural habitats. One of the most documented risks is in forests. For example, land use change at mine sites, as well as downstream pollution and environmental harm, are some of mining's direct effects on forests. The construction of road, rail, and port infrastructure for the transportation and export of minerals, as well as the consequences associated with the influx of labour and other economic activity, like logging, can all have indirect and cumulative effects (Bradley, 2020). The World Bank's research found 3,300 large-scale mining operations in forests, 1,500 of which are operational and 1,800 of which are inactive or under construction. Signs of forest loss and degradation were found within 50 km, and in some cases within up to 100 km of the radius of the majority of the mines. According to the findings, mining may already impact up to one-third of the world's forests (Hund et al., 2020).

Rare-earth metals such as neodymium and dysprosium are used in the permanent magnets of some directdrive wind turbines. Recent years have seen increasing concerns over the limited supply of rare-earth elements and the environmental harm caused by their mining and processing (UNEP, 2016). Due to their unique extraction and metallurgical processes, the increasing mining of rareearth elements has significantly harmed nearby natural habitats. Acidification of the nearby soil and groundwater can result from mining effluent used in rare earth production (Bai et al., 2022) and can cause a decrease in soil nutrient availability, consequently affecting the soil's biological properties and plant performance (Yadav et al., 2020). The inferior quality of potable water resulting from acidification can deteriorate human health and affect the sustainable development of society (Karunanidhi et al., 2021). Heavy metal pollution and radioactive elements can result from mining solid waste, leading to food chain contamination, decreased soil fertility and health impacts, including hereditary diseases (Liu et al., 2022; Su et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2020).

With depleting reserves of rare-earth minerals and 90 per cent of their production dependent on China's mines, the concept of deep-sea mining has been gathering momentum (Moss, 2018). Deep-sea mining activities may result in the loss of species and long-term changes to the way marine communities behave (Van Dover, 2014). It is argued that plumes, which are clouds of silt that mining equipment scatters over the surrounding environment, might have a negative impact on marine life. Risers, which are used to transport hundreds of tonnes of ore up to surface boats, can discharge particles higher in the water column that might harm life in shallower seas and distribute over a wider region (Moss, 2018). Deepsea mining can also potentially interrupt processes vital to the regulation of our climate, disrupting the delicate ecological balance of methane-rich hydrothermal vent zones, which support complex and diverse ocean ecosystems (Moss, 2018; Oregon State University, 2016).

APPENDIX 3: MANUFACTURING AND CONSTRUCTION RISKS

Manufacturing and construction of solar and wind technologies can create environmental and social risks that, if improperly handled, can disrupt supply and negatively impact local habitat, ecosystems and populations. For example, chemicals used to manufacture solar photovoltaic (PV) equipment can lead to a decrease in soil fertility and major health problems (Qi & Zhang, 2017). Construction noise and sedimentation impacting animal and plant growth can occur during the construction phase of deep water floating offshore wind turbines (Ferraz de Paula & Carmo, 2022).

Solar energy

The sizeable amount of land needed to construct a utility-scale solar power installation can interfere with the existing land uses. The clearing and grading of large tracts of land can result in soil compaction, erosion, and a change in drainage systems (Tajne, 2015). Numerous new solar power plants are being constructed on agricultural land, which destroys livelihoods and lowers local food production. As happened in Connecticut, where farmers who leased property found themselves in competition with clean energy, changes in land usage can cause conflicts in rural communities (Smith, 2018; Spiegel, 2017).

In addition, chemicals are used in the manufacturing of crystalline silicon solar cells for solar PV equipment, resulting in the generation of alkaline and organic effluent that contains fluorine and chromium (Qi & Zhang, 2017). If wastewater containing chromium is used to irrigate crops, it could result in decreased crop output and soil hardening (Gupta et al., 2010). Accumulation of chromium in the food chain can cause diseases like rhinitis, respiratory conditions, digestive system issues, and internal organ and skin corrosion (Smith, 2010). Chromium water consumption over an extended period of time can result in skin cancer. Long-term exposure to excessive fluoride levels results in major health problems, such as the development of tumours, dental fluorosis, osteoporosis, bone sclerosis and skeletal fluorosis (Guth et al., 2020).

Solar projects can cause a significant loss of natural habitat within the footprint area when combined with related infrastructure like access roads and powerlines. In order to build PV solar plants and the associated infrastructure, significant tracts of land must often be cleared of vegetation and surface graded. This may result in habitat loss, degradation and fragmentation, reducing the richness and density of species (Bennun et al., 2021; Visser et al., 2019). According to a study by Rehbein et al. (2020), only 17.4 per cent of large-scale (>10 MW) renewable energy installations, including hydropower, solar (PV), and wind, are located outside of significant conservation areas, such as key biodiversity areas (KBAs). Over 550 wind power initiatives and 200 solar (PV) developments, representing 9 per cent and 7 per cent of the total projects, respectively, are now operating within KBAs. Within KBAs, a further 162 wind and 152 solar projects are now in development. Given the importance of Southeast Asia's biodiversity to the world, the spread of renewable energy into new areas is a cause for concern.

Wind energy

Ferraz de Paula & Carmo (2022) list a range of environmental risks during the construction phase of deep water floating offshore wind turbines, notably:

- Sedimentation: Construction and decommissioning activities can result in particle suspension and dispersion, which in turn can lead to sedimentation, which can kill larvae and reduce coral fertilisation (Draget, 2014). Additionally, sedimentation can clog fish gills, causing respiratory issues and impaired feeding.
- *Construction noise:* Noise can alter the behaviour of dolphins, porpoises and seals. These animals frequently avoid the region under construction, which forces them to alter their habitat use.

The key issues in many wind farm construction projects concern acoustic disturbance and increased sediment dispersal linked to the engineering works required to anchor the turbines to the seabed. Offshore wind farms are usually built on monopiles or jacketed foundations, and the associated pile driving may generate appreciable levels of underwater noise, which can hurt or kill fish and other marine life (Henderson, 2019). A study conducted by da Silva & Galvão (2022) to identify the sustainability challenges of onshore wind power generation in Northeast Brazil found several socio-ecological issues such as deforestation for the construction of wind farms, expropriation of subsistence arable land, generation of turbine noise, displacement of indigenous communities and extinction of cultural traditions.

APPENDIX 4: OPERATION RISKS

The operational phase poses risks such as obstacles to bird migration patterns, collision, habitat loss and battery system explosions (Ferraz de Paula & Carmo, 2022; Smallwood, 2007; Laranjeiro et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2020). Some of the materials contained in solar panels and turbine blades are hazardous, are not decomposed or recycled easily and could have negative impacts on the water, soil, air and human health during the end-of-life phase (Lewis Roca, 2021; Ni et al., 2014).

Solar energy

Utility-scale solar projects can have major impacts on species and habitats. Biodiversity impacts can present risks to project developers, leading to project delays, disrupting project financing and threatening project sustainability credentials. Solar energy systems (including PV solar) have reported to have caused habitat loss, fragmentation and the degradation of surrounding habitats (The Biodiversity Consultancy, 2020).

Among solar energy systems, PV panel collectors such as heliostats could present a collision risk to bird and bats species, especially if the surfaces are vertically oriented and/or reflecting light (Bennun et al., 2021). According to research tracking fatalities over 13 years at 10 PV facilities in California and Nevada, on average 2.49 birds per MmW/year were expected to die due to collisions with equipment (Kosciuch et al., 2020).

Extrapolating from the Manufacturing and Construction section, meeting net-zero goals globally could require ~135 million acres (55 million ha) of land for solar energy production by 2050, assuming a global increase in development to about 18 TW installed capacity (IEA, 2022) and solar energy land use of 7.5 ac/MW (3.0 ha/ MW) (Heath et al., 2022). Some estimates are even higher – 22 TW installed capacity by 2050, or about 165 million acres (67 million ha) (Fischer et al., 2022). The expansion of utility-scale solar development globally has increased the pressure on land resources for energy generation and other land uses (e.g., agriculture). Therefore, sustained development of solar energy will depend on finding renewable energy solutions that synergise the co-benefits of energy production, ecosystem services and other land uses. To address this growing issue, greater emphasis has been placed on solar development land-sharing strategies, such as agrivoltaics, that maximise the outputs of solar energy generation and multiple ecosystem services.

Wind energy

Some valid concerns raised with respect to wind turbines are the high noise levels produced by the rotor blades, visual impacts and deaths of birds and bats by the rotor blades. Moreover, it also reported that people who either live or work in close proximity to wind turbines experience or suffer from low quality of life, stress, hearing and sleep disturbance, annoyance and other effects. The noise produced by operational onshore wind turbines and their pictorial impact can be a key exasperation in human lives (Nazir et al., 2019).

Wind energy can also have significant impacts on wildlife. The main effects of wind energy on wildlife are collision, displacement and habitat changes. The majority of academic studies indicate that bats and birds are most vulnerable to the effects of wind turbines (Laranjeiro et al., 2018).

The combined impacts of magnetic influences (electromagnetic fields created by the electric cables), high levels of construction and operational noise and the height of towers, mean that wind farms can act as obstacles to bird migration patterns (Ferraz de Paula & Carmo, 2022). Additionally, collisions with wind farms, particularly at night, when animals have impaired vision, can lead to a high mortality rate for some species (Smallwood, 2007; Martin & Banks, 2023). In addition, these electromagnetic fields can have detrimental effects on crustaceans' sensitivity to electromagnetic fields and their ability to detect food, as well as generate needless avoidance or attraction reactions in vertebrate species that use geomagnetic navigation (Ferraz de Paula & Carmo, 2022).

A high-risk area during operation is created by the thermal

and toxicological effects of battery system explosions, which release toxic gases such as CO, HF, SO₂, NO₂, NO, and HCI. These gases can cause severe health conditions, including respiratory diseases, fainting, dizziness and even cancer (Peng et al., 2020).

A well-documented risk is the impact of the construction and operation of wind turbines on fishing communities. Offshore wind plants have caused a diverse set of changes in the seafloor ecosystem. Such ecological impacts can alter biodiversity and species richness in the ocean. The major socio-economic effects for fisheries are the loss of fishing grounds, leading to effects on catch volume, gear conflicts (e.g., bottom trawl cannot be operated within offshore wind farms) and changes in travel time from the harbour to fishing grounds (Hoey et al., 2021). In Taiwan, where despite offshore wind power is an emerging favourable renewable energy, fishers have protested. Offshore development may affect fish resources, causing loss of catch and fishing income (Tseng & Kao, 2022). One of the major issues of concern is the impact of construction noise, which can permanently displace fish species from their breeding and feeding grounds (Methratta & Dardick, 2019). Such farms may result in disturbance to habitat on the sea floor from turbine construction, cable placement and barge anchorage (Tseng & Kao, 2022).

APPENDIX 5: END-OF-LIFE RISKS

The end of life of solar and wind technologies can create several environmental and social risks that, if improperly handled, can disrupt supply and negatively impact local habitat, ecosystems and populations.

Several studies have pointed out the potential impacts of decommissioning a wind or solar farm. The impacts are more profound in offshore windfarms than onshore windfarms and solar farms, which have greater ecological damage and noise impact. Even in the case of impacts on marine mammals, subtidal benthos, commercial fisheries, landscape and visual, offshore wind farms have a far greater impact. The possible decommissioning impacts of offshore wind farms associated with physical processes are changes to sediment movements, mobilisation of contaminants, fluidisation of seabed and smothering of habitats and increased turbidity (Hall et al., 2020). Offshore windfarms can also have impacts on benthic ecology in the form of habitat loss, the impact of noise on fish and marine mammals (the removal of structures and associated habitats and of areas for foraging, and the loss of prey species), and disturbance and displacement of birds, similar to the risks mentioned in the construction and operational stages of offshore windfarms (ibid).

Similarly, decommissioning of photovoltaic farms has been found to have negative impacts on the environment in the form of land use competition (mostly for agricultural land), degradation of vegetation, biodiversity loss, water pollution, soil contamination, thermal and air pollution and habitat fragmentation (Vrînceanu et al., 2019).

Given that an average solar panel has a lifetime of 30 years, large amounts of annual waste are anticipated by the early 2030s. These are equivalent to 4 per cent of installed PV panels in that year, with waste amounts by the 2050s (5.5-6 million tonnes) almost matching the mass contained in new installations (6.7 million tonnes) (IRENA, 2016). Finding a long-term solution for solar panels and turbine blades that have reached their end of life is one of the most urgent problems the renewable sector is facing. Some materials used in solar and wind energy are hazardous, do not decompose, or cannot be recycled. For instance, conventional solar panels include heavy metals and harmful chemicals such as polyvinyl fluoride, cadmium telluride, copper indium selenide, silicon tetrachloride, cadmium gallium (di)selenide and copper indium gallium (di)selenide (Lewis Roca, 2021) that are difficult to dispose of. Materials including bisphenol A, resin, and fibreglass that do not quickly disintegrate or recycle—if at all—are also found in wind turbines and blades (ibid).

A solar component that has come to its end of life roughly 20 years for PV equipment—becomes solid waste (Qi & Zhang, 2017). Several components may be regarded as hazardous solid waste and may be harmful to the environment if disposed of improperly. Silicon, lead, cadmium, phosphorus and flame retardants will have a negative impact on water, soil, air, and human health if they are not properly treated or recycled (Ni et al., 2014). For instance, the Agbogbloshie dump in Ghana's capital Accra has become one of the world's largest destinations for used electronic goods. Due to the world's increasing demand for electronic equipment, the dump is only getting bigger. Respiratory problems, chronic nausea and debilitating headaches are common health impacts brought on by the hazardous working environment and toxic air pollution resulting from burning the waste (Yeung, 2019). The amount of worn-out solar panel material, much of it non-recyclable, together with more than 3 million tonnes per year of non-recyclable polymers from wornout wind turbine blades will make up double the tonnage of all existing global plastic trash by 2050, according to current plans (Mills, 2020).

APPENDIX 6: GUIDANCE FOR SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Useful resources

Due diligence

- Due Diligence Guidance for responsible supply chains of minerals from conflict-affected and high-risk areas (OECD, 2016)
- Due Diligence Guidance for Meaningful Stakeholder Engagement in the Extractive Sector (OECD, 2017)
- Cobalt Refiner Supply Chain Due Diligence Standard (RCI & RMI, 2022)
- Joint Due Diligence Standard for Copper, Lead, Molybdenum, Nickel and Zinc (The Copper Mark, 2022)
- Responsible Minerals Assurance Process: Global Responsible Sourcing Due Diligence Standard for Mineral Supply Chains All Minerals (RMI, 2022)
- IRMA Standard for Responsible Mining IRMA-STD-001 (IRMA, 2018)
- OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Business Conduct (OECD, 2018)
- Responsible business conduct for institutional investors: Key considerations for due diligence under the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (OECD, 2017)
- Human rights due diligence guidance (lpieca, 2021)

The following resources may also be useful for companies who wish to manage their supply chains within the solar and wind industry:

 The Due Diligence for Meaningful Stakeholder Engagement in the Extractive Sector (OECD, 2017) covers topics such as stakeholder engagement, responsible business conduct and due diligence framework with a focus on the extractive sector.

- OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Business Conduct (OECD, 2018) helps businesses (enterprises) to understand and implement due diligence for Responsible Business Conduct (RBC) as foreseen in the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (MNEs) (due diligence).
- Responsible business conduct for institutional investors: Key considerations for due diligence under the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (OECD, 2017) provides a resource for institutional investors and their stakeholders to help investors implement the recommendations of the OECD Guidelines along the investment value chain.
- Responsible Minerals Assurance Process: Environmental, Social & Governance (ESG Standard) for Mineral Supply Chains (RMI, 2021) issues an ESG Standard that sets forth criteria for determining conformance with the RMI program requirements for environmental, social, health & safety, and governance at mineral processing companies.
- Responsible Minerals Assurance Process: Global Responsible Sourcing Due Diligence Standard for Mineral Supply Chains all Minerals (RMI, 2022) sets forth the criteria for determining conformance with RMI program requirements for responsible minerals supply chain due diligence applicable to all minerals and metal products.

Responsible sourcing

- Meeting the milestones in the responsible sourcing roadmap: Good Practice guidelines for renewable energy sector (Farooki et al., 2021)
- Cobalt Refiner Supply Chain Due Diligence Standard (RCI & RMI, 2022)
- Joint Due Diligence Standard for Copper, Lead, Molybdenum, Nickel and Zinc (The Copper Mark, 2022)
- Responsible Minerals Assurance Process: Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Standard for Mineral Supply Chains (RMI, 2021)
- Responsible Minerals Assurance Process: Global Responsible Sourcing Due Diligence Standard for Mineral Supply Chains All Minerals (RMI, 2022)
- Towards Sustainable Mining (TSM) Protocols (TSM Initiative, 2018)

Recycling

- End-of-life management: Solar Photovoltaic Panels (IRENA & IEA, 2016)
- Guidelines for assessing end-of-life management options for renewable and battery energy storage technologies (EPRI, 2021)
- Accelerating wind turbine blade circularity (Wind Europe et al., 2020)
- Solar Photovoltaic Module Recycling: A Survey of US Policies and Initiatives (NREL, 2021a)
- A Circular Economy for Solar Photovoltaic System Materials: Drivers, Barriers, Enablers, and US Policy Considerations (NREL, 2021b)
- Best practices at the End of the Photovoltaic System Performance Period (NREL, 2021c)

MEETING THE MILESTONES IN THE RESPONSIBLE SOURCING ROADMAP: GOOD PRACTICE GUIDELINES FOR THE RENEWABLE ENERGY SECTOR

Developer	European Union (EU) (Farooki et al., 2021)
Year published	2021
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Human rights, biodiversity
Description	 The EU's guidelines focus on good practices for the responsible sourcing of minerals for renewable energy (Farooki et al., 2021). The document outlines key practices for the renewable energy sector to promote peer learning and increase the uptake of responsible sourcing practices. Four good practice recommendations are detailed in the document along with case studies that demonstrate their application. The first and fourth good practice principles are especially pertinent to supply chain management: Coherent sustainability approach for an extractive company: using the case of Antofagasta Minerals (Chile) mining company, it outlines the steps in creating such a strategy, from drafting a vision to creating the appropriate management structure and tools to support its sustainable implementation. Full LCA business model: it presents considerations for the LCA system design and decommissioning cost of solar panel farms. Shared supplier assessment scheme and database: describes an example from the chemical sector and the efficiency gained from the economies of scale. The case presentations consider the crucial steps at the beginning, particularly the communication and engagement with suppliers. Consultative approach for designing a national mining policy: the main aspects of this policy comprise communicating and engaging with stakeholders to ensure participation, particularly from under-represented communities.
URL	https://re-sourcing.eu/content/uploads/2022/11/d5.2_res_guidance-document_final.pdf

DUE DILIGENCE GUIDANCE FOR RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAINS OF MINERALS FROM CONFLICT-AFFECTED AND HIGH-RISK AREAS

Developer	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)
Year published	2016
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Human rights

Description	OECD's guidance is a cooperative, multi-stakeholder initiative with government support that focuses on ethical supply chain management of minerals from conflict zones. Its goal is to support businesses in upholding human rights and avoiding conflict through their mineral procurement methods.
	With a view to enabling nations to profit from their mineral resources and preventing the extraction and trade of minerals from becoming a source of conflict, human rights abuses, and insecurity, the guidance also aims to cultivate transparent mineral supply chains and sustainable corporate engagement in the mineral sector.
	Like the RMI report, although the guidance is not specifically based on the supply chains of the renewable energy sector, the guidance is relevant owing to the renewable energy sector's high dependence on raw materials which are sourced from places subject to social and environmental risks.
URL	https://www.oecd.org/corporate/mne/mining.htm

DUE DILIGENCE GUIDANCE FOR MEANINGFUL STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT IN THE EXTRACTIVE SECTOR

Developer	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)
Year published	2017a
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Stakeholder Engagement, Responsible Business Conduct
Description	 The aim of this document is to offer practical guidance for the extractive sector in line with the provisions of the OECD Guidelines on due diligence for stakeholder engagement. Extractive sector enterprises are considered to include enterprises conducting exploration, development, extraction, processing, transport, and/or storage of oil, gas and minerals. The guidance provides a due diligence framework for enterprises operating in the extractive sector to identify and manage risks with regard to stakeholder engagement activities to ensure they play a role in avoiding and addressing adverse impacts as defined in the OECD Guidelines. This Guidance is divided into five sections including: A due diligence framework for meaningful stakeholder engagement; Recommendations for corporate planning or to upper management on the strategic positioning of stakeholder engagement; An annex including a monitoring and evaluation framework for overseeing stakeholder engagement activities; Four thematic annexes including thematic guidance on engaging with indigenous peoples, women, workers and artisanal and small-scale miners.
URL	https://www.oecd.org/publications/oecd-due-diligence-guidance-for-meaningful-stakeholder- engagement-in-the-extractive-sector-9789264252462-en.htm

COBALT REFINER SUPPLY CHAIN DUE DILIGENCE STANDARD

Developer	Responsible Cobalt Initiative (RCI), Responsible Minerals Initiative (RMI)
Year published	2022
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Responsible Sourcing, Risks associated with Cobalt (Human Rights, Armed Conflicts, Political Instability, Corruption, Insurgencies)
Description	 This Standard encourages companies to source responsibly from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas (CAHRA), and where relevant, from artisanal and small-scale mineral producers. Procurement responsibilities include due diligence and risk management but may further include engagement with stakeholders in the supply chain to drive positive impact for the local communities that are beyond the actions required under this Standard. Companies are encouraged to engage with their supply chain actors to identify, assess and mitigate risks associated with CAHRAs. The Standard follows the five-step framework for risk-based due diligence from the Chinese Due Diligence Guidelines for Minerals Supply Chains (Chinese Guidelines) and the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Mineral Supply Chains from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas, Edition 3 (OECD Guidance). This Standard includes additional requirements related to effective engagement with local communities (Step 6: Community Participation) for companies located in CAHRAs. This Standard also includes recommendations for managing additional Environmental, Social and Governance issues, beyond the OECD Guidance. Step 1: Establish Strong Company Management Systems Step 2: Identify and Assess Risks in the Supply Chain Step 3: Design and Implement a Strategy to Respond to Identified Risks
	 Step 4: Independent Third-Party Assessment of Company Due Diligence Practices Step 5: Report Annually on Supply Chain Due Diligence Step 6: Community Participation
URL	https://www.responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/media/docs/standards/Cobalt%20Refiner%20 Supply%20Chain%20Due%20Diligence%20Standard%20(Version%202.0)_EN.pdf

JOINT DUE DILIGENCE STANDARD FOR COPPER, LEAD, MOLYBDENUM, NICKEL AND ZINC

Developer	The Copper Mark
Year published	2022
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Social Risks

Description	The Standard takes into account the risk profile of copper, lead, molybdenum, nickel and zinc (the principal covered metals) supply chains and is designed to enable effective due diligence for producers and/or traders of these metals. It intends to build on existing standards and looks to provide flexibility for multi-metal producers to include materials intended for the production of metal products other than principal covered metals at their site(s) as needed. The Standard was developed to:
	 Enable the implementation of the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas (OECD Guidance) for
	producers and/or traders of copper, lead, molybdenum, nickel and zinc.
	2. Enable compliance with market entry requirements, specifically the responsible sourcing policy requirement for Brand Compliance, Track A, and Recognised Alignment-Assessed Standard Track, defined by the London Metal Exchange (LME) for LME Brands.
	3. Enable conformance with criterion 31: Responsible Supply Chains, <i>The Copper Mark Criteria</i> . The Copper Mark uses the criteria defined by the Risk Readiness Assessment (RRA) developed and maintained by the RMI.
	4. Encourage companies to source responsibly from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas (CAHRA) and to not categorically exclude suppliers.
	5. Complement other third-Party assurance programmes and allow for the recognition of other standards that have been found to be OECD-aligned.
	6. Provide flexibility for multi-metal producers to include materials intended for the production of metal products other than of principal covered metals at their site(s) (Annex I: Guidance on Companies Producing Multiple Metals available on Page 47 of the document)
URL	https://coppermark.org/standards/due-diligence/

.....

MINING LOCAL PROCUREMENT REPORTING MECHANISM

Developer	Deutsche Gasellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmBH, Mining Shared Value – an initiative of Einginners Without Borders Canada
Year published	2017
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Corruption, Child Labour, Forced Labour, Human Rights Abuses
Description	The Mining Local Procurement Reporting Mechanism (LPRM) is a set of disclosures on local procurement that are to be reported by organisations who report on mine sites. The LPRM addresses the gaps in current reporting frameworks and sustainability systems, and to help standardise the way the sector and host countries talk about these issues. It facilitates comprehensive reporting on local procurement spending at the site level, as well as practical details on mining company procurement processes and programmes that support better-informed stakeholders.

	 The objectives of increasing and standardising the way in which the mining industry reports on local procurement are to: Improve internal management in mining companies to create more benefits for host countries and to strengthen their social licence to operate. Empower suppliers, host governments, and other stakeholders with practical information that will help them collaborate with mine sites. Increase transparency in the procurement process to deter problematic practices, such as corruption.
URL	https://miningsharedvalue.org/mininglprm#:~:text=The%20Mining%20Local%20 Procurement%20Reporting%20Mechanism%20(LPRM)%20is%20a%20set,and%20talk%20 about%20local%20procurement.

.....

PRACTICAL ACTIONS FOR COMPANIES TO IDENTIFY AND ADDRESS THE WORST FORMS OF CHILD LABOUR IN MINERAL SUPPLY CHAINS

Developer	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)
Year published	2017b
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Child Labour
Description	This report is for use by companies to help them identify, mitigate and account for the risks of child labour in their mineral supply chains. It has been developed to build on the due diligence framework of the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Areas. The Practical Actions do not represent new or additional recommendations from the OECD but aim to explain in simple terms the recommendations set out in the OECD Due Diligence Guidance to identify, assess and address the risks of the worst forms of child labour in the minerals supply chain. Companies should refer to the full text of the OECD Due Diligence for detailed due diligence recommendations with regards to sourcing minerals from conflict-affected and high-risk areas.
URL	https://mneguidelines.oecd.org/Practical-actions-for-worst-forms-of-child-labour-mining- sector.pdf

RESPONSIBLE MINERALS ASSURANCE PROCESS: ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL & GOVERNANCE (ESG) STANDARD FOR MINERAL SUPPLY CHAINS

Developer	Responsible Minerals Initiative (RMI)
Year published	2021
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	ESG Standard
Description	The Responsible Minerals Initiative (RMI) encourages the responsible sourcing of minerals globally. To incentivize and improve on-site practices in the mineral value chain, the RMI issues this voluntary Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) standard for mineral supply chains. This standard sets forth the criteria for determining conformance with the RMI program requirements for environmental, social, health & safety, and governance at mineral processing companies. The standard was benchmarked against and is consistent with the RMI's Risk Readiness Assessment and the RBA's Validated Assessment Process (VAP), and nineteen other existing international credible ESG standards (twelve of which are specific to and/or sponsored by metals processing industries).
URL	https://www.responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/media/docs/standards/RMI_RMAP%20ESG%20 Standard%20for%20Mineral%20Supply%20Chains_June32021_FINAL.pdf

RESPONSIBLE MINERALS ASSURANCE PROCESS: TIN AND TANTALUM STANDARD

Developer	Responsible Minerals Initiative (RMI)
Year published	2018
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Conflict, Human rights abuses, insecurity
Description	The Responsible Minerals Assurance Process (formerly the Conflict Free Smelter Program (CFSP)) was established to cultivate transparent mineral supply chains and sustainable corporate engagement in the mineral sector with a view to prevent the extraction and trade of minerals from becoming a source of conflict, human rights abuses, and insecurity. This standard was developed as a specific, practical framework to consistently audit the operations and practices of tin and tantalum smelters, the point at which mineral is converted into a generic metallic powder, product or compound. It follows guidance provided by the final report of the UN Group of Experts to the Security Council on 15th November 2010, and by the Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas Third Edition (OECD Guidance)
URL	https://www.responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/media/docs/standards/Responsible%20 Minerals%20Assurance%20Process_Standard_SnTa_EN.pdf

RESPONSIBLE MINERALS ASSURANCE PROCESS: GLOBAL RESPONSIBLE SOURCING DUE DILIGENCE STANDARD FOR MINERAL SUPPLY CHAINS ALL MINERALS

Developer	Responsible Minerals Initiative (RMI)
Year published	2022
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Due Diligence
Description	The RMI encourages the responsible sourcing of minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas (CAHRAs), and, where relevant, artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM) producers. This document sets forth the criteria for determining conformance with RMI program requirements for responsible minerals supply chain due diligence applicable to all minerals and metal products as specified in Chapter II of this document. The criteria in this document establish operational and procedural standards for companies. The standard is used by an RMI-approved audit firm and their approved individual auditors to assess whether a company has implemented OECD aligned supply chain due diligence adapted to the circumstances and type of its operations, reflecting its position in the supply chain.
URL	https://www.responsiblemineralsinitiative.org/media/docs/standards/ ResponsibleMineralsAssuranceProcess_Standard_AllMinerals_EN_121422.pdf

TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE MINING (TSM) PROTOCOLS

Developer	TSM Initiative
Year published	2018
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Biodiversity risks, Climate Change, Child Labour, Forced Labour, Water Risks etc.
Description	TSM is implemented through a suite of protocols that mining companies measure and publicly report their performance against in annual TSM Progress Reports. Each protocol is made up of a set of indicators that are designed to measure the quality and comprehensiveness of facility-level management systems and are intended to provide the public with an overview of the industry's performance in key environmental and social areas. Each participating organisation has the ability to make minor adjustments to suit the particular needs of their jurisdiction. List of protocols: Biodiversity Conservation Management
	Climate ChangeCrisis Management and Communications Planning

	 Exploration Indigenous and Community Relationships Mine Closure Preventing Child and Forced Labour Safety and health Tailings Management Water Stewardship The TSM Responsible sourcing Supplement was developed to support companies that are implementing the TSM standard alongside the following additional standards: International Council on Mining and Metals' (ICMM) Mining Principles (MPs) World Gold Council (WGC) Responsible Gold Mining Principles (RGMPs) Responsible Minerals Initiative (RMI) Risk Readiness Assessment (RRA) including the International Copper Alliance (ICA) Copper Mark (CM)
URL	https://tsminitiative.com/protocols-frameworks#responsible-sourcing-alignment-supplement

.....

Developer	Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
Year published	2016
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Child Labour
Description	 GRI 408: Child Labour 2016 contains disclosures for organisations to report information about their impacts related to child labour, and how they manage these impacts. The Standard is structured as follows: Section 1 contains a requirement, which provides information about how the organisation managed its impacts related to child labour. Section 2 contains one disclosure, which provides information about the organisation's impacts related to child labour. This Standard addresses the topic of child labour. Due diligence is expected of an organisation in order to prevent the use of child labour in its activities. It is also expected to avoid contributing to, or becoming complicit in, the use of child labour through its relationships with others (e.g., suppliers, and clients). These concepts are covered in key instruments of the ILO, the OECD, and the UN. The Standard is part of the GRI Sustainability Reporting Standards (GRI Standards). The GRI Standards enable an organisation to report information about its most significant impacts on the economy, environment and people, including impacts on their human rights, and how it manages these impacts.
URL	https://globalreporting.org/pdf.ashx?id=12622&page=1

GRI 408: CHILD LABOUR 2016

GRI 409: FORCED OR COMPULSORY LABOUR 2016

Developer	Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
Year published	2016
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Forced Labour
Description	 GRI 409: Forced or Compulsory Labour 2016 contains disclosures for organisations to report about their impacts related to forced or compulsory labour, and how they manage these impacts. The Standard is structured as follows: Section 1 contains a requirement, which provides information about how the organisation manages its impacts related to forced or compulsory labour. Section 2 contains one disclosure, which provides information about the organisation's impacts related to forced or compulsory labour. This Standard addresses the topic of forced or compulsory labour. Due diligence is expected of an organisation in order to prevent the use of child labour in its activities. It is also expected to avoid contributing to, or becoming complicit in, the use of child labour through its relationships with others (e.g., suppliers, and clients). These concepts are covered in key instruments of the ILO, the OECD, and the UN.
	• The Standard is part of the GRI Sustainability Reporting Standards (GRI Standards). The GRI Standards enable an organisation to report information about its most significant impacts on the economy, environment, and people, including impacts on their human rights, and how it manages these impacts.
URL	https://globalreporting.org/pdf.ashx?id=12633&page=8

.....

IRMA STANDARD FOR RESPONSIBLE MINING IRMA-STD-001

Developer	Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance (IRMA)
Year published	2018
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Range of social and environmental risks as listed below
Description	The IRMA Standard for Responsible Mining (the IRMA Standard) is designed to support the achievement of four overarching principles. Additionally, each chapter of the IRMA Standard has an objective that meets one or more of these principles.

	 Principle 1 – Business Integrity Chapter 1.1 – Legal Compliance Chapter 1.2 – Community and Stakeholder Engagement Chapter 1.3 – Human Rights Due Diligence Chapter 1.4 - Complaints and Grievance Mechanism and Access to Remedy Chapter 1.5 – Revenue and Payment Transparency Principle 2 – Planning and Managing Chapter 2.1 – Environmental and Social Impact Assessment and Management Chapter 2.2 – Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) Chapter 2.4 – Resettlement Chapter 2.5 – Emergency Preparedness and Response Chapter 2.6 – Planning and Financing Reclamation and Closure Principle 3 – Social Responsibility Chapter 3.1 – Fair Labour and Terms of Work Chapter 3.2 – Occupational health and Safety Chapter 3.3 – Community Health and Safety Chapter 3.4 – Mining and Conflict-Affected or High-Risk Areas Chapter 3.5 – Security Arrangements Chapter 3.7 – Cultural Heritage Principle 4 – Environmental Responsibility Chapter 3.7 – Cultural Heritage Principle 4 – Environmental Responsibility Chapter 4.1 – Waste and Materials Management Chapter 4.2 – Water Management Chapter 4.3 – Air Quality Chapter 4.3 – Air Quality Chapter 4.4 – Noise and Vibration Chapter 4.5 – Greenhouse Gas Emissions Chapter 4.6 – Biodiversity, Ecosystem Services and Protected Areas Chapter 4.8 – Mercury Management
URL	https://responsiblemining.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/IRMA_STANDARD_v.1.0_ FINAL_2018-1.pdf

.....

ICMM MINING PRINCIPLES

Developer	International Council on Mining and Metals
Year published	2022
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing
Risks addressed	Range of social and environmental risks as listed below

Description	ICMM's Mining Principles respond to evolving societal expectations of the mining and metals industry. ICMM's Mining Principles define the good practice environmental, social
	and governance requirements of company members through a comprehensive set of 39 Performance Expectations and eight related position statements on a number of critical industry challenges. Implementation of the Ming Principles will support progress towards the global targets of the UN Sustainable Development Goals and the Paris Agreement on climate change. Incorporating robust site-level validation of performance expectations and credible assurance of corporate sustainability reports, ICMM's Mining Principles seek to maximise the industry's benefits to host communities, while minimising negative impacts to effectively manage issues of concern to society.
	 Performance Expectations: Defining good practice environmental, social and governance requirements for the mining and metals industry: 1. Ethical Business 2. Decision-Making 3. Human Rights 4. Risk Management 5. Health and Safety 6. Environmental Performance 7. Conservation of Biodiversity 8. Responsible Production 9. Social Performance 10.Stakeholder Engagement
URL	https://www.icmm.com/website/publications/pdfs/mining-principles/mining-principles. pdf?cb=10319

SOLAR INDUSTRY COMMITMENT TO ENVIRONMENTAL & SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Developer	Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA)
Year published	2021
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Sourcing, construction, operation
Risks addressed	Human rights (forced labour), environment, health
Description	The Solar commitment was launched to help tackle the associated social and environmental risks of the solar energy industry. Created through a multi-stakeholder approach, it is an industry code of conduct that establishes expectations and common practices for matters relating to management systems for the environment, health and safety. Its guiding principles include increased credibility, increased effectiveness and innovation, increased industry impact, proven leadership in sustainability and a persistent commitment to advancing corporate social responsibility (SEIA, 2021a).

Based on the commitment, the US government has highlighted forced labour as a risk for the

	solar supply chain. To address this concern and build upon the industry's current corporate social responsibility platform, <i>a Solar supply chain traceability protocol 1.0</i> has also been developed. The protocol is a collection of suggested policies and practises created to identify the origin of a product's raw materials and track their flow along the supply chain (SEIA, 2021b).
URL	https://www.seia.org/sites/default/files/2021-04/SEIA-Solar-Commitment-Participant- Handbook-2021.pdf https://www.seia.org/sites/default/files/2021-04/SEIA-Supply-Chain-Traceability-Protocol- v1.0-April2021.pdf

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL GOOD PRACTICE FOR THE ENERGY TRANSITION: A COMPENDIUM OF IPIECA GOOD PRACTICES

Developer	lpieca
Year published	2023
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Manufacturing, construction, operation
Risks addressed	Biodiversity risks, Water management, Labour rights, health, Human rights
Description	 Through Ipieca, the oil and gas industry has developed a range of good practice guides to aid responsible environmental and social management. These guides have relevance to other sectors and energy projects. This compendium highlights Ipieca environmental and social management practices that carry cross-learnings for energy producers beyond oil and gas. Applicability varies depending on a number of factors, including physical footprint, timescales and locations. This compendium is intended for the use of Ipieca members and beyond. It communicates to external stakeholders and other associations, the potential of the oil and gas industry to contribute useful practices and learnings for the alternative energy are given below: Sustainability Supply chain library of questions and resources (2020) Environment A guide to developing biodiversity action plans (2022) Water management framework (2021) Biodiversity and ecosystem services fundamentals (2016) A cross-sector guide for implementing the mitigation hierarchy (2015) Good practices for the collection of biodiversity baseline data (2015) A cross-sector biodiversity initiative timeline tool (2013) Alien invasive species and the oil and gas industry (2010)

	 Social Local content measurement and reporting (2023) Online labour rights training (2023) Labour rights risk identification in the supply chain (2021) Human rights due diligence guidance (2021) Community development agreement (2019) Responsible recruitment and employment (2019) Labour rights assessment toolkit (2019) Labour rights assessment toolkit (2019) Labour rights assessment toolkit (2019) Key steps for carrying out an on-site labour rights assessment (2019) Worker grievance mechanisms (2019) Managing fatigue in the workplace (2019) Health management in the oil and gas industry (2019) Making the business case for Corporate Social Responsibility (2018) Creating successful, sustainable social investment (2nd edition) (2017) Redefining key components of social investment: Practitioner note 1 (2017) Monitoring and evaluation of social investment: Practitioner note 2 (2017) Health impact assessment (2016) Community grievance mechanisms in the oil and gas industry (2015) Integrating human rights into environmental, social and health impact assessments (2013) Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights: Implementation guidance tools (2012)
URL	https://www.ipieca.org/resources/awareness-briefing/environmental-and-social-good- practice-for-the-energy-transition-a-compendium-of-ipieca-good-practices/

.....

OFFSHORE IMPACTS TO FISHERIES: PRACTITIONER GUIDANCE FOR SOCIAL BASELINES

Developer	Ipieca
Year published	2023
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Manufacturing, construction, operation
Risks addressed	Impact on fishing communities
Description	Ipieca recognises that there is an opportunity to support practitioners to develop robust social baselines for offshore projects. This guidance seeks to support practitioners to make informed decisions when it comes to designing and implementing social baseline data collection processes. Purpose of this Guidance: It is not intended that this guidance explain what a social baseline is or why it is important to properly characterize impacts, but rather it is to be used to enhance consistency in social baselines. More specifically, to support practitioners in selecting the right data collection tools at the appropriate stage in the project life cycle to inform better outcomes for both communities and proponents

	 Accordingly, this guidance is designed to help practitioners develop social baselines that: Suitably characterise impacts to fisheries and associated stakeholders Can be scaled to suit a variety of different offshore contexts and projects Will stand up to institutional scrutiny Reduce delays associated with the collection of incorrect data Support efforts to avoid and/or minimise impacts on fisheries and associated communities
URL	https://www.ipieca.org/resources/offshore-impacts-to-fisheries-practitioner-guidance-for- social-baselines

MITIGATING BIODIVERSITY IMPACTS ASSOCIATED WITH SOLAR AND WIND ENERGY DEVELOPMENT: GUIDELINES FOR PROJECT DEVELOPERS

Developer	IUCN, The Biodiversity Consultancy, BirdLife International, Fauna & Flora International, The Nature Conservancy, Wildlife Conservation Society, Électricité de France (EDF), Energias de Portugal (EDP), Shell
Year published	2021
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Manufacturing, construction, operation, end of life
Risks addressed	Biodiversity (habitat loss and fragmentation, pressures on local water resources, impact on areas of conservation significance, collision risks and high noise)
Description	The guidelines aim to manage risks and enhance overall outcomes in relation to biodiversity and ecosystem services to give practical support for solar and wind energy developments. The recommendations span the whole project life cycle, from early planning through to decommissioning and repowering, and are industry focused. They use the mitigation hierarchy as a framework for planning and implementation which highlights crucial issues associated with the impact of solar and wind energy expansion on biodiversity such as habitat loss and fragmentation, pressures on local water resources, impact on areas of conservation significance, collision risks and high noise during construction (Bennun et al., 2021).
URL	https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/49283

THE LIFE CYCLE QUALITY: BEST QUALITY GUIDELINES (VERSION 1.0)

Developer	SolarPower Europe
Year published	2021
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Construction, operation, maintenance
Risks addressed	Health, safety, security & environment, due diligence, quality management

Description	The best practice guidelines are a series of recommendations for engineering, procurement and construction, operation and maintenance and asset management. The recommendations define the relevant stakeholders and advise how to involve them at each step of a project. They combine the four major pillars of lifetime project management:
	 Risk analysis: risk identification, risk assessment, risk prevention and mitigation, and risk plan communication and implementation Health, safety, security & environment (HSSE): rules and regulations in place to guarantee workplace security, environmental preservation, and worker and customer health and safety. They were created in compliance with national and European rules and regulations, and they are applicable to both employees and visitors Due diligence: consists of four sub-areas – legal, technical, financial and political Quality management: a commitment to customers in the market or as fitness for the intended use (how well the product performs its intended function)
	The guidelines also highlight the need for solar projects to comply with national laws and globally recognised standards to protect the environment and maintain a safe and healthy workplace.
URL	https://www.seia.org/sites/default/files/2021-04/SEIA-Supply-Chain-Traceability-Protocol- v1.0-April2021.pdf

.....

Developer	NatureScot
Year published	2019
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Construction, Operation
Risks addressed	Pollution prevention, Protection of the environment and natural resources, hydrology and archaeology related issues and the adoption of biosecurity protocols, including the control of invasive and non-native species
Description	Considerable experience has been gained from the construction and operation of wind farms across Scotland with an installed capacity totalling over 7500 Megawatts. The purpose of this guidance is to share that experience amongst the industry, planning authorities, key agencies and those more broadly involved in the planning and development of wind farms. It is focused on pollution prevention, protection of the environment and natural resources, hydrology and archaeology related issues and the adoption of biosecurity protocols, including the control of invasive and non-native species. The guidance is aimed at: Wind farm developers Construction companies and contractors working on wind farm sites Consultants and advisers supporting the wind farm industry Planning officers working on wind farm applications Statutory consultees and Key Agencies Clerks of Works

GUIDANCE – GOOD PRACTICE DURING WIND FARM CONSTRUCTION

URL

https://www.nature.scot/doc/guidance-good-practice-during-wind-farm-construction

LARGE-SCALE SOLAR SITING: ENCOURAGING ECOSYSTEM ENHANCEMENT AND CONSERVATION WHILE PRODUCING MUCH NEEDED ZERO-CARBON ELECTRICITY

Developer	Gahl & Norris (Solar and Storage Industries Institute, SSII)
Year published	2022
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Construction, Operation
Risks addressed	Biodiversity risks, Conservation, Land use, Wildlife
Description	This policy brief proposes a siting framework for large-scale solar projects which will produce much needed zero-carbon electricity and can serve important ecosystem enhancement and conservation roles. This paper argues that large-scale solar projects should be designed and operate to maximise preservation of our natural capital and ecosystems and sited to minimise negative impacts on land. The paper describes the decarbonisation challenge, discusses current trends in large-scale solar and storage deployment, puts the acreage need of large-scale solar deployment consistent with decarbonisation goals in the context of other types of land use, offers three foundational principles for siting and introduces a permitting framework to help guide responsible siting.
URL	https://www.seia.org/research-resources/large-scale-solar-siting-encouraging-ecosystem- enhancement-and-conservation

GOOD PRACTICE GUIDELINES FOR OFFSHORE RENEWABLE ENERGY DEVELOPMENTS

Developer	G+ Integrated Offshore Emergency Response (G+ IOER)
Year published	2019
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Operation
Risks addressed	Pollution
Description	The guidelines intend to give responsible organizations a framework for identifying offshore renewable risks and the backup plans needed to enable the right reaction to the possible risks. Although the guidelines do not exclusively cover the environmental and social risks associated with offshore wind energy supply chains, they provide recommendations on environmental risks, especially pollution, in all the stages of life of a wind farm.
URL	https://www.gplusoffshorewind.com/work-programme/workstreams/guidelines

A GOOD PRACTICE GUIDE TO THE APPLICATION OF ETSU-R-97 FOR THE ASSESSMENT AND RATING OF WIND TURBINES NOISE

Developer	Institute of Acoustics (IOA)
Year published	2013
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Operation
Risks addressed	Turbine Noise
Description	This guide presents current good practice in the application of the ETSU-R-97 assessment methodology for all wind turbines developments above 50 kW, reflecting the original principles within ETSU-R-97, and the results of research carried out and experience gained since ETSU-R-97 was published. The noise limits in ETSU-R-97 have not been examined as these are a matter for Government. Summary points in the guide appear in the blue boxes, labelled as numbered Summary Boxes (SB). Additional Supplementary Guidance Notes, published separately to this guide, expand on some of the aspects considered in the guide to further illustrate the general principles. This guide represents good practice as of the date of publication and does not exempt further advances from being used
URL	https://www.ioa.org.uk/sites/default/files/IOA%20Good%20Practice%20Guide%20on%20 Wind%20Turbine%20Noise%20-%20May%202013.pdf

BRE NATIONAL SOLAR CENTRE BIODIVERSITY GUIDANCE FOR SOLAR DEVELOPMENTS

Developer	BRE National Solar Centre (NSC)
Year published	2014a
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Operation
Risks addressed	Biodiversity Risks
Description	This document provides guidance to planners and the solar industry on how they can support biodiversity on solar farms. The guidance provided herein has been developed with, and endorsed by, a number of leading UK conservation organisations. The approach to managing biodiversity will be different for every solar farm, and it is recommended that a site-specific plan be devised in each case. The purpose of this document is to support the development of a plan by presenting a broad range of options for biodiversity enhancement and management, and illustrating best practice through a series of case studies. The guidance provided here draws upon good practice from a number of sources, as detailed in the bibliography at the end of this document.
URL	https://www.bre.co.uk/filelibrary/nsc/Documents%20Library/NSC%20Publications/National-Solar-CentreBiodiversity-Guidance-for-Solar-Developments2014pdf

NATURAL CAPITAL BEST PRACTICE GUIDANCE: INCREASING BIODIVERSITY AT ALL STAGES OF A SOLAR FARM'S LIFE CYCLE

.....

Developer	Solar Energy UK
Year published	2022
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Operation
Risks addressed	Biodiversity Risks
Description	This best practice guidance has been produced to raise awareness and promote the design, construction and operation of high-quality solar farm projects which support ecology and deliver additional benefits arising from multiple land use. It provides detailed guidance on how to deliver a solar farm from site design through to decommissioning with an emphasis on promoting environments which provide natural capital, biodiversity, and in some cases agriculture, alongside green energy supply. Most Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) will by now have some experience with the consenting process for renewable energy technologies, however many may be unaware of the specific opportunities for solar farms to improve biodiversity and increase ecosystem services. Solar farms can be a critical tool for LPAs to achieve both their climate and ecological objectives. Solar farm developers should also find this guide useful in the development, construction, and operation of sites. It has been designed to clearly set out the benefits of implementing biodiversity enhancement strategies alongside maximising the output of solar installations. This has progressed considerably in the past few years, presenting exciting new financial opportunities as well.
URL	https://solarenergyuk.org/resource/natural-capital-best-practice-guidance/

AGRICULTURAL GOOD PRACTICE GUIDANCE FOR SOLAR FARMS

Developer	BRE National Solar Centre
Year published	2014b
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Operation
Risks addressed	Biodiversity Risks, Agriculture, Land use
Description	This document describes experience and principles of good practice to date for the management of small livestock in solar farms established on agricultural land, derelict/marginal land and previously-developed land.

	Proposed for publication as an appendix to existing best practice guidelines by the BRE National Solar Centre, it should be read in conjunction with BRE (2014) Biodiversity Guidance for Solar Developments.
	The guidance presented here has been developed with, and endorsed by, a number of leading UK solar farm developers and organisations concerned with agriculture and land management.
URL	https://files.bregroup.com/solar/NSCGuid_Agricultural-good-practice-for-SFs_0914.pdf

.....

THE CODE OF GOOD PRACTICE

Developer	Polish Wind Energy Association (PWEA)
Year published	2019
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Construction, decommissioning
Risks addressed	Environmental and social issues
Description	The Code defines a framework for wind energy developers to help contribute to the sustainable growth of Poland. The code aims to assist companies in balancing the interests of all stakeholders, including local communities, energy consumers, the environment, government agencies and the general public. With sections covering environment and planning, wind farm decommissioning and public participation, the code offers guidance on both environmental and social issues.
URL	http://psew.pl/en/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2019/09/Code-of-Good-Practice.pdf

ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH, AND SAFETY GUIDELINES FOR WIND ENERGY

Developer	World Bank Group
Year published	2015
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Construction, operation, decommissioning
Risks addressed	Environmental issues (landscape, noise, biodiversity, visual impacts and water quality)
Description	Similar to the G+ IOER report, the guidelines are technical reference guides that provide examples of good international industrial practices for many industries.
	The performance levels and metrics that are considered feasible in new facilities using current technology at affordable prices are highlighted in the guidelines. They cover a wide range of environmental issues specific to the construction, operation and decommissioning of wind energy projects and facilities, including landscape, noise, biodiversity, visual impacts and water quality.

URL	https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/topics_ext_content/ifc_external_corporate_site/
	sustainability-at-ifc/publications/publications_policy_ehs-wind_energy

END-OF-LIFE MANAGEMENT: SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC PANELS

Developer	International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), International Energy Agency (IEA)
Year published	2016
Supply chain stage(s) covered	End of life
Risks addressed	Waste management, recycling
Description	 Produced in partnership with IEA's Photovoltaic power systems programme (IEA-PVPS), the guidance was the first-ever projection of PV panel waste volumes to 2050. It highlights that recycling or repurposing solar PV panels at the end of their roughly 30-year lifetime can unlock an estimated stock of 78 million tonnes of raw materials and other valuable components globally by 2050. The report provides suggestions to address projected challenges and opportunities surrounding the end-of-life management of PV panels, for example: Adopt PV-specific waste regulations: Sustainable end-of-life management policies, more data and analyses are needed at a national level to support suitable regulatory and investment conditions Expand waste management infrastructure: Management schemes for PV waste based on the unique conditions of each country or region, Co-ordination mechanisms between energy and waste sectors Promote ongoing innovation: R&D and skills development, policy-makers' and PV stakeholders' pro-active preparations for the rise of panel waste With a focus on waste management, the document explains key concepts such as 'reduce, reuse and recycle' and recommends policies to shape the regulations of end-of-life management.
URL	https://www.irena.org/publications/2016/Jun/End-of-life-management-Solar-Photovoltaic- Panels

GUIDELINES FOR ASSESSING END-OF-LIFE MANAGEMENT OPTIONS FOR RENEWABLE AND BATTERY ENERGY STORAGE TECHNOLOGIES

Developer	Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI)
Year published	2021
Supply chain stage(s) covered	End of life

55 — Good practices in supply chain management and carbon footprint of wind and solar energy technologies: literature review

Risks addressed	Waste management, circular economy
Description	This good practice guidance addresses the issues in the end-of-life management of renewables and batteries. A crucial need for electric utilities, it is a compendium of best practices and recommendations for decommissioning renewable and battery energy storage systems. It discusses the fundamental decommissioning process and factors that apply to lithium-ion batteries and renewable energy technologies, provides a list of potential courses of action at the time of technology procurement, and outlines technology-specific procedures once assets have reached their end of life. It is intended to serve as a starting point for learning about disposal, reuse and recycling choices (EPRI, 2021).
URL	https://www.epri.com/research/products/00000003002020594

ACCELERATING WIND TURBINE BLADE CIRCULARITY

Developer	Wind Europe, Cefic, EuCIA
Year published	2020
Supply chain stage(s) covered	End of life
Risks addressed	Recycling
Description	 Specific to wind energy, the report presents the state of play in the recycling of composites used in wind turbine blades. The report: Describes wind turbine blade structure and material composition; Highlights the expected volumes of composite waste, including wind turbines blade waste; Maps the existing regulations governing composite waste in Europe; Describes the existing recycling and recovery technologies for treating composite waste as well as innovative applications for using composite waste; and Provides recommendations for research and innovation to further enhance the circularity of wind turbine blades, including new materials and design for recycling.
URL	https://windeurope.org/wp-content/uploads/files/about-wind/reports/WindEurope- Accelerating-wind-turbine-blade-circularity.pdf

CIRCULAR PROCUREMENT IN 8 STEPS

Developer	Van Oppen et al. (Copper8)
Year published	2018
Supply chain stage(s) covered	End of life
Risks addressed	Circular economy

Description	 The report provides guidance on circular economy for persons responsible for purchasing products for business purposes, relevant to the renewable power generation industry. The guidance recommends eight steps to achieve a circular economy (Van Oppen et al., 2018): Step 1 establishes the working definition of 'circular economy' regarding the procurement project and why an organization wants to adopt circular procurement Step 2 starts to establish how to do so Step 3 helps to achieve a clear picture of an organization's functional demand and how this can best be fulfilled Step 4 describes why collaboration with suppliers contributes to the circular economy and how these collaborations can be organized Step 5 offers guidance on considerations to select the tendering procedure Step 6 will select the appropriate potential suppliers and award the contract to the supplier that submits the most circular tender Step 7 explores how an organisation can secure circularity in the long term from two perspectives: circular revenue models and circular contracts Step 8 provides recommendations for circular contract management
URL	https://www.copper8.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Circular-Procurement-in-8-steps- Ebook.pdf

.....

SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC MODULE RECYCLING: A SURVEY OF US POLICIES AND INITIATIVES

Developer	National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL)	
Year published	2021a	
Supply chain stage(s) covered	End of life	
Risks addressed	Recycling	
Description	This report identifies drivers, barriers, and potential enablers to PV module recycling and resource recovery efforts in the United States. In addition to literature-based research, the report contains a number of interviews and interactions with industry stakeholders to identify factors that may drive or act as a barrier to PV module recycling opportunities in the United States. The stakeholder interactions also informed potential solutions to the identified barriers to enable recycling-based recovery of PV module materials in the United States. Some drivers identified for domestic PV module recycling include increased supply chain stability, reduced negative environmental impacts, and new and expanded US market opportunities. Some barriers identified that may impede PV module recycling opportunities in the United States include gaps in data, current recycling technology, services and infrastructure, and regulatory uncertainty. Policy can help enable PV module recycling in the United States.	

URL

https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/74124.pdf

A CIRCULAR ECONOMY FOR SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC SYSTEM MATERIALS: DRIVERS, BARRIERS, ENABLERS, AND US POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

Developer	National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL)	
Year published	2021b	
Supply chain stage(s) covered	End of life	
Risks addressed	Circular Economy	
Description	Similar to the report above, this report analyses drivers, barriers, and enablers to a circular economy for PV system materials in the United States. It also analyses federal, state, and local requirements that apply to the reuse, recycling, and disposal of PV modules and BOS equipment, as well as the legal liability associated with non-compliance. It then discusses state policies and initiatives in the United States that expressly address reuse, recycling and disposal of PV system equipment. The report concludes by providing case studies of US business models for the repair, reuse, and recycling of PV modules and BOS equipment.	
	The report found that new and expanded market opportunities, job creation, supply chain stability, and reduced negative environmental impacts are drivers for federal, state, and local government investment in the repair, reuse and recycling of PV system equipment. The report found nascent markets for the repair, reuse and recycling of PV in the United States, but	
	there are a number of barriers that impede these options from being a viable alternative to disposal.	
	Policy can help enable a circular economy for PV material in the United States.	
	Although, this report is based in the US, its objectives and results can be universally applied to other PV Solar Markets.	
URL	https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/74550.pdf	

BEST PRACTICES AT THE END OF THE PHOTOVOLTAIC SYSTEM PERFORMANCE PERIOD

Developer	National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL)
Year published	2021c
Supply chain stage(s) covered	End of life
Risks addressed	Circular Economy, Recycling

Description	A photovoltaic (PV) power generation project involves design, construction and operation of a PV power plant over a performance period of 20–30 years. The duration of a financial prospectus or power purchase agreement (PPA) often determines the expected performance period. This paper investigates alternatives at the end of that performance period: extending the performance period and refurbishing, repowering or decommissioning the system, as well as laws that can limit these options. This paper describes the need to plan early in project development, issues to consider at the end of the performance period and the pros and cons of alternatives. It also includes recommendations for system owners, asset managers and industry service providers.
URL	https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/78678.pdf

SOLAR SUSTAINABILITY: BEST PRACTICES BENCHMARK

Developer	SolarPower Europe	
Year published	2021	
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Entire Supply Chain	
Risks addressed	Circularity, Sustainable Supply Chain, Biodiversity, Human Rights, Supply Chain Transparency, Carbon Footprint	
Description	 This study aims to provide an overview on sectorial best practices, which fill the sometimes abstract frameworks of standards with life and demonstrate that the industry is continuously evaluating and improving approaches to sustainability. This report, stemming from the collaboration of industry experts in the SolarPower Europe Sustainability Workstream, presents the results of sustainability case studies and best practices along the solar value chain. The sustainability areas addressed in this report are the following: Carbon Footprint (Chapter 1) Circularity (Chapter 2) Sustainable supply chain (Chapter 3) Biodiversity in large-scale solar (Chapter 4) Planning and designing for public acceptance (Chapter 5) Human Rights (Chapter 6) Supply Chain transparency (Chapter 7) Each chapter firstly defines the context and background following which it provides approaches and best practices, detailing the available sets of action and initiatives for this specific sustainability challenge. Finally, several case studies are outlined, illustrating the implementation of best practices in current, real-world applications. 	
URL	https://www.solarpowereurope.org/insights/thematic-reports/solar-sustainability-best- practices-benchmark	

HOW TO REDUCE THE TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL, ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL IMPACTS OF SOLAR CELL PANELS

Developer	KTH Royal Institute of Technology	
Year published	2021	
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Entire Supply Chain	
Risks addressed	Circularity, Recycling	
Description	The project aims to investigate solar cell panels from production to decommissioning. The investigation considers three flows through the life cycle of the panels—energy, carbon emissions and materials. It also includes two assessments—financial impact and social impact. Research will be done to identify where in the value chain the biggest potential for improvement can be found. The results have been obtained by conducting a literature study, interviewing people with expertise of different parts of the value chain and making calculations to compare and visualise the findings. Two main ways to improve the PV panel's negative impact in terms of environmental, financial and social sustainability have been established. Firstly, the study suggests the importance of implementing advanced recycling within the value chain. Recycling a high percentage of materials in the PV panel, and reusing the recovered material in production will decrease the energy consumption and harmful emissions significantly, alongside increasing circularity of critical materials and bring both financial and social benefits. Secondly, moving the better part of the production to Europe from China would also decrease the environmental and social impact—but there is no financial incentive to do so. Further studies are needed.	
URL	https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1575772/FULLTEXT01.pdf	

OECD DUE DILIGENCE GUIDANCE FOR RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS CONDUCT

Developer	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)
Year published	2018
Supply chain stage(s) covered	Entire Supply Chain
Risks addressed	Due Diligence, Responsible Business Conduct
Description	This Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Business Conduct (Guidance) is based on the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (OECD Guidelines for MNEs). The OECD Guidelines for MNEs are non-binding recommendations addressed to multinational enterprises by governments on responsible business conduct (RBC). This Guidance helps businesses (enterprises) to understand and implement due diligence for RBC as foreseen in the OECD Guidelines for MNEs (due diligence).

This Guidance also seeks to promote a common understanding amongst governments and	

	This Guidance also seeks to promote a common understanding amongst governments and stakeholders on due diligence for RBC. The OECD Guidelines for MNEs provide enterprises with the flexibility to adapt the characteristics, specific measures and processes of due diligence to their own circumstances. Enterprises should use this Guidance as a framework for developing and
	strengthening their own tailored due diligence systems and processes, and then seek out additional resources for further in-depth learning as needed. The primary audience of the Guidance is practitioners tasked with implementing due diligence within an enterprise.
URL	https://www.oecd.org/investment/due-diligence-guidance-for-responsible-business-conduct. htm

RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS CONDUCT FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS: KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR DUE DILIGENCE UNDER THE OECD GUIDELINES FOR MULTINATIONAL ENTERPRISES

Developer	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)	
Year published	2017c Entire Supply Chain	
Supply chain stage(s) covered		
Risks addressed	Due Diligence, Responsible Business Conduct	
Description	 This paper provides a resource for institutional investors and their stakeholders to help investors implement the recommendations of the OECD Guidelines along the investment value chain. Specifically, it seeks to assist institutional investors by explaining what due diligence under the OECD Guidelines entails and discussing key considerations for investors at each step of the process. This paper describes due diligence approaches relevant for institutional investment managers and asset owners. It does not outline specific approaches for entities that facilitate investment (e.g., market research providers, investment banks that provide research on listed companies and execute trades, or underwrite new security issuance and provide research for initial public offerings, stock exchanges, index providers, etc.). However, it may be a useful reference for these entities as well since the recommendations of the OECD Guidelines are also applicable to them. Benefits: Increased ability to implement the OECD Guidelines, as well as the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs) and other relevant frameworks, such as the UN-supported Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) "Knowing and showing" that the investor meets expectations under the OECD Guidelines, and makes a positive contribution to sustainable development Increased ability to meet expectations of clients (in the case of investment managers) and 	
	beneficiaries/members (in the case of asset owners such as pension funds) related to RBC standards (e.g., the OECD Guidelines)	
URL	Increased understanding and management of investment risks that may be material https://mneguidelines.oecd.org/RBC-for-Institutional-Investors.pdf	
	n supply chain management and carbon footprint of wind and solar energy technologies: literature review	

APPENDIX 7: RESPONSIBLE SOURCING

During the mineral excavation and processing stage, it is essential to tackle the associated environmental and social risks such as air and water pollution, waste management, worker safety, human rights abuses (e.g., child labour, gender discrimination), and corruption. Ensuring that local populations continue to benefit from natural resources should be of utmost importance. With effective regulatory enforcement and standards, supply chain due diligence can be a crucial tool for identifying, assessing and mitigating environmental and social risks, which will increase traceability and transparency (IEA, 2022).

IEA (2022) recommends the following measures to achieve mineral security:

- Establish research and development initiatives for technology innovation in both supply and demand to allow for more efficient use of minerals, material substitution and the release of sizable new sources.
- Scale up recycling to improve the circularity of the metals.
- Encourage improved environmental and social performance to boost volumes of products produced sustainably and ethically and to reduce the cost of sourcing them.
- Improve cross-border cooperation between producers and consumers, based on IEA's energy security framework, which could include actions to:
 - Offer reliable and transparent data.
 - Regularly review potential supply chain vulnerabilities.
 - Encourage knowledge transfer and capacity building to disseminate ethical and sustainable development methods.
 - Provide a level playing field by strengthening environmental and social standards.

Sonter et al. (2020) recommend making policy improvements to prevent the detrimental effects of mining in areas that are crucial for conservation as well as creating the appropriate landscape plans that specifically address present and potential mining concerns. The private sector can work with governments to develop policy improvements. These actions must also be backed up by strong research efforts to fill the gaps in existing knowledge. It is also necessary to develop a systematic understanding of the spatially explicit effects of different mining activities on particular biodiversity features, such as those that occur in marine systems and at different distances from mine sites (rather than within a single predefined distance), as opposed to potential threats, as was the case with this study.

Huber & Steininger (2022) suggests a strategy to look for and use alternative minerals in case of high risk. Below is a table summarising possible substitutes for the minerals currently in demand:

Table 3: Possible substitutes for solar and wind technology minerals

MINERAL	POSSIBLE SUBSTITUTES	
TIN (one of the conflict minerals)	Aluminium, plastic, paper, glass, copper-base alloys, carbon nanomaterial substitute	
RARE EARTH ELEMENTS	By other rare earth elements, platinum group metals, cerium	
COBALT	Iron-phosphorus, cerium, cermet, ceramics, manganese, iron, barium or strontium ferrites, lead, vanadium in paints, nickel, rhodium and titanium-based alloys, nickel	
LITHIUM	Calcium, mercury, magnesium, zinc	

This is an area that still requires further research to ensure the effectiveness of the possible substitutes. Moreover, it will be crucial to understand if the possible substitutes themselves raise concerns about supply chain risks.

Recycling is the most important strategy to reduce the primary demand for raw materials needed for solar and wind technologies. However, responsible sourcing is needed where supply cannot be met by recycled sources. When supply cannot be met by recycled sources, engaging in responsible sourcing through verified certification schemes and due diligence of supply chains is needed to reduce potential negative social and environmental impacts (Giurco et al., 2019). Responsible sourcing will be especially important for minerals such as copper, lithium, silver and rare earths because reducing their total demand through substitution and efficiency, and offsetting primary demand through recycling is the most challenging (Giurco et al., 2019).

An IEA report (2022) recommends ensuring environmental and social sustainability in the solar PV supply chain in the following way:

- Strengthen international cooperation on creating clear and transparent standards, taking into account environmental and social sustainability criteria.
- Focus on skills development, worker protection and social inclusion across the solar PV supply chain. Adopt policies promoting employment standards and transparency in order to help improve working conditions.

Ensure PV manufacturing facilities adopt low-carbon and material-efficient manufacturing practices.

APPENDIX 8: GOOD PRACTICES FOR RECYCLING AND CIRCULARITY

Giurco et al. (2019) suggest in their report for the Institute for Sustainable Futures that the two key strategies to promote environmental stewardship and respect for human rights in the supply chain are encouraging recycling and responsible sourcing.

Several studies highlighted the need to recycle materials to reduce the environmental impacts of solar and wind energy. Huber & Steininger. (2022) recommend increasing the recycling rate of the minerals or even solar and wind energy technologies in general to reduce the amount of minerals mined. Mancini & Nuss (2020) recommend using recycled materials to meet demands because they may have less of an impact on the environment than producing primary raw materials. The recycling of batteries has the potential to decrease the amount of scrap, separate battery components, enrich important metals and remove or lessen the threat of environmental waste release. It is necessary to create effective recycling technologies that are committed to both the recovery of precious metals and the disposal of elements that are hazardous to the environment (Larcher & Tarascon, 2014). Siemens Gamesa created the first recyclable blade, which was made accessible for onshore wind power projects in

2021. The recycling of turbine blades has always posed a challenge for the wind industry. Although over 85 per cent of wind turbines may be recycled completely, many blades are dumped in landfills after they have been decommissioned (Siemens Gamesa, 2022). When a wind turbine reaches the end of its life, the RecylableBlade recovery method separates the materials using a mildly acidic solution. Once recycled, such materials can be used in the manufacturing of consumer goods, building, or the automobile industry, among other industrial uses (ibid).

Additionally, ENGIE decommissioned the first wind farm to be linked to France's national grid in Port-La-Nouvelle (Aude) and recycled nearly 96 per cent of its parts. The ZEBRA project, spearheaded by the French research institute IRT Jules Verne, unites all stakeholders in the wind turbine value chain with the goal of commercialising fully recyclable wind turbine blades over a three-year period, which began in 2021. The first blade prototype which is entirely recyclable was successfully released on March 17, 2022 (ENGIE, 2021).

A report by IEA (2022) highlights the following to develop and strengthen recycling capabilities in solar PV technologies:

- Implement comprehensive regulatory frameworks to define stakeholder responsibilities and establish minimum requirements for collection and recycling.
- Support technology development efforts that improve solar PV panel design for recycling, reusability and greater durability.

Norgren et al. (2020) summarise a list of Design for Recycling Principles to increase the quantity and value of materials recovered and reused from end-of-life products:

- Crystalline-silicon PV principles:
 - Durable identification of muddle construction and composition could enable safer and more efficient recycling processes.
 - Backsheet (usually made of a combination of ploymers used to cover the back of solar PV modules) composition has particularly important implications for recyclability.
 - Metal choices can have significant impacts on recycling processes and costs.
 - Minimising laminate use or using reversible laminates can facilitate the disassembly of PV modules.

- Decreasing the number and complexity of module materials presents trade-offs related to recyclability and economics.
- Wind turbine blade principles
 - Some blade materials are more recyclable than others, but blade technologies are changing.
 - Minimise the use of additional blade materials other than resin and fibres.
 - Some blade designs include retention of material value after recycling.

Despite the major advances, it is worth noting that the economics of end-of-life handling isn't very favourable to recycling. For example, in the United States, the cost to waste generators to recycle PV modules is around \$15-\$45 per module. This is significantly higher than the landfill fee, which is \$1-\$5 per module (US Department of Energy, 2022).

APPENDIX 9: IMPACT ASSESSMENTS AND DATA GOOD PRACTICES

To lessen the negative environmental effects of offshore wind farms, according to Wind Europe, extensive data about the offshore ecosystem is required. The information can cover a variety of topics, such as species and habitats, as well as the cumulative effect of offshore wind, such as coastline and onshore effects of export cabling. To do this effectively, the offshore wind business should collaborate closely with governments and non-governmental organizations. Governments should make sure that permits and other relevant authorities have the knowledge and resources they need to approve enough sites, according to Wind Europe's regulatory policy recommendation (Freeman et al., 2019).

Wildlife surveys can be conducted during the impact assessments of wind farm installations to understand the birds' breeding and feeding dynamics, which can further help minimise the threats to birds and bats (Hogan, 2020). Despite the literature being less widespread within the solar energy, there are suggestions to minimise the impact of large-scale solar projects. Siting the project on land where the impact on flora and fauna is relatively small can lead to both clean energy production and meeting conservation goals (Cameron et al., 2012).

APPENDIX 10: AGRIVOLTAIC

Agrivoltaics has emerged as a promising approach to improve land productivity and maximise synergies among energy, food and environmental security (Dupraz et al., 2011; Hernandez et al., 2019; Al Mamun et al., 2022). Walston et al. (2022) define agrivoltaic systems as the co-location of ground-mounted solar energy development and one or more of the following agricultural activities: crop cultivation, animal husbandry or habitat enhancement to improve ecosystem services. These types of agrivoltaic systems have been shown to improve efficiencies in land use, water use, and energy generation, as well as demonstrating the feasibility of these dual land uses to mutually benefit various ecosystem goods and services (Barron-Gafford et al., 2019; Hernandez et al.; 2019; Proctor et al., 2021). As larger-scale AV systems are being considered to address the energy and food security needs of larger communities, there is a greater need for partnerships between solar developers, operators and members of the agricultural and natural resource conservation communities. These partnerships can be useful in facilitating the scaling of such systems by identifying costeffective methods to integrate solar energy development and agricultural activities early in project conceptualisation and design (Walston et al., 2022). Moreover, minimising siting conflict and addressing agricultural communities' concerns will be key in the continued deployment of agrivoltaics, as localised acceptance of solar is a critical determinant of project success. A study by Pascaris et al. (2022) was conducted to assess if public support for solar development increases when energy and agricultural production are combined in an agrivoltaic system. Results show that at least 82 per cent of respondents would be more likely to support solar development in their community if it integrated agricultural production. Survey respondents prefer agrivoltaic projects that:

- Are designed to provide economic opportunities for farmers and the local community
- Are not located on public property
- Do not threaten local interests
- Ensure fair distribution of economic benefits

APPENDIX 11: GUIDANCE FOR ADDRESSING SOCIAL RISKS

.....

SUPPLY CHAIN RISK	GOOD PRACTICE/S	KEY CONSIDERATIONS
SOURCING		
Poor working conditions/Lack of Safety Standards		
Human Rights Violations	OECD (2016), RCI & RMI (2022), RMI (2018)	Transparent mineral supply chains, Sustainable corporate engagement, Conflict-affected and high-risk areas, Due Diligence, Cobalt, Tin, Tantalum
Lack of transparency/corruption	RCI & RMI (2022), GIZ & Mining Shared Value (2017)	Conflict-affected and high-risk areas, Due Diligence, Cobalt, Local Procurement Disclosure
Child Labour	GIZ & Mining Shared Value (2017), OECD (2017), TSM Initiative (2018), GRI (2016), IRMA (2018)	Local Procurement Disclosure, Due Diligence, Responsible Sourcing, Performance measurement, Disclosure, Social Responsibility
Labour/Community Health and Safety issues	TSM Initiative (2018), IRMA (2018), ICMM (2022)	Social Responsibility, Performance measurement
Gender Discrimination		
Forced Labour	GIZ & Mining Shared Value (2017), TSM Initiative (2018), GRI (2016), IRMA (2018)	Local Procurement Disclosure, Performance measurement, Due Diligence, Disclosure, Social Responsibility
Displacement of indigenous communities	OECD (2017), TSM Initiative (2018)	Stakeholder Engagement, Responsible Business Conduct, Thematic Guidance, Due Diligence
Heavy Metal Toxicity		
Air Pollution	IRMA (2018)	Performance measurement
Water Stress/Water contamination	TSM Initiative (2018), IRMA (2018)	Performance measurement, Environmental Responsibility
Waste	IRMA (2018)	Performance measurement
Climate Change impacts – extreme heat/droughts	TSM Initiative (2018)	Performance measurement

65 — Good practices in supply chain management and carbon footprint of wind and solar energy technologies: literature review

	l.	L. C.
SUPPLY CHAIN RISK	GOOD PRACTICE/S	KEY CONSIDERATIONS
Biodiversity risks	TSM Initiative (2018), IRMA (2018), ICMM (2022)	Performance measurement, Environmental Responsibility
Habitat loss and fragmentation/ Forest loss and degradation		
Soil and groundwater acidification		
Deep-sea mining		
MANUFACTURING AND CONSTRU	CTION	
Land use risks (social – e.g., conflict with farmers, communities etc.)		
Land use risks (environment – e.g., erosion etc.)		
Sedimentation		
Construction noise	IUCN et al. (2021)	Guidelines for project developers
Habitat loss, degradation and fragmentation		
Biodiversity risks	lpieca (2020), IUCN et al. (2021)	Responsible environmental management, Guidelines for project developers
Water stress/Water contamination	lpieca (2020), IUCN et al. (2021)	Responsible environmental management, Guidelines for project developers
Chemicals (Fluorine, Chromium)		
Human rights violations	lpieca (2020)	Responsible social management
Labour/Community Health and Safety issues	lpieca (2020)	Responsible social management
Displacement of indigenous communities	OECD (2017), TSM Initiative (2018)	Stakeholder Engagement, Responsible Business Conduct, Thematic Guidance, Due Diligence

Noise

SUPPLY CHAIN RISK **GOOD PRACTICE/S KEY CONSIDERATIONS** Human rights violations Ipieca (2020) Responsible social management Labour/Community Health and Ipieca (2020) Responsible social management Safety issues Collision, displacement and IUCN et al. (2021) Guidelines for project developers habitat changes (birds and bats) Impact on bird migration patterns Electromagnetic field impact on crustaceans **Biodiversity risks** lpieca (2020), IUCN et al. (2021) Responsible environmental management, Guidelines for project developers Water stress/water contamination Ipieca (2020), IUCN et al. (2021) Responsible environmental management, Guidelines for project developers Impact on fishing communities Solid waste/Hazardous solid EPRI (2021), Copper8 (2018) Waste management, circular economy waste Health impacts **Ecological Damage**

Solar technology good practices

SUPPLY CHAIN RISK	GOOD PRACTICE/S	KEY CONSIDERATIONS		
SOURCING				
Human Rights violations	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Labour/Community Health and Safety issues	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Forced Labour	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Air Pollution	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Water Stress/Water contamination	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Waste	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Climate Change impacts	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
MANUFACTURING AND CONSTRUCTION				
Human Rights violations	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Labour/Community Health and Safety issues	SEIA (2021), SolarPower Europe (2021)	Code of Conduct, Due Diligence		
Forced Labour	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Air Pollution	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Water Stress/Water contamination	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Waste	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Climate Change impacts	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Biodiversity Risks	SSII (2022)	Siting Framework		
Land Use Risks	SSII (2022)	Siting Framework		
OPERATIONAL				
Human Rights violations	SEIA (2021)	Code of Conduct		
Labour/Community Health and Safety issues	SEIA (2021), SolarPower Europe	Code of Conduct, Due Diligence		

.....

Forced LabourSEIA (2021)Code of ConductAir PollutionSEIA (2021)Code of ConductWater Stress/Water contaminationSEIA (2021)Code of ConductWasteSEIA (2021)Code of Conduct	
Water Stress/Water SEIA (2021) Code of Conduct contamination	
contamination	
Waste SEIA (2021) Code of Conduct	
Climate Change impacts SEIA (2021) Code of Conduct	
Biodiversity RisksSSII (2022), BRE NSC (2014a), Solar Energy UK (2022), BRE NSC (2014b)Siting Framework, Guidance planners and the solar index	
Land Use Risks SSII (2022), BRE NSC (2014b) Siting Framework	
END OF LIFE	
Solid Waste/Solid HazardousIRENA & IEA (2016), NREL (2021a), NREL (2021b), NREL (2021c)Waste management, recyclWasteNREL (2021b), NREL (2021c)Waste management, recycl	ling
Land use competition (mostly for agricultural land)	
Degradation of vegetation	
Biodiversity Loss	
Water Pollution	
Soil Contamination	
Thermal and Air Pollution	
Habitat Fragmentation	
ENTIRE SUPPLY CHAIN	
Human rights violationsSolarPower Europe (2021)Sectorial best practices	
Lack of transparency/CorruptionSolarPower Europe (2021)Sectorial best practices	
Biodiversity RisksSolarPower Europe (2021)Sectorial best practices	
Solid Waste/Hazardous SolidSolarPower Europe (2021), KTHSectorial best practices, CiWasteRoyal Institute of Technology (2021)Economy, Recycling	rcular

.....

Wind technology good practices

SUPPLY CHAIN RISK	GOOD PRACTICE/S	KEY CONSIDERATIONS		
MANUFACTURING AND CONSTRUCTION				
Air Pollution	NatureScot (2019)	Peer learning		
Water Stress/Water contamination	NatureScot (2019), World Bank Group (2015)	Peer learning, Technical guidelines		
Biodiversity Risks	NatureScot (2019), World Bank Group (2015)	Peer learning, Technical guidelines		
Impact on fishing communities	Ipieca (2023)	Social baseline data collection processes		
Noise	World Bank Group (2015)	Technical guidelines		
OPERATIONAL				
Air Pollution	NatureScot (2019), G+ IOER (2019)	Peer learning, Risk Framework		
Water Stress/Water contamination	NatureScot (2019), World Bank Group (2015)	Peer learning, Technical guidelines		
Biodiversity Risks	NatureScot (2019), World Bank Group (2015)	Peer learning, Technical guidelines		
Impact on fishing communities	Ipieca (2023)	Social baseline data collection processes		
Turbine noise	IOA (2013), World Bank Group (2015)	Noise assessment		
END OF LIFE				
Water Stress/Water contamination	World Bank Group (2015)	Technical guidelines		
Biodiversity Risks	World Bank Group (2015)	Technical guidelines		
Noise	World Bank Group (2015)	Technical guidelines		
Impacts on marine mammals, subtidal benthos, commercial fisheries				

.....

.....

SUPPLY CHAIN RISK	GOOD PRACTICE/S	KEY CONSIDERATIONS
Impacts on physical processes – Changes to sediment movements, mobilisation of contaminants etc.		
Impacts on benthic ecology – Habitat loss, impact of noise on fish and marine mammals etc.		
Solid Waste/Solid Hazardous Waste	Wind Europe et al. (2020)	Recycling

APPENDIX 12: ACTIONS TAKEN BY RENEWABLES COMPANIES TO MANAGE ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RISKS

COMPANY	ACTIONS	DESCRIPTION	SOURCE/LINK
ALGONQUIN	Supplier Code of Conduct	Sets out the core values and corporate practices expected from their suppliers, vendors, and partners. Seeks out opportunities to collaborate with, provide input to, and seek guidance from vendors on end-of-life recycling and sustainable disposal programs.	Algonquin 2021 ESG Report
BROOKFIELD RENEWABLE	ESG Due Diligence and Supply Chain Due Diligence Guidelines	Helps to identify, prevent, mitigate and respond to the potential human rights and impacts within potential investments.	Brookfield Renewable 2021 ESG Report
CANADIAN SOLAR	Supplier Code of Conduct	Establishes standards on human rights, environmental protection, health, safety and business ethics to maintain a responsible supply chain. This code is used as part of due diligence in assessing new suppliers.	Canadian Solar 2021 ESG Report
CANADIAN SOLAR	Supplier ESG Auditing Program	Covers quality control, environment, health, safety, human rights, business ethics and other sustainability aspects based on their Supplier Code of Conduct.	Canadian Solar 2021 ESG Report

COMPANY	ACTIONS	DESCRIPTION	SOURCE/LINK
CANADIAN SOLAR	Conflict Minerals Policy	Supports the goal of the Dodd-Frank Act of preventing armed groups in the DRC and adjoining countries from benefitting from the sourcing of Conflict Minerals from that region.	Canadian Solar 2021 ESG Report
CONSTELLATION	Supplier Code of Conduct	Outlines its expectations and standards for ethical conduct and is grounded in the values Constellation employees live by every day. Also describes expectations for suppliers to uphold human rights of all workers.	Constellation 2022 Sustainability Report
EDP RENEWABLES	Human and Labour Rights Policy	Aims to ensure respect for Human and Labour Rights in EDPR's sphere of activity, implementing the commitments defined in its policies, specifying the international reference treaties and standards and establishing the procedures that ensure compliance with them.	EDP renewables Human and Labour Rights Policy 2022
GE	Human Rights Statement of Principles	Reflects GE's commitment to respect fundamental labour rights including the prohibition of forced and child labour in GE operations and those of their suppliers.	GE 2021 Sustainability Report
GE	Ethical supply chain and responsible mineral sourcing at GE	Since 2002, GE has implemented an extensive supplier responsibility governance (SRG) program to build and strengthen an ethical, sustainable and transparent global supply chain and establish clear social and environmental responsibility requirements for suppliers.	GE 2021 Sustainability Report
GE	Conflict Minerals Policy	Describes the due diligence performed for 2021, including steps taken to mitigate the risk that 3TG in their products benefit armed groups. Also describes the products that they have reason to believe might contain 3TG originating from the Covered Countries and information about the processing facilities and countries of origin of 3TG used in those products.	GE 2021 Conflict Minerals Report

COMPANY	ACTIONS	DESCRIPTION	SOURCE/LINK
HITACHI ENERGY	Conflict Minerals Policy	Addresses conflict minerals sourced from Democratic Republic of Congo and its adjoining countries: Establishes a "Conflict Minerals Compliance Program" supported by Hitachi Energy Executive Committee to review the use of Conflict Minerals in their products and respond to customer inquiries. Developed based on the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict Affected and High-Risk Areas and other appropriate international standards.	Hitachi Energy Conflict Minerals Policy
IBERDROLA	Biodiversity Policy	Involves integrating biodiversity into strategic planning, managing risk through continuous assessment of impacts and dependencies throughout the life cycle, applying the mitigation hierarchy in all their activities, avoiding the placement of new infrastructure in protected areas, implementing biodiversity action plans, working together with stakeholders, and encouraging awareness and communication	Iberdrola Statement of Non-Financial Information Sustainability Report Financial Year 2021
IBERDROLA	Environmental Management System.	Enables the alignment of the environmental dimension with the group's sustainability model, integrating the SDGs and coordinating the mechanisms for measuring and assessing the group's environmental performance in terms of the life cycle, including the concepts of circular economy and natural capital in the group's management.	Iberdrola Statement of Non-Financial Information Sustainability Report Financial Year 2021
IBERDROLA	Corporate Environmental Footprint	To gauge the group's environmental performance, Iberdrola calculates its Corporate Environmental Footprint (CEF), which evaluates the effects of the company's activities on the environment from a life cycle viewpoint (ISO/TS standard 14072:2014)	Iberdrola Statement of Non-Financial Information Sustainability Report Financial Year 2021

COMPANY	ACTIONS	DESCRIPTION	SOURCE/LINK
IBERDROLA	Human Rights Due Diligence System	Iberdrola's Human Rights Due Diligence System seeks to promote the implementation of the Guiding Principles (Principle 18.a of the UNGPs) adjusted for the size of the company and the diversity and particularities of the facilities in the various countries.	Iberdrola Statement of Non-Financial Information Sustainability Report Financial Year 2021
JINKOSOLAR	Supplier Conduct Codes	 In the selection of procurement categories, the following factors should be given priority: Use the least raw materials. Give priority to recycled material. Promote suppliers to simplify packaging and recycle packaging materials. 	Iberdrola Statement of Non-Financial Information Sustainability Report Financial Year 2021
NEXTERA ENERGY	Code of Business Conduct and Ethics	Commitment to human rights extends to their international suppliers and works closely with their solar panel and energy storage suppliers to protect that their equipment, including components, are produced without forced labour.	Nextera Energy 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
ORSTED	Global human rights policy	Committed to respecting human rights in everything they do. They want to proactively address any potential risks of negative impacts on human rights and be transparent about their efforts and challenges along the way. They are now working to further develop and strengthen their human rights due diligence approach for all of their rightsholder groups including employees, local communities, and people in their supply chains.	Orsted Sustainability Report 2022
RWE	"Care Commitments" in the HSE Policy Statement	Defined their principles and values for the activities of RWE Renewables in the "Care Commitments." These form the basis for their activities, starting with the planning of new assets through to operation and decommissioning and entails evaluation of negative impacts on species diversity and in preliminary studies and environmental compliance studies.	RWE Sustainability Report 2021

	l -		
COMPANY	ACTIONS	DESCRIPTION	SOURCE/LINK
RWE	Biodiversity Policy	Describes the approach of RWE to the protection and promotion of biodiversity in the Rhenish lignite mining region	RWE Sustainability Report 2021
RWE	Due Diligence	Based on a risks analysis, it was established that risks with negative impacts are generally not expected in their direct business relationships but more particularly in the deeper supply chain.	RWE Sustainability Report 2021
SIEMENS GAMESA	Supplier Relationship Policy	Provides a group-wide framework for the management and oversight of procurement activities.	Siemens Gamesa Consolidated Non-Financial Statement 2021
SIEMENS GAMESA	Code of Conduct for Suppliers and Third-Party Intermediaries	Sets out the Group's binding requirements and translates their requirements into contractual obligations. Based on the UN Global Compact and the principles of the ILO, the principles of the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, etc. Establishes standards to ensure that working conditions in the supply chain are safe, that workers are treated with respect and dignity, and that transactions with suppliers are ethical and socially and environmentally responsible.	Siemens Gamesa Consolidated Non-Financial Statement 2021
SIEMENS GAMESA	Supply Chain Due Diligence	Committed to responsible sourcing of minerals, especially from conflict or high-risk areas according to the OECD Due Diligence Guidance. Conducting a uniform-wide process to determine the use, source and origin of the relevant minerals in their supply chain.	Siemens Gamesa Consolidated Non-Financial Statement 2021
SIEMENS GAMESA	Sustainability Policy	Outlines broader ambitions related to decarbonisation, circularity and biodiversity protection and climate change.	Siemens Gamesa Consolidated Non-Financial Statement 2021

	I.		
COMPANY	ACTIONS	DESCRIPTION	SOURCE/LINK
SIEMENS GAMESA	Sphera, an internal HSE software tool	 Allows for data collection and analysis including: Reporting figures such as energy use and sources, waste amounts and disposal destinations, water use, environmental incidents, etc. Monitoring environmental data and trends, and visualising them to better support analysis. Providing transparency and opportunities for sharing best practices. 	Siemens Gamesa Consolidated Non-Financial Statement 2021
SUNPOWER	Supplier Sustainability Guidelines	Based on the SEIA's Solar Commitment, defines common practices and expectations for all solar industry participants, including manufacturers, suppliers, subcontractors and customers in the solar value chain.	SunPower ESG Report 2021
SUNPOWER	Human Rights Statement	Sets out expectations for third parties with whom they do business and guides their employees on due diligence in relation to vendors and service providers.	SunPower ESG Report 2021
SUNPOWER	Conflict Minerals Policy	Expects its suppliers to have conflict mineral policies and due diligence measures that give them reasonable assurance that minerals used are conflict-free, including passing the same requirements on to their suppliers. Fully supports the goals and objectives of Dodd-Frank federal legislation in the US.	SunPower ESG Report 2021
TPI	Human Rights and Supplier Due Diligence	Addresses areas such as child labour, corruption, safety, and sustainability. Recommends using an independent vendor assessment tool, conducting audits for their suppliers, and communicating TPI's expectations for compliance and ethical behaviour in their Supplier Code of Conduct and Human Rights Policy.	TPI 2021 ESG Report
TPI	EHS Policy	Helps guide all TPI activities to maximise the positive impacts that they have on the environment through both the products they manufacture and how they manufacture them.	TPI 2021 ESG Report

	L		l
COMPANY	ACTIONS	DESCRIPTION	SOURCE/LINK
VESTAS	Supplier Code of Conduct	Prepared in accordance with the UN Global Compact, the International Bill of Human Rights, and International Labour Organisation conventions and guided by the OECD's Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises on responsible business conduct. Outlines the minimum requirements suppliers must adhere to when conducting business with Vestas.	Vestas Sustainability Report 2021
VESTAS	Supply Chain Due Diligence on Conflict Minerals	Conducts supply chain due diligence on conflict minerals, following the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals. This process does not contain minerals sourced from mines associated with conflict in the DRC or adjoining countries, or with other illegal activities.	Vestas Sustainability Report 2021
VATTENFALL	Biodiversity footprint assessment	A 2021 corporate-wide biodiversity footprint assessment, using the Global Biodiversity Score tool, which enabled them to quantify the biodiversity impacts of their economic activities along the value chain.	Vattenfall Annual and Sustainability Report 2021
VATTENFALL	Code of Conduct for Suppliers	Defined the company's basic requirements and expectations for their suppliers with respect to sustainability	Vattenfall Annual and Sustainability Report 2021
VATTENFALL	Due Diligence processes	Designed to identify and assess human rights, environmental and business ethics-related risks and impacts across their value chain.	Vattenfall Annual and Sustainability Report 2021
VATTENFALL	Supplier Risk Assessment Tool (SRAT) Light	Facilitates the initial risk assessment of new suppliers based on spend, product category and country risk.	Vattenfall Annual and Sustainability Report 2021

Managing social risks

A scan of at least 20 sustainability/ESG reports of renewables companies shows strong efforts to manage suppliers, at least in respect to tackling social risks. The three most common tools/actions implemented by the companies to manage their supply chains are Supplier Code of Conduct, Due Diligence Guidelines, and Human and Labour Rights Policy. These cover a range of social risks identified in this report such as human rights violations, labour working conditions, child labour, forced labour, conflicts, etc. Many companies have either stopped or reduced their supply from suppliers associated with evidence of human rights violations.

Managing sourcing risks

A few companies have conflict minerals policies and ethical supply chain and responsible mineral sourcing policies. The Conflict Mineral Policy requires the companies' compliance with the rules implementing Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the "Dodd-Frank Act") adopted by the US Securities and Exchange Commission. The Rule requires disclosure of the use of Conflict Minerals sourced from the Democratic Republic of the Congo and its neighbouring countries. There are Ethical Supply Chain auditing programs and due diligence of suppliers in place for a few companies to proactively address social risks and ensure responsible mining sourcing. Most of the Conflict Minerals principles are in line with the guidelines of the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas (CAHRAs).

Managing environmental risks

There aren't many proactive policies among companies to manage supply chain environmental risks. However, there are a few notable actions, including the Biodiversity Policies of Iberdrola and RWE, which promote strategic planning and continuous assessment throughout the life cycle, applying the mitigation hierarchy, and avoiding the placement of new infrastructure in protected areas. Siemens Gamesa's Sustainability Policy outlines broader ambitions related to biodiversity protection and climate change. A unique tool for environmental risk management is the Vattenfall's Biodiversity footprint assessment, which has enabled the company to quantify the biodiversity impacts of its economic activities along the value chain.

Guidance documents for social risks

Some of the metrics/guiding principles that the solar and wind companies have been referencing are as follows:

- UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights
- OECD Guidelines
- The ten principles of the United Nations Global Compact
- International Bill of Human Rights
- ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work
- UN Sustainable Development Goals
- International Organisation for Standardisation
- Global Reporting Initiative
- Sustainability Accounting Standards Bo

Part two: Carbon footprint management for wind and solar

APPENDIX 13: CARBON FOOTPRINT OF WIND AND SOLAR TECHNOLOGIES

Based on a wind farm's theoretical annual generating capacity of 11.843 million kWh and its operating cycle of 20 years, it can be concluded that the carbon emission per unit of wind power generation during the whole life cycle of a wind farm is 4.429/kWh (theoretical value). Around 70 per cent of carbon is emitted during the production phase and around 14 per cent during the construction phase (Li et al., 2020). A Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) study conducted by Raadal et al. (2011) covering the period between 1990 and 2010 found that GHG emissions from wind power differed from 4.6 to 55.4 g CO₂eq/kWh. A recent study by Marshali et al. (2022) concluded the total GHG impact of onshore wind to be 12.7 gCO₂eq/kWh and 13.91 gCO₂eq/kWh for offshore wind with a mean for wind energy technologies to be 13.45 gCO₂eq/kWh. The study further highlighted that the manufacturing stages accounted for between 90 and 98 percent of the overall Global Warming Potential (GWP) of an onshore wind farm, while accounting for 70 per cent of an offshore farm, with most of this impact occurring during material extraction and component manufacturing. Infrastructure related to steel production was the main contributor to the overall GHG emissions (Marshali et al., 2022). Concrete and steel were on average 75 per cent and 23 per cent by weight of the total materials used in onshore turbines, and an average of 39 per cent and 26 per cent in case of offshore turbines. Steel is the major contributor to GWP (48-85 per cent for onshore and 54.5-83.9 per cent for offshore), even though concrete is the material with the highest mass intensity-so steel and concrete need the most attention for mitigation. (Farina & Anctil, 2022).

An LCA conducted for the solar PV projects throughout New York state found the total GHG emissions with a mean of 45.6 gCO₂/kWh (Ali et al., 2022). Another study concluded that PV power facilities have carbon footprints ranging from 12g per kWh to 24g per kWh (Wade, 2016). A study by Hsu et al. (2012) found the median value of GHG emissions from 42 case studies to be 40-47 gCO₂eq/kWh . A recent study by Marshali et al. (2022) concluded the overall GHG impact of solar system technologies to be 38.8 gCO₂eq/kWh. LCA studies show that, on average, more than 80 per cent of the environmental impact of solar PV is due to the production process of the included modules (Torres & Petrakopoulou, 2022). The manufacturing process of crystalline silicon modules require a large energy input due to the intensive purification of silicon and wafer processing and hence, the environmental impact of the process depends strongly on the electricity mix considered in each study (Torres & Petrakopoulou, 2022). For instance, a 1.8 MW PV facility in Italy with imported modules from China results in a GWP of 88.7 g CO_{2eq}/ kWh (Desideri et al., 2012). As a comparison, a 5 MW solar plant in France with European PV modules has a GWP of 37.5 g CO_{2eq}/kWh (Beylot et al., 2014). The manufacturing process of the supporting structure is also important because it is commonly made of aluminium or steel (Torres & Petrakopoulou, 2022). For a 30 MW PV-utility, 1500 t of steel for the mountings are needed, and considering that every ton of steel can produce up to 1.85 tonnes of CO₂ on an average, steel use increases the GWP of PV solar plants (Chen et al., 2022; World Steel Association, 2021 & Beylot et al., 2014).

Onshore wind farms have the lowest GWP when compared to PV solar and offshore wind farms (Marshali et al., 2022). Onshore wind farms produce up to 5 times less GHGs than PV solar farms and up to 1.5 times less than offshore wind farms (UNECE, 2021). Wind power as a whole has lower carbon emission intensities than the other three renewable energy sources of hydropower, biomass, and photovoltaics. When generating one kWh of electricity, the average carbon emissions from hydropower, biomass, and photovoltaic power are 1.90 times, 8.11 times, and 4.62 times that of wind power, respectively (Liu et al., 2021). The findings from the study by Marshali et al. (2022) indicate that raw material acquisition/manufacturing for wind and solar technologies contributes the most to total GWP impacts, accounting for up to 98 per cent of the life cycle stages, followed by installation, operation and maintenance. Another finding worth noting from the study above is that the GHG emissions associated with the life cycle of solar power systems and wind power systems have decreased significantly during the past two decades, reaching 38.88gCO₂eq/kWh and 13.45 gCO₂eq/kWh in 2020, respectively. A few of the possible reasons could be increased awareness of sustainability practices, responsible sourcing, innovation, recycling and circularity.

APPENDIX 14: OPPORTUNITIES TO REDUCE THE CARBON FOOTPRINT OF SOLAR AND WIND TECHNOLOGIES

Magnitude of the installation of solar and wind energy systems: Large, high-capacity wind and solar projects produce much fewer GHGs per unit of power. As the majority of GHGs for PV solar and wind are produced during the extraction, manufacturing and installation processes, the lifespan of solar and wind energy systems also significantly affects GHG emissions. Therefore, the GHG emissions across the entire life cycle are lower the longer the life of a project (Hamed & Alshare, 2022). According to Nugent & Sovacool (2014), a wind system with a 20-year life expectancy emits an average of 40.7 g CO₂/kWh, while one with a 30-year life expectancy emits just 25.3 g CO₂/kWh.

Location: Location of a wind farm affects its produced GHG emissions, meaning siting of these projects is important. The lowest carbon emission intensity is found in grassland wind farms, with average values of 7.91 gCO₂/kWh and 5.74 g CO₂/kWh lower than offshore (19.18 g CO₂/kWh) and onshore non-grasslands (13.65 g CO₂/kWh) (Liu et al., 2021). This is due to a number of factors. The marine environment where offshore wind farms are located has greater needs for wind power equipment and building materials in terms of transport, cabling and construction, resulting in larger carbon footprints and a higher carbon emission intensity (Nugent & Sovacool, 2014; Yang et al., 2018).

While offshore wind projects have a higher carbon footprint than their onshore counterparts, this difference is frequently offset by the greater wind resource, which results in a higher yield of renewable electricity and, as a result, a nearly identical energy payback period. To re-evaluate the advantages of relocating from onshore to offshore locations, new developments in the field of offshore technology, such as an increase in turbine size and novel concepts (such as floating plants), which will contribute to the exploitation of wind resources at greater distances from shore and further reduce GHG and energy intensity, should be monitored and considered (Kaldellis & Apostolou, 2017).

Manufacturing: Through their LCA study, Xu et al. (2018) found that the production process, which may be attributed to the significant input of raw materials, was the

major contributor to all environmental effect indicators, including the Global Warming Potential (GWP). Li et al. (2020) found that the material production phase, with 11,123 tCO₂, accounting for 70.61 per cent of the total carbon emissions, contributes the most to emissions in the life cycle of a 49.5 MW wind power project. Vestas' LCA (2018) found that raw material and component production dominate the environmental impacts, including Global Warming Potential of the Vestas V120-2.0 MW wind turbine. Production of the tower, nacelle, blades and foundations contribute most significantly to all studied environmental impact indicators. Even in terms of phase-wise energy and emission intensity of PV solar, the production phase accounts for 55-75 per cent of the total embodied energy requirement and GHG emissions, depending on the PV technology and mode of installation (Prabhu et al., 2022).

The optimisation of the structural design and the efficient application of raw materials are suggested as effective measures to improve the environmental performance of solar and wind energy (Xu et al., 2018).

Electricity-intensive solar PV manufacturing is mostly powered by fossil fuels, but solar panels only need to operate for 4-8 months to offset their manufacturing emissions. Diversification of supply chains and the decarbonisation of the power sector could rapidly reduce solar PV manufacturing emissions. Building solar PV manufacturing around low-carbon industrial clusters such as renewable-based hydrogen can unlock the benefits of economies of scale, enabling them to benefit from costcompetitive renewable electricity (IEA, 2022).

Solar energy land use: For sources of renewable energy other than bioenergy, land requirements and the associated environmental impacts remain understudied in the literature from a quantitative point of view (Capellán-Pérez et al., 2017; Gasparatos, 2017). At the time of writing this literature review, Van de Ven et al. (2021) is the only study (even to the author's knowledge) that has estimated the land cover impacts and related land-use change emissions of solar energy within climate change mitigation scenarios up to 2050.

Van de Ven et al. (2021) discovered that solar energy may occupy 0.5–5 per cent of all land at a 25–80 per cent penetration in the electrical mix of the EU, India, Japan and South Korea. Depending on the region, the scope of the growth, the effectiveness of the solar technology and the land management procedures used in solar parks, the consequent changes to the land cover, including indirect effects, will likely result in a net release of carbon ranging from 0-50 gCO₂/kWh. To prevent a major increase in the life cycle emissions from terrestrial carbon losses, coordinated planning and control of future solar energy infrastructure should be in place. By implementing land management techniques that allow carbon sequestration in solar land, the terrestrial portion of the solar energy life cycle emissions could be completely avoided (van de Ven et al., 2021). An interesting finding from the study is that the land requirements for reaching certain levels of electricity penetration with solar energy are about a magnitude lower than land requirements to meet those same levels with bioenergy. Also, the payback period of bioenergy is significantly higher (~ 4 years) than that of solar energy (< 8 months).

Recycling, life extension and innovation: Bang et al. (2019) recommend focusing on the manufacturing and recycling phases and prioritising factors influencing capacity factor (measurement of how often a plant is running at maximum power) and operational lifetime of the wind farm for effective LCA of GHGs for floating offshore wind energy. When compared to component manufacturing using primary raw materials, recycling wind turbines at the end of their lives can save at least 30-35 per cent of carbon emissions equivalent per kWh. Increasing the lifespan of wind farms through proactive operations and maintenance and repowering are also recognised as appropriate paths to explore further as ways to lower the industry's carbon impact (Spyroudi, 2021; Mali & Garrett, 2022). According to Torres & Petrakopoulou (2022) the most effective factor to improve the overall environmental performance of wind energy systems is the recycling rate of the materials used in the manufacturing process. The best results come from recovering the steel, copper, aluminium and cast iron used in the nacelle and tower from wind power plants with recycling rates higher than 90 per cent (Bonou et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2019). Other studies also highlight that if the end-of-life comprised recycling stage is included in the calculation of LCAs, then the total GWP declined up to 40 per cent (Mali & Garrett, 2022; Chipindula et al., 2022; Xie et al., 2020; Bang et al., 2019).

A study by Prabhu et al. (2021) finds that 90.7 per cent of the PV waste resulting from 95 GW worth of solar PV can be recovered at end of life. This includes a substantial portion of aluminum and glass, the most energy-intensive components of a solar PV module. Another study by Huang et al. (2017) highlights that the recycling of crystalline silicon technologies is reported to lower the GWP by 35 per cent. However, in PV plants, the recycling rate should be close to 95 per cent to significantly decrease the environmental impact, especially due to the recovery of silicon wafers and aluminium frames (Torres & Petrakopoulou, 2022). Moreover, the electricity mix needs to have a high renewable share to reduce the GWP and fossil fuel depletion of the electricity needed in the manufacturing process of PV modules (Huang et al., 2017).

The large amount of steel used in the construction of an offshore wind platform is responsible for the greatest impact of the entire project; so recycling the building materials can be an effective solution to make offshore wind farms more sustainable and reduce their carbon footprint (Ferraz de Paula & Carmo, 2022). For a wind farm of 49.5 MW, recycling of resources such as steel and copper can reduce up to 5261 tonnes of carbon emissions (Li et al., 2020). However, because the technology for producing renewable electricity is still relatively new, concepts for recycling still need further development if many plants are to be deconstructed (Lieberei & Gheewala, 2016).

Despite the nascent recycling stage, there have been a few interesting developments in the field. The emergence of green steel may also be advantageous for wind farms. Swedish companies Hybrit and H2 Green Steel are investing billions of dollars to produce millions of tonnes of green steel annually. They will employ green hydrogen electrolysis using renewable power instead of burning metallurgical coal to light a conventional blast furnace to convert iron ore into pig iron. These businesses are also working to recycle used solar PV panels and turbine blades to reduce the carbon footprint of wind and solar systems (Helman, 2021). Making the steel 'green' will especially be key to reducing carbon emissions. Steel is one of the world's biggest polluting industries, responsible for more than 7 per cent of global CO₂ emissions (H2, n.d.). Switching to hydrogen-based steel production offers an immediate CO₂ emissions reduction opportunity for new assets of 20 per cent and 40 per cent in the United States and the European Union, respectively (Blank, 2019).

Although solar and wind companies have made significant advances in recycling and circularity, innovation and technology are relatively more advanced in wind than in solar. Companies such as Brookfield Renewables, EDPR, GE, Orsted, RWE, Siemens Gamesa, Vattenfall and Vestas have accelerated progress towards recyclable turbines. In the solar industry, recycling and circularity are especially well developed in companies such as Canadian Solar, Iberdrola, NextEra Energy and Orsted.

In September 2021, Vestas successfully completed its first US blade recycling project by decommissioning and recycling 10 turbine blades. The recycling methods included co-processing cement, gasification, forming new composite materials, and reclaiming glass fibre and carbon fibres. Vestas is open to offering such services outside the US in regions where local recycling infrastructure is robust and customer demand can be established (Vestas, 2021). Vattenfall claims that around 85-90 per cent of the total mass of a wind turbine, such as the foundation. tower and components in the nacelle, have established recycling practices, leaving the biggest challenge as the recycling of the composite material of blades. In 2021, Vattenfall made a commitment to an immediate landfill ban on decommissioned wind turbine blades and to actively work on increasing the recycling rate of wind blade components with the target of reaching 100 per cent recycling by 2030 at the latest (Vattenfall, 2021). Siemens Gamesa and RWE have made progress in developing a recyclable rotor blade, with Siemens Gamesa committing to offering a 100 per cent recyclable turbine by 2040 at the latest (Siemens Gamesa, 2021; RWE, 2021). Many of these commitments align with WindEurope's call for a European ban on landfilling rotor blades by 2025 (WindEurope, 2021). In the US, GE has also been making progress in developing recyclable blades (GE, 2021a). Collaboration and stakeholder engagement have been the key for several companies to advance innovation in recycling and circularity such as with WindEurope, Spanish Wind Energy Association, DecomBlades Consortium, Salzgitter AG, ZEBRA Consortium and even start-ups such as Thermal Recycling of Composites (TRC) (Siemens Gamesa, 2021; Vestas, 2021; Orsted, 2022, GE, 2021a; EDPR, 2021).

Such developments may not be as widespread within the solar industry although there are a few noteworthy advancements. Orsted has made commitments to reuse or recycle all solar PV modules that break or retire during installation, operation or decommissioning at their solar farms in Region Americas (Orsted, 2022). NextEra Energy has also made similar commitments to reuse and recycle solar infrastructure components (NextEra Energy, 2022). There is also evidence of collaboration, as can be seen in the case of Canadian Solar partnering with Reclaim PV Recycling for solar module end-of-life management activities in Australia. Canadian Solar also works closely with recycling service providers such as PV Cycle and Rinovasol Group to ensure full compliance with all legal Waste for Electric and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) obligations and that appropriate market import actions are followed (Canadian Solar, 2021). Iberdrola Ventures -PERSEO (a start-up programme) has been continuing the initiative launched in 2020 for investing in and creating circular economy businesses in recycling of photovoltaic modules (Iberdrola, 2021). What would be crucial for both industries is to support research into material recycling of composite waste and working with partners and within the industry to find new solutions for recycling and reuse.

APPENDIX 15: GOOD PRACTICES IN CARBON FOOTPRINT MANAGEMENT

LIFE CYCLE ASSESSMENT HARMONIZATION

Developer	NREL
Year published	n.d.
Description	 In this project, NREL reviewed and harmonised life cycle assessments (LCAs) of electricity generation technologies to reduce uncertainty around estimated environmental impacts and increase the value of these assessments to the policymaking and research communities. Hundreds of life cycle assessments have been published, with considerable variability in results. These variations in approach hampered comparison across studies and the pooling of published results. NREL harmonised these data to: Understand the range of published results of LCAs of electricity generation technologies Reduce the variability in published results Clarify the central tendency of published estimates
URL	https://www.nrel.gov/analysis/life cycle-assessment.html

.....

A THREE-STEP APPROACH TO BEST PRACTICE LCA

Developer	EcoAct
Year published	2021
Description	 One of the simplest best practice guidance for LCA is by Lau Tambjerg, an EcoAct senior consultant, who shares a three-step approach to best practice product LCA and demonstrates how it can help accelerate stakeholders on their path to net zero (Tambjerg, 2021): 1. Go deep: Delve deeper into the facts for the best understanding and to achieve the greatest impact. This can involve tasks like comprehending and enhancing the accuracy of the underlying inventory data, obtaining data directly from certain suppliers rather than relying on secondary data and consulting with suppliers to find ways for them to cut emissions, etc. 2. Go wide: Widen the scope of the evaluation to include several, if not all, of the products in the portfolio. Understanding portfolio-wide hotspots will make it possible to make strategic decisions that can change the entire product range or band. 3. Go again: Set up governance to oversee and routinely review the products' assessments after step 1 and step 2 have been completed. This will make it possible to monitor emissions over time and ensure that relevant persons are knowledgeable about any contextual elements that might have an impact on the emissions (such as changing the electricity grid mix). To help present a continuous picture of emissions from products as well as the larger organization, use tools like EcoAct's Carbon reduction and feasibility tool (CRaFT).
URL	https://eco-act.com/life cycle-assessment/best-practice-lca/

INTERNATIONAL GOOD PRACTICE PRINCIPLES FOR SUSTAINABLE INFRASTRUCTURE

Developer	United Nations Environnent Programme (UNEP)
Year published	2022
Description	UNEP's International good practice principles for sustainable infrastructure (2022) provides "guidance for global use on the integration of sustainability throughout the entire infrastructure life cycle, with an upstream focus at the project level." Considering the guidance covers sustainable infrastructure in its entirety, the principles are highly relevant for the alternative energy sector. Although the guidance is specifically aimed at governments in creating an enabling environment for sustainable infrastructure, the guidance is universal because its focus on issues such as resource efficiency and circularity, equity, inclusiveness and empowerment is relevant to all stakeholders. The guidance describes 10 principles for infrastructure planning and development. The third of these principles focuses on a comprehensive LCA of sustainability covering a wide range of social and environmental risks, including carbon emissions.
URL	https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/34853/GPSI.pdf

GUIDELINES FOR AN INTEGRATED ENERGY STRATEGY

Developer	World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD)
Year published	n.d.
Description	The World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD) <i>Guidelines for an integrated energy strategy</i> sets out how to achieve a company's energy-related financial and environmental objectives, considering all energy uses within its operations and across its energy-related value chain. An integrated energy strategy has four crucial objectives:
	 Engaging with workforce and value chain partners to improve energy efficiency Using smart controls to improve energy and fuel efficiency Upgrading and replacing equipment and assets to improve energy efficiency Collaborating with suppliers, customers and employees
	The guidelines highlight the benefits of an integrated energy strategy, which includes reducing life cycle GHG emissions and improving circularity, along with reducing life cycle air and water quality impacts (WBCSD, 2019).
URL	https://wbcsdpublications.org/integrated-energy-strategy/

WHOLE LIFE CARBON ASSESSMENT FOR THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT

Developer	Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
Year published	2023

Description	In accordance with EN 15978 (the British Standard Institute's assessment of the environmental performance of a building, based on LCA), <i>The whole life carbon assessment for the built environment</i> (2017) by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) is a professional statement that offers a consistent and transparent whole-life carbon assessment implementation plan and reporting structure for built projects. The statement also makes it possible for whole-life

	carbon assessment outputs to be coherent, which enhances the results' comparability and usability. Other goals of the declarations include advancing the circular economy, making LCAs more widely used and improving LCA reliability. Despite being nonspecific, the statement is relevant for on-site renewable building instalments (Sturgis & Papakosta, 2017).
URL	https://www.rics.org/content/dam/ricsglobal/documents/standards/whole life carbon

assessment_for_the_built_environment_1st_edition_rics.pdf

https://www.rics.org/content/dam/ricsglobal/documents/standards/whole_life_carbon_

PRODUCT ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT (PEF)

Developer	European Commission, Joint Research Centre and Institute for Environment and Sustainability	
Year published	2012	
Description	<i>Product environmental footprint (PEF) guide</i> by Manfredi et al. (2012) from the European Commission, Joint Research Centre and Institute for Environment and Sustainability: provides guidance on how to calculate a PEF, as well as how to develop product category-specific methodological requirements for use in PEF category rules. The PEF is a multi-criteria	
URL	https://ec.europa.eu/environment/eussd/pdf/footprint/PEF%20methodology%20final%20 draft.pdf	

INTERNATIONAL REFERENCE LIFE CYCLE DATA SYSTEM (ILCD)

Developer	Joint Research Centre
Year published	2012
Description	<i>The International reference life cycle data system (ILCD) handbook</i> by Wolf et al. (2012) from the Joint Research Centre: specifies the broader provisions of the ISO 14040 and 14044 standards on environmental LCAs. To summarise, it provides a basis for consistent, robust and quality-assured environmental LCA studies, as required in a policy and market context.
URL	https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC58190

METHODOLOGY GUIDELINES ON LIFE CYCLE ASSESSMENT OF PHOTOVOLTAIC ELECTRICITY

Developer	IEA Photovoltaic Power Systems Programme (PVPS)
Year published	2011

Description	<i>Methodology guidelines on life cycle assessment of photovoltaic electricity</i> by Fthenakis et al. (2011) from IEA Photovoltaic Power Systems Programme (PVPS): provides guidance on PV-specific parameters used as inputs in LCA and on choices and assumptions in life cycle inventory data analysis and on implementation of modelling approaches.	
URL	https://iea-pvps.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Task_12Methodology_Guidelines_on_ Life_Cycle_Assessment_of_Photovoltaic_Electricity_3rd_Edition.pdf	

.....

IMPLEMENTATION OF LIFE CYCLE IMPACT ASSESSMENT METHODS

Developer	Ecoinvent Centre	
Year published	010	
Description	<i>Implementation of life cycle impact assessment methods</i> by Hischier et al. (2010) from Ecoinvent centre: offers life cycle inventory and LCIA results. There is a range of methodological problems and questions while linking the LCIA methods with the elementary flows of a database. This leads to variable results, even if the same LCIA method was applied to the same inventory results. The aim of this report is to avoid such discrepancies.	
URL	https://ecoinvent.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/201007_hischier_weidema_ implementation_of_lcia_methods.pdf	

SOLAR SUSTAINABILITY: BEST PRACTICES BENCHMARK

Developer	SolarPower Europe	
Year published	2022	
Description	 Solar Sustainability: Best Practices Benchmark by SolarPower Europe (2022) aims to identify state-of-the-art sustainability practices in the solar PV industry and showcase them as benchmarks, to support the whole PV sector's sustainability performance and to drive overall sustainable change. This guidance addresses a range of risks related to solar energy including carbon footprint.(Other issues are already addressed in the Supply Chain Section.) The approaches and best practices to reduce Solar PV carbon emissions as suggested by the guidance are as follows: 1. Consume as little energy as possible in the manufacturing process 2. Use low carbon electricity in the manufacturing process 3. Minimise the use of carbon-intensive materials 4. Minimise emissions from transportation 5. Prioritise PV system locations with the the highest emission reduction potentials 6. Maximise recycled content 7. Extend product lifetime and increase energy yield 8. Consider carbon emissions from non-module components The study also highlights case studies to reduce carbon emissions. 	
URL	https://www.solarpowereurope.org/insights/thematic-reports/solar-sustainability-best- practices-benchmark	

RESPONSIBLESTEEL INTERNATIONAL STANDARD (VERSION 2.0)

Developer	Responsible Steel	
Year published	2022	
Description	 ResponsibleSteel International Standard (Version 2.0) by Responsible Steel (2022): The objective of the ResponsibleSteel Standard is to support the responsible sourcing and production of steel as a tool for the achievement of ResponsibleSteel's vision: to maximise steel's contribution to a sustainable society. The Standard consists of thirteen principles for the responsible sourcing and production of steel with Principle 10 referring to Climate Change and Greenhouse Gas Emissions. In order to achieve its objective, the standard aims to: Define the fundamental elements that characterise the responsible sourcing and production of steel to the satisfaction of downstream customers, users and civil society supporters. Define levels of performance in the implementation of these fundamental elements that: Encourage the broad participation of steelmakers in both developed and developing countries in the ResponsibleSteel programme Merit the recognition and endorsement of the programme's civil society supporters Maximise steel's contribution to a sustainable society through the responsible sourcing of its raw materials and management of the impacts of its production. 	
URL	https://www.responsiblesteel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/ResponsibleSteel-Standard- 2.0.pdf	

.....

GCCA SUSTAINABILITY GUIDELINES FOR THE MONITORING AND REPORTING OF CO $_{\rm 2}$ EMISSIONS FROM CEMENT MANUFACTURING

Developer	Global Cement and Concrete Association
Year published	2019
Description	GCCA Sustainability Guidelines for the monitoring and reporting of CO ₂ emissions from cement manufacturing (Global Cement and Concrete Association, 2019): Considering that the carbon footprint of concrete is dominated by the production of cement, and the major GHG associated with cement is CO ₂ , the GCCA has released these guidelines for monitoring and reporting CO ₂ emissions of cement production, also covering energy consumption as one of the key drivers for CO ₂ emissions in the sector. These guidelines give an introduction to the monitoring and reporting and reporting process, specify applicable protocols, and deliver the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that are considered most relevant for the cement industry. The KPIs can also be used by companies for benchmarking their performance.
URL	https://gccassociation.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/GCCA_Guidelines_CO2Emissions_ v04_AMEND.pdf

Part three: Recommendations

APPENDIX 16: POTENTIAL STAKEHOLDER COLLABORATORS

Ipieca would benefit from collaborating with the following stakeholders:

ORGANIZATION (NOTE: ORANGE REFERS TO SOLAR, GREEN REFERS TO WIND, AND BLACK REFERS TO BOTH)	RISKS ADDRESSED (SOURCING)	LIFE CYCLE STAGE
BRE National Solar Centre (NSC)	Biodiversity Risks, Land Use Risks	Operation
Copper8	Solid Waste/Hazardous Solid Waste	End of Life
Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI)	Solid Waste/Hazardous Solid Waste	End of Life
G+IOER	Air Pollution	Operation
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)	Child Labour, Forced Labour	Sourcing
ІСММ	Human Rights Violations, Labour/ Community Health and Safety, Biodiversity Risks	Sourcing
Initiative for Responsible Mining Assurance (IRMA)	Child Labour, Labour/Community Health and Safety, Forced Labour, Air Pollution, Water Stress/Contamination, Waste, Biodiversity Risks	Sourcing
Institute of Acoustics (IOA)	Turbine Noise	Operation
International Energy Agency (IEA)	Solid Waste/Hazardous Solid Waste	End of Life
International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA)	Solid Waste/Hazardous Solid Waste	End of Life
International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN)	Construction Noise, Biodiversity Risks, Water Stress/Contamination	Manufacturing & Construction

.....

ORGANIZATION (NOTE: ORANGE REFERS TO SOLAR, GREEN REFERS TO WIND, AND BLACK REFERS TO BOTH)	RISKS ADDRESSED (SOURCING)	LIFE CYCLE STAGE
IUCN	Collision, displacement and habitat changes (birds and bats), Biodiversity Risks, Water Stress/Contamination	Operation
Mining Shared Value	Human Rights Violations, Corruption, Child Labour, Forced Labour	Sourcing
National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL)	Solid Waste/Hazardous Solid Waste	End of Life
NatureScot	Air Pollution, Water Stress/ Contamination, Biodiversity Risks	Manufacturing & Construction
NatureScot	Air Pollution, Water Stress/ Contamination, Biodiversity Risks	Operation
OECD	Human Rights Violations, Conflicts, Child labour, Displacement of Indigenous Communities	Sourcing
Responsible Cobalt Initiative (RCI)	Human Rights Violations, Conflicts, Corruption	Sourcing
Responsible Minerals Initiative (RMI)	Human Rights Violations, Conflicts, Corruption	Sourcing
Solar and Storage Industries Institute (SSII)	Biodiversity Risks, Land Use Risks	Manufacturing & Construction
Solar and Storage Industries Institute (SSII)	Biodiversity Risks, Land Use Risks	Operation
Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA)	Human Rights Violations, Labour/ Community Health and Safety Risks, Forced Labour, Air Pollution, Water Stress/Contamination, Waste, Climate Change impacts	Sourcing

ORGANIZATION (NOTE: ORANGE REFERS TO SOLAR, GREEN REFERS TO WIND, AND BLACK REFERS TO BOTH)	RISKS ADDRESSED (SOURCING)	LIFE CYCLE STAGE
Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA)	Human Rights Violations, Labour/ Community Health and Safety Risks, Forced Labour, Air Pollution, Water Stress/Contamination, Waste, Climate Change impacts	Manufacturing & Construction
Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA)	Human Rights Violations, Labour/ Community Health and Safety Risks, Forced Labour, Air Pollution, Water Stress/Contamination, Waste, Climate Change impacts	Operational
Solar Energy UK	Biodiversity Risks	Operation
SolarPower Europe	Labour/Community Health and Safety Risks	Operation
The Copper Mark	Human Rights Violations	Sourcing
Towards Sustainable Mining (TSM) Initiative	Child Labour, Labour/Community Health and Safety, Forced Labour, Water Stress/Contamination, Climate Change Impacts, Biodiversity Risks, Displacement of Indigenous Communities	Sourcing
Wind Europe	Solid Waste/Hazardous Solid Waste	End of Life
World Bank Group	Water Stress/Contamination, Biodiversity Risks, Noise	Manufacturing & Construction
World Bank Group	Water Stress/Contamination, Biodiversity Risks, Turbines Noise	Operation
World Bank Group	Solid Waste/Hazardous Solid Waste, Water Stress/Contamination, Biodiversity Risks, Noise, Impacts on Iandscape and visual	End of Life

.....

APPENDIX 17: POTENTIAL RENEWABLES COMPANIES COLLABORATORS

Algonquin, Brookfield Renewables, Canadian Solar, Constellation, EDP Renewables, GE, Hitachi Energy, Iberdrola, JinkoSolar, NextEra Energy, Orsted, RWE, Siemens Gamesa, SunPower, TPI, Vestas and Vattenfall. In terms of wind energy, companies such as Brookfield Renewables, EDPR, GE, Orsted, RWE, Siemens Gamesa, Vattenfall and Vestas are well-placed within the recycling and circularity industry. Canadian Solar, Iberdrola, NextEra Energy and Orsted could be the industry leaders with the respect to solar industry. There are also other companies and organizations that have made advancements within the recycling industry, and it would be worth collaborating with them.

APPENDIX 18: POTENTIAL COLLABORATORS FOR CARBON FOOTPRINT MANAGEMENT FOR WIND AND SOLAR

One of the most advanced solutions is the development of green steel by the Swedish Companies Hybrit and H2. Wind energy companies such as Brookfield Renewables, EDPR, GE, Orsted, RWE, Siemens Gamesa, Vattenfall and Vestas are well placed within the recycling and circularity industry. Canadian Solar, Iberdrola, NextEra Energy and Orsted could be the industry leaders with the respect to solar industry. There are also other companies and organizations that have made advancements within the recycling industry, and it would be worth collaborating with them as well.

ipieca

Ipieca is the global oil and gas association dedicated to advancing environmental and social performance across the energy transition. It brings together members and stakeholders to lead in integrating sustainability by advancing climate action, environmental responsibility and social performance across oil, gas and renewables activities.

Ipieca was founded at the request of the United Nations Environment Programme in 1974. Through its non-lobby and collaborative approach Ipieca remains the industry's principal channel of engagement with the UN.

